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PRELIMINARY PROXY STATEMENT DATED AUGUST 6, 2021—SUBJECT TO COMPLETION

GIGCAPITALA, INC.
1731 Embarcadero Road, Suite 200
Palo Alto, California 94303

Dear GigCapital4, Inc. Stockholder:

We cordially invite you to attend a special meeting (the “Special Meeting”) of the stockholders of GigCapital4, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“we,” “us,”
“our,” “GigCapital4” or the “Company”), which will be held on [ ], 2021 at [10:00 a.m., PDT], via live webcast at [ ]. In light of ongoing
developments related to the coronavirus (COVID-19), after careful consideration, the Company has determined that the Special Meeting will be a virtual
meeting conducted exclusively via live webcast in order to facilitate stockholder attendance and participation while safeguarding the health and safety of
our stockholders, directors and management team. You or your proxyholder will be able to attend and vote at the Special Meeting online by visiting [ ]
and using a control number assigned by Broadridge Financial Solutions. To register and receive access to the virtual meeting, registered stockholders
and beneficial stockholders (those holding shares through a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other holder of record) will need to follow the
instructions applicable to them provided in this proxy statement. Please note that you will only be able to access the Special Meeting by means of remote
communication.

On June 4, 2021, the Company, GigCapital4 Merger Sub Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub”), BigBear.ai Holdings, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company formerly known as Lake Intermediate, LLC (“BigBear”), and BBAI Ultimate Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company formerly known as PCISM Ultimate Holdings, LLC (“Ultimate”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (as amended on August 6,
2021, and as it may be further amended from time to time, the “Merger Agreement”). If the Merger Agreement is approved by Company stockholders at
the Special Meeting, (i) Merger Sub will merge with and into BigBear, with BigBear surviving the first merger and becoming a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “First Merger”), and (ii) immediately after the First Merger, BigBear (as the surviving company of the First Merger)
will merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the second merger (the “Second Merger”, and together with the First Merger, the
“Business Combination”). Upon the consummation of the Business Combination, the Company will change its name to BigBear.ai Holdings, Inc. (“New
BigBear”).

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the First Merger (the “First Effective Time”), all units of
limited liability company interest of BigBear issued and outstanding immediately prior to the First Effective Time (other than units held in BigBear’s
treasury or owned by GigCapitald4, Merger Sub or BigBear immediately prior to the First Effective Time) will be cancelled and automatically deemed
for all purposes to represent the right to receive, in the aggregate (the “Aggregate Merger Consideration”), (i) in book entry, the Equity Merger
Consideration, and (ii) $75,000,000, in each case without interest and otherwise in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. The “Equity
Merger Consideration” means a number of shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of GigCapital4 (“GigCapital4 Common Stock”) equal
to the result of dividing (i) the difference of (A) $1,312,100,000, minus (B) $75,000,000, by (ii) 10.00 (rounded up to the nearest whole number of
shares). Ultimate, as the sole member of BigBear, shall be paid the Aggregate Merger Consideration.

At the effective time of the Second Merger (the “Second Effective Time”), all units of limited liability company interest of BigBear issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the Second Effective Time shall be cancelled and shall cease to exist without any conversion thereof or payment
therefor, and the capital stock of the Company outstanding immediately prior to the Second Effective Time shall remain outstanding as the capital stock
of the Company, which, collectively with GigCapital4’s 6.00% convertible senior notes due 2026 (the “Notes”) to be issued at the Second Effective
Time and the warrants entitling the holders to purchase one share of GigCapital4 Common Stock per warrant (“GigCapital4 Warrants”), shall constitute
one hundred percent (100%) of the outstanding equity securities (and securities convertible into equity securities) of the Company immediately after the
Second Effective Time.



Table of Contents

Upon the closing of the Business Combination, the former BigBear equity holders are expected to hold, in the aggregate, approximately 73% of the
issued and outstanding shares of GigCapital4 Common Stock.

At the Special Meeting, Company stockholders will be asked to consider and vote upon:

1.

Proposal No. 1—To adopt the Merger Agreement (as it may be further amended), a copy of which is attached to the accompanying proxy
statement as Annex A, and approve the transactions contemplated thereby, including the Business Combination — we refer to this as the
“Business Combination Proposal” or “Proposal No. 1”;

Proposal No. 2—To approve, for purposes of complying with applicable Nasdaq (“Nasdaq”) listing rules, the issuance of more than 20%
of the Company’s outstanding GigCapital4 Common Stock in connection with the Business Combination and the Convertible Note
Subscription Agreements, including up to 123,710,000 shares of GigCapital4 Common Stock to Ultimate as the sole equity holder of
BigBear, and 17,391,304 shares of GigCapital4 Common Stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes — we refer to this as the “Nasdaq
Stock Issuance Proposal” or “Proposal No. 2”;

Proposal No. 3—To approve and adopt amendments to the Company’s current amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as
amended, to provide for the classification of our board of directors (our “Board”) into three classes of directors with staggered terms of
office and to make certain related changes—we refer to this as the “Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal” or “Proposal
No. 3”;

Proposal No. 4—To approve and adopt amendments to the Company’s current amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as
amended, to provide for certain additional changes, including but not limited to, changing the post-combination company’s corporate name
from “GigCapital4, Inc.” to “BigBear.ai Holdings, Inc.” and eliminating certain provisions specific to our status as a blank check company,
which our Board believes are necessary to adequately address the needs of the post-combination company — we refer to this as the
“Additional Amendments to Current Certificate of Incorporation in Connection with the Business Combination Proposal” or “Proposal
No. 4” and together with the Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal, the “Charter Amendment Proposals”;

Proposal No. 5—To approve (A) the BigBear.ai Holdings, Inc. 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), and (B) the BigBear.ai
Holdings, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2021 ESPP”)—we refer to this as the “Equity Plans Proposal” or “Proposal
No. 5”;

Proposal No. 6—To consider and vote upon a proposal to elect, effective at Closing Date, 11 directors to serve staggered terms on our
Board until the 2022, 2023 and 2024 annual meetings of stockholders, respectively, and until their respective successors are duly elected
and qualified — we refer to this as the “Election of Directors Proposal” or “Proposal No. 6”; and

Proposal No. 7—To adjourn the Special Meeting to a later date or dates, if necessary, to permit further solicitation and vote of proxies if
there are insufficient votes for, or otherwise in connection with, the approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock
Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal or the Election of Directors Proposal — we refer to this as
the “Adjournment Proposal” or “Proposal No. 7.

Each of these proposals is more fully described in the accompanying proxy statement, which each stockholder is encouraged to read carefully.

After careful consideration, our Board has approved the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein, and recommends that our
stockholders vote “FOR” adoption of the Merger Agreement and approval of the transactions contemplated thereby, including the Business
Combination, and “FOR” all other proposals presented to our stockholders in the accompanying proxy statement. When you consider the Board’s
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recommendation of these proposals, you should keep in mind that our directors and officers have interests in the Business Combination that may conflict
with your interests as a stockholder. Please see the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” for additional information.

Approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Equity Plans Proposal, the Election of Directors Proposal and
the Adjournment Proposal require the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at the Special Meeting. Approval of the Charter Amendment
Proposals requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of GigCapital4 Common Stock.

The Business Combination will be consummated only if the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Equity Plans
Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals and the Election of Directors Proposal are approved at the special meeting. Each of the Business
Combination Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals and the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal is cross-conditioned on the approval of each other.
Each of the Equity Plans Proposal and the Election of Directors Proposal are conditioned on the approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the
Charter Amendment Proposals and the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal. The Adjournment Proposal is not conditioned upon the approval of any other
proposal set forth in this proxy statement.

In connection with the Merger Agreement, on June 4, 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements, each dated as of June 4, 2021 (the
“Convertible Note Subscription Agreements”), with certain investors (collectively, the “Convertible Note Investors”), pursuant to which, among other
things, the Company agreed to issue and sell to the Convertible Note Investors, in private placements to close immediately prior to Closing, convertible
notes due in 2026 (“Convertible Notes”) for an aggregate purchase price of $200,000,000. The Convertible Notes are convertible into 17,391,304 shares
of GigCapital4 Common Stock at an initial conversion price of $11.50 (subject to adjustment).

The GigCapital4 Common Stock, units and warrants are currently listed on Nasdaq under the symbols “GIG,” “GIGGU” and “GIGGW?”, respectively.
Upon closing, we intend to apply to list the shares issued as consideration in the Business Combination on Nasdaq under the symbol “BBAIL”
Thereafter, our units (each comprised of one share of GigCapital4 Common Stock and one third of one warrant to purchase GigCapital4 Common
Stock), will cease to trade as an individual security and, instead, will be separated into their constituent securities, and the GigCapital4 Common Stock
and warrants will trade under the symbols “BBAI” and “BBAIW,” respectively.

Pursuant to our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we are providing our stockholders that hold shares of Common Stock that
were included in the units issued in our initial public offering (“IPO”) (“public stockholders” and such shares, “public shares”), with the opportunity to
redeem, upon the Closing, public shares then held by them for cash equal to their pro rata share of the aggregate amount on deposit (as of two business
days prior to the Closing) in our trust account (the “Trust Account”) that holds the proceeds (including interest, which shall be net of taxes paid and taxes
payable and amounts previously redeemed) of our IPO and such additional amounts as we may deposit into such trust account in connection with
extensions of time for us to consummate the Business Combination. The per-share amount we will distribute to public stockholders that properly redeem
their shares will not be reduced by transaction expenses incurred by the Company and BigBear in connection with the Business Combination. For
illustrative purposes, based on the fair value of marketable securities held in our Trust Account of approximately $358,814,163 as of August 5, 2021, the
estimated per share redemption price would have been approximately $10.00 on such date. Public stockholders may elect to redeem their shares even
if they vote for the Business Combination. A public stockholder, together with any of his, her or its affiliates or any other person with whom it is
acting in concert or as a “group” (as defined under Section 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), will be restricted from
redeeming in the aggregate his, her or its shares or, if part of such a group, the group’s shares, in excess of 15% of the public shares. We have no
specified maximum redemption threshold under our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation, other than the aforementioned 15%
threshold. Each redemption of shares of Common Stock by our public stockholders will reduce the amount in our Trust Account, which held marketable
securities with a fair value of approximately $358,814,163 as of August 5, 2021.
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As a condition to the obligations of BigBear and Ultimate under the Merger Agreement, the Available Closing Acquiror Cash (as defined in the Merger
Agreement) shall not be less than $350,000,000, which amount shall be net of any unpaid liabilities of GigCapital4 as of the Closing (other than any
Acquiror Transaction Expenses, as defined in the Merger Agreement). In addition, in no event will we redeem shares of our Common Stock in an
amount that would result in the Company’s failure to have net tangible assets equaling or exceeding $5,000,001 (so that we are not subject to the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s (the “SEC”) “penny stock” rules). Holders of our outstanding public warrants do not have redemption rights in
connection with the Business Combination. Unless otherwise specified, the information in the accompanying proxy statement assumes that none of our
public stockholders exercise their redemption rights with respect to their shares of GigCapital4 Common Stock.

Our initial stockholders prior to the IPO, including GigAcquisitions4, LLC (the “Sponsor”), our underwriters in our IPO, Oppenheimer & Co. Inc.
(“Oppenheimer”) and Nomura Securities International, Inc. (“Nomura” and, together with the Sponsor and Oppenheimer, the “Initial Stockholders”) and
the Insiders have agreed to vote their shares of Common Stock in favor of the Business Combination. Currently, our Initial Stockholders own
10,051,600 shares of our Common Stock (the “Founder Shares”), including those that are a constituent security to a Private Placement Unit (as
defined below) and the Insiders own 18,000 shares of our Common Stock (the “Insider Shares”), or collectively, 21.9% of our issued and
outstanding shares of Common Stock. The Founder Shares are subject to transfer restrictions. The Founder Shares will be excluded from the pro rata
calculation used to determine the per-share redemption price.

In addition, the Company, Ultimate, the Sponsor, the Insiders, Oppenheimer and Nomura entered into that certain Investor Rights Agreement, dated as
of June 4, 2021 (the “Investor Rights Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties have set forth, among other things, their agreements with respect to
certain governance matters, registration rights and lock-up periods from and after the closing of the Business Combination. Under the Investor Rights
Agreement, the original lock-up period to which the Sponsor and the Insiders are subject was amended to provide for termination of the lock-up period
six months after the consummation of the Business Combination (other than with respect to the Private Placement Units (as defined below) for which
the termination of the lock-up period is 30 days after the consummation of the Business Combination).

We are providing you with the accompanying proxy statement and accompanying proxy card in connection with the solicitation of proxies to be voted at
the Special Meeting and at any adjournments or postponements of the Special Meeting. Information about the Special Meeting, the Business
Combination and other related business to be considered by the Company’s stockholders at the Special Meeting is included in this proxy statement.
Whether or not you plan to attend the Special Meeting, we urge you to read this proxy statement, including the Annexes and the accompanying
financials statements of the Company and BigBear carefully and in their entirety. In particular, we urge you to read carefully the section
entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 45 of the accompanying proxy statement.

Your vote is very important. Whether or not you plan to attend the Special Meeting, please vote as soon as possible by following the instructions
in this proxy statement to make sure that your shares are represented at the Special Meeting. If you hold your shares in “street name” through
a bank, broker or other nominee, you will need to follow the instructions provided to you by your bank, broker or other nominee to ensure that
your shares are represented and voted at the Special Meeting. Even if you have voted by proxy, you may still vote during the Special Meeting by
visiting [ ] with your 16-digit control number assigned by Broadridge Financial Solutions included on your proxy card or obtained from them
via email. The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement will be consummated only if the Business Combination Proposal, the
Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal and the Election of Directors Proposal are
approved at the Special Meeting. The proposals in this proxy statement (other than the Adjournment Proposal) are conditioned on the approval
of the Business Combination Proposal.



Table of Contents

If you sign, date and return your proxy card without indicating how you wish to vote, your proxy will be voted “FOR” each of the proposals presented
at the Special Meeting. If you fail to return your proxy card or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other nominee how to vote, and do not attend the
Special Meeting in person, the effect will be that your shares will not be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present at the Special
Meeting. If you are a stockholder of record and you attend the Special Meeting and wish to vote in person, you may withdraw your proxy and vote in
person.

TO EXERCISE YOUR REDEMPTION RIGHTS, YOU MUST DEMAND THAT THE COMPANY REDEEM YOUR SHARES FOR A PRO RATA
PORTION OF THE FUNDS HELD IN THE TRUST ACCOUNT AND TENDER YOUR SHARES TO THE COMPANY’S TRANSFER AGENT AT
LEAST TWO BUSINESS DAYS PRIOR TO THE VOTE AT SUCH MEETING. YOU MAY TENDER YOUR SHARES BY EITHER DELIVERING
YOUR SHARE CERTIFICATE TO THE TRANSFER AGENT OR BY DELIVERING YOUR SHARES ELECTRONICALLY USING DEPOSITORY
TRUST COMPANY’S DWAC (DEPOSIT WITHDRAWAL AT CUSTODIAN) SYSTEM. IF THE BUSINESS COMBINATION IS NOT
COMPLETED, THEN THESE SHARES WILL NOT BE REDEEMED FOR CASH. IF YOU HOLD THE SHARES IN STREET NAME, YOU WILL
NEED TO INSTRUCT THE ACCOUNT EXECUTIVE AT YOUR BANK OR BROKER TO WITHDRAW THE SHARES FROM YOUR ACCOUNT
IN ORDER TO EXERCISE YOUR REDEMPTION RIGHTS.

On behalf of our Board, I would like to thank you for your support of GigCapital4, Inc. and look forward to a successful completion of the Business
Combination.

Sincerely,

Dr. Raluca Dinu
President & CEO

[ 1,2021

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES REGULATORY AGENCY HAS APPROVED
OR DISAPPROVED THE TRANSACTIONS DESCRIBED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT, PASSED UPON THE MERITS OR FAIRNESS OF THE
BUSINESS COMBINATION OR RELATED TRANSACTIONS OR PASSED UPON THE ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY OF THE DISCLOSURE
IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY CONSTITUTES A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.
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NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF
STOCKHOLDERS OF GIGCAPITAL4, INC.
TOBE HELD[ 1,2021

To the Stockholders of GigCapital4, Inc.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special meeting (the “Special Meeting”) of the stockholders of GigCapital4, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“we,”
“us,” “our” or the “Company”), will be held on [ ], 2021 at [10:00 a.m., Pacific Time (PDT)] via live webcast at [ ]. In light of ongoing
developments related to coronavirus (COVID-19), after careful consideration, the Company has determined that the Special Meeting will be a virtual
meeting conducted exclusively via live webcast in order to facilitate stockholder attendance and participation while safeguarding the health and safety of
our stockholders, directors and management team. You or your proxyholder will be able to attend and vote at the Special Meeting online by visiting [ ]
and using a control number assigned by Broadridge Financial Solutions. To register and receive access to the virtual meeting, registered stockholders
and beneficial stockholders (those holding shares through a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other holder of record) will need to follow the
instructions applicable to them provided in this proxy statement. Please note that you will only be able to access the Special Meeting by means of remote
communication. You are cordially invited to attend the Special Meeting to conduct the following items of business which you will be asked to consider
and vote on:

»

1.  Proposal No. 1—The Business Combination Proposal—To approve and adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 4, 2021 (as
amended on August 6, 2021, and as further amended from time to time, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, its wholly owned
subsidiary, GigCapital4 Merger Sub Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub”), BigBear.ai Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company formerly known as Lake Intermediate, LLC (“BigBear”), and BBAI Ultimate Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
formerly known as PCISM Ultimate Holdings, LLC and the sole member of BigBear (“Ultimate”), a copy of which is attached to this proxy
statement as Annex A, and to approve the transactions contemplated thereby (the “Business Combination”), including (x) the merger of Merger
Sub with and into BigBear, with BigBear surviving the first merger (the “First Merger”), (y) immediately following the First Merger, the merger
of BigBear (as the entity surviving the First Merger) with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the second merger (the “Second
Merger” and together with the First Merger, the “Business Combination™), and (z) the payment of the Cash Merger Consideration and the Equity
Merger Consideration to Ultimate as the sole member of BigBear, as merger consideration;

2. Proposal No. 2—The Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal—To approve, for purposes of complying with applicable listing rules of Nasdaq, the
issuance of more than 20% of the Company’s outstanding GigCapital4 Common Stock in connection with the Business Combination, and the
transactions contemplated by the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements (as defined below), including up to 123,710,000 shares of
GigCapital4 Common Stock to Ultimate as the sole member of BigBear, and 17,391,304 shares of our GigCapital4 Common Stock upon
conversion of the Convertible Notes (as defined below);

3. Proposal No. 3—Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal—To provide for the classification of our board of directors (our “Board”)
into three classes of directors with staggered terms of office and to make certain related changes;

4. Proposal No. 4—Approval of Additional Amendments to Current Certificate of Incorporation in Connection with the Business
Combination Proposal—To approve certain additional changes, including but not limited to, changing the post-combination company’s corporate
name from “GigCapital4, Inc.” to “BigBear.ai Holdings, Inc.” and eliminating certain provisions specific to our status as a blank check company,
which our Board believes are necessary to adequately address the needs of the post-combination company;

5.  Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal—To approve the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP, including the authorization of the initial share
reserve under the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP;
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6.  Proposal No. 6—The Election of Directors Proposal—To elect, effective at Closing, 11 directors to serve staggered terms on our board of
directors until the 2022, 2023 and 2024 annual meetings of stockholders, respectively, and until their respective successors are duly elected and
qualified; and

7.  Proposal No. 7—Adjournment Proposal—To approve, if necessary, the adjournment of the Special Meeting to a later date or dates to permit
further solicitation and votes of proxies in the event that there are insufficient votes for, or otherwise in connection with, the approval of the
Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal or the
Election of Directors Proposal. This proposal will only be presented at the Special Meeting if there are not sufficient votes to approve the Business
Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal or the Election of
Directors Proposal.

The above matters are more fully described in the accompanying proxy statement, which also includes, as Annex A and Annex B, a copy of the Merger
Agreement and a copy of the proposed Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. We urge you to read carefully the accompanying
proxy statement in its entirety, including the Annexes and accompanying financial statements of the Company and BigBear.

After careful consideration, our Board has approved the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein, and recommends that our
stockholders vote “FOR” adoption of the Merger Agreement and approval of the transactions contemplated thereby, including the Business
Combination, and “FOR” all other proposals presented to our stockholders in the accompanying proxy statement. When you consider the Board’s
recommendation of these proposals, you should keep in mind that our directors and officers have interests in the Business Combination that may conflict
with your interests as a stockholder. Please see the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” for additional information.

Approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Equity Plans Proposal, the Election of Directors Proposal and
the Adjournment Proposal require the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at the Special Meeting. Approval of the Charter Amendment
Proposals requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of GigCapital4
(“GigCapital4 Common Stock”).

The Business Combination will be consummated only if the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Equity Plans
Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals and the Election of Directors Proposal are approved at the special meeting. Each of the Business
Combination Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals and the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal is cross-conditioned on the approval of each other.
Each of the Equity Plans Proposal and the Election of Directors Proposal are conditioned on the approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the
Charter Amendment Proposals and the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal. The Adjournment Proposal is not conditioned upon the approval of any other
proposal set forth in this proxy statement.

In connection with the Merger Agreement, on June 4, 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements, each dated as of June 4, 2021 (the
“Convertible Note Subscription Agreements”), with certain investors (collectively, the “Convertible Note Investors”), pursuant to which, among other
things, the Company agreed to issue and sell to the Convertible Note Investors, in private placements to close immediately prior to Closing, convertible
notes due in 2026 (“Convertible Notes”) for an aggregate purchase price of $200,000,000. The Convertible Notes are convertible into 17,391,304 shares
of GigCapital4 Common Stock at an initial conversion price of $11.50 (subject to adjustment).

The record date for the Special Meeting is [ 1, 2021. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on that date may vote at the Special Meeting

or any adjournment thereof. A complete list of our stockholders of record entitled to vote at the Special Meeting will be available for ten days before the
Special Meeting at our principal executive offices for inspection by stockholders during ordinary business hours for any purpose germane to the Special
Meeting and electronically during the Special Meeting at [ ].
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Pursuant to our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we are providing our stockholders that hold shares of GigCapital4 Common
Stock that were included in the units issued in our initial public offering (“IPO”) (“public stockholders” and such shares, “public shares”), with the
opportunity to redeem, upon the Closing, public shares then held by them for cash equal to their pro rata share of the aggregate amount on deposit (as of
two business days prior to the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the “Closing™)) in our trust account (the “Trust
Account”) that holds the proceeds (including interest, which shall be net of taxes paid and taxes payable and amounts previously redeemed) of our IPO
and such additional amounts as we may deposit into such trust account in connection with extensions of time for us to consummate the Business
Combination. The per-share amount we will distribute to public stockholders that properly redeem their shares will not be reduced by transaction
expenses incurred by the Company and BigBear in connection with the Business Combination. For illustrative purposes, based on the fair value of
marketable securities held in our Trust Account of approximately $358,814,163 as of August 5, 2021, the estimated per share redemption price would
have been approximately $10.00 on such date. Public stockholders may elect to redeem their shares even if they vote for the Business
Combination. A public stockholder, together with any of his, her or its affiliates or any other person with whom it is acting in concert or as a “group”
(as defined under Section 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), will be restricted from redeeming in the aggregate his, her or its
shares or, if part of such a group, the group’s shares, in excess of 15% of the public shares. We have no specified maximum redemption threshold under
our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation, other than the aforementioned 15% threshold. Each redemption of shares of GigCapital4
Common Stock by our public stockholders will reduce the amount in our Trust Account, which held marketable securities with a fair value of
approximately $358,814,163 as of August 5, 2021.

A condition to the obligations of BigBear and Ultimate under the Merger Agreement is that the Available Closing Acquiror Cash (as defined in the
Merger Agreement) is equal to at least $350,000,000, which amount shall be net of any unpaid liabilities of GigCapital4 as of the Closing (other than
any Acquiror Transaction Expenses, as defined in the Merger Agreement). In addition, in no event will we redeem shares of GigCapital4 Common
Stock in an amount that would result in the Company’s failure to have net tangible assets equaling or exceeding $5,000,001 (so that we are not subject to
the SEC’s “penny stock” rules). Unless otherwise specified, the information in the accompanying proxy statement assumes that none of our public
stockholders exercise their redemption rights with respect to their shares of GigCapital4 Common Stock.

Our initial stockholders prior to the IPO, including GigAcquisitions4, LLC (the “Sponsor”), our underwriters in our IPO, Oppenheimer & Co. Inc.
(“Oppenheimer”) and Nomura Securities International, Inc. (“Nomura” and, together with the Sponsor and Oppenheimer, the “Initial Stockholders”) and
the Insiders have agreed to vote their shares of Common Stock in favor of the Business Combination. Currently, our Initial Stockholders own
10,051,600 shares of our Common Stock, including those that are a constituent security to a Private Placement Unit (as defined below) and the
Insiders own 18,000 shares of our Common Stock, or collectively, 21.9% of our issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. The Founder
Shares are subject to transfer restrictions. The Founder Shares will be excluded from the pro rata calculation used to determine the per-share redemption
price.

In addition, the Company, Ultimate, the Sponsor, the Insiders, Oppenheimer and Nomura entered into that certain Investor Rights Agreement, dated as
of June 4, 2021 (the “Investor Rights Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties have set forth, among other things, their agreements with respect to
certain governance matters, registration rights and lock-up periods from and after the closing of the Business Combination. Under the Investor Rights
Agreement, the original lock-up period to which the Sponsor and the Insiders are subject was amended to provide for termination of the lock-up period
six months after the consummation of the Business Combination (other than with respect to the Private Placement Units (as defined below) for which
the termination of the lock-up period is 30 days after the consummation of the Business Combination).

A majority of the voting power of all outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote must be present via the virtual meeting
platform or by proxy to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Special Meeting. Approval of each of the Business Combination
Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal,
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the Equity Plans Proposal, the Election of Directors Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast
at the Special Meeting. Approval of the Charter Amendment Proposals requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of
GigCapital4 Common Stock. The Board unanimously recommends that you vote “FOR” each of these proposals.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Dr. Raluca Dinu
President & CEO

Palo Alto, California
[ 11,2021
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SUMMARY TERM SHEET

This summary term sheet, together with the sections entitled “Questions and Answers About the Proposals for Stockholders” and “Summary of the Proxy
Statement,” summarizes certain information contained in this proxy statement, but does not contain all of the information that is important to you. You
should read carefully this entire proxy statement, including the attached Annexes, for a more complete understanding of the matters to be considered at
the Special Meeting. In addition, for definitions used commonly throughout this proxy statement, including this summary term sheet, please see the
section entitled “Frequently Used Terms.”

The Company is a Private-to-Public Equity (PPE)™ company, also known as a blank check company or special purpose acquisition
company, formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or similar
business combination with one or more businesses.

In connection with the Company’s IPO, we issued isn’t this 35,880,000 units at a price of $10.00 per unit resulting in total gross proceeds
of $358,800,000. Each unit consisted of one share of Common Stock and one third of one redeemable warrant.

There are currently 45,949,600 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, issued and outstanding, including 35,880,000 shares
of Common Stock originally sold as units as part of the IPO, 10,051,600 Founder Shares of Common Stock that were either initially issued
or purchased as part of Private Placement Units (as defined below) prior to our IPO by our Initial Stockholders (of which 850,000 shares
are Private Placement Shares (as defined below). There are currently no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.

In addition, we have 11,959,980 public warrants to purchase Common Stock (originally sold as part of the public units issued in our IPO)
outstanding along with 366,533 Private Placement Warrants issued to our Initial Stockholders as part of the Private Placement Units. Each
warrant entitles its holder to purchase one share of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per whole share, to be exercised only
for a whole number of shares of our Common Stock. The warrants will become exercisable upon the later of 30 days after the completion
of our initial business combination or 12 months from the closing of the IPO (February 11, 2022), and they expire five years after the
completion of the Business Combination, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. Once the warrants
become exercisable, the Company may redeem the outstanding public warrants at a price of $0.01 per warrant, if the last reported sales
price of the Company’s Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading day period ending
on the third trading day prior to the date on which we give notice of such redemption and provided certain other conditions are met.

For more information regarding our Common Stock and warrants, please see the section entitled “Description of Securities”.

BigBear is a leader in data-driven decision dominance and advanced analytics that provides its customers with a competitive advantage in
a world driven by data that is growing exponentially in terms of volume, variety, and velocity. For more information about BigBear, please
see the sections entitled “Information about New BigBear,” “BigBear’s Business,” “BigBear’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Management after the Business Combination”.

Subject to the terms of the Merger Agreement, all units of limited liability company interest of BigBear issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the consummation of the First Merger will be canceled and converted into the right to receive, in the aggregate (i)
123,710,000 shares of Common Stock and (ii) $75,000,000 in cash.

The Convertible Note Investors have agreed to purchase Convertible Notes pursuant to the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements
with the Convertible Notes Investors, pursuant to which, among other
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things, the Company agreed to issue and sell to the Convertible Note Investors, in private placements to close immediately prior to the
Closing, the Convertible Notes for an aggregate purchase price of $200,000,000. The Convertible Notes, which shall bear interest at a rate
of 6.00% per annum, payable semi-annually, are convertible into 17,391,304 shares of Common Stock at an initial conversion price of
$11.50 (subject to adjustment).

It is anticipated that, upon completion of the Business Combination: (i) the Company’s public stockholders (other than the Convertible
Note Investors) will retain an ownership interest of approximately 21% in the post-combination company; (ii) our Initial Stockholders
(including our Sponsor) will own approximately 6% of the post-combination company; and (iii) the former BigBear equity holders will
own approximately 73% of the post-combination company.

The ownership percentage with respect to the post-combination company following the Business Combination does not take into account
(i) warrants to purchase Common Stock that will remain outstanding immediately following the Business Combination, (ii) conversion of
the Convertible Notes into shares of Common Stock, or (iii) the issuance of any shares upon completion of the Business Combination
under the 2021 Plan or the 2021 ESPP, copies of which are attached to this proxy statement as Annex H and Annex I, respectively. If the
actual facts are different than these assumptions, the percentage ownership retained by the Company’s existing stockholders in the post-
combination company will be different. For more information, please see the sections entitled “Summary of the Proxy Statement—Impact
of the Business Combination on the Company’s Public Float,” “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information”, and
“Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal”.

Our management and Board considered various factors in determining whether to approve the Merger Agreement and the Business
Combination. For more information about our decision-making process, see the section entitled “Summary of the Proxy Statement—
Reasons for the Approval of the Business Combination”.

Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation in connection with the Business Combination, holders of public shares
may elect to have their public shares redeemed for cash at the applicable redemption price per share calculated in accordance with our
certificate of incorporation. As of August 5, 2021, this would have amounted to approximately 10.00 per share. If a holder exercises its
redemption rights, then such holder will be exchanging its shares of our Common Stock for cash and will no longer own shares of the post-
combination company and will not participate in the future growth of the post-combination company, if any. Such a holder will be entitled
to receive cash for its public shares only if it properly demands redemption and delivers its shares (either physically or electronically) to
our Transfer Agent at least two business days prior to the Special Meeting. Please see the section entitled “Special Meeting of Company
Stockholders—Redemption Rights”.

In addition to voting on the proposals to adopt the Merger Agreement and to approve the transactions contemplated thereunder, including the Business
Combination, at the Special Meeting, the stockholders of the Company will be asked to vote on:

Proposal No. 2—The Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal—To approve, for purposes of complying with applicable listing rules of Nasdaq,
the issuance of more than 20% of the Company’s outstanding GigCapital4 Common Stock in connection with the Business Combination,
and the transactions contemplated by the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements, including up to 123,710,000 shares of GigCapital4
Common Stock to Ultimate as the sole member of BigBear and 17,391,304 shares of our GigCapital4 Common Stock upon conversion of
the Convertible Notes;

Proposal No. 3—Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal—To adopt the classification of our Board into three classes of directors
with staggered terms of office and to make certain related changes;

Proposal No. 4—Approval of Additional Amendments to Current Certificate of Incorporation in Connection with the Business
Combination Proposal—To approve certain additional changes,
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including but not limited to, changing the post-combination company’s corporate name from “GigCapital4, Inc.” to “BigBear.ai Holdings,
Inc.” and eliminating certain provisions specific to our status as a blank check company, which our Board believes are necessary to
adequately address the needs of the post-combination company;

Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal—To approve the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP, including the authorization of the initial share
reserve under the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP;

Proposal No. 6—Election of Directors Proposal—To consider and vote upon a proposal to elect, effective at Closing, 11 directors to serve
staggered terms on our Board until the 2022, 2023 and 2024 annual meetings of stockholders, respectively, and until their respective
successors are duly elected and qualified; and

Proposal No. 7—Adjournment Proposal—To approve, if necessary, the adjournment of the Special Meeting to a later date or dates to
permit further solicitation and votes of proxies in the event that there are insufficient votes for, or otherwise in connection with, the
approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans
Proposal or the Election of Directors Proposal. This proposal will only be presented at the Special Meeting if there are not sufficient votes
to approve the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans
Proposal or the Election of Directors Proposal.

Please see the sections entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business Combination,” “Proposal No. 2—The Nasdaq Stock Issuance
Proposal,” “Proposal No. 3—Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal,” “Proposal No. 4—Approval of Certain Governance
Provisions in the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in Connection with the Business Combination,” “Proposal
No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal,” “Proposal No. 6—the Election of Directors Proposal,” and “Proposal No. 7—The Adjournment
Proposal.” Proposals in this proxy statement (other than the Adjournment Proposal) are conditioned on the approval of the Business
Combination Proposal.

The Merger Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the consummation of the Business Combination upon agreement of the
parties thereto, or by the Company or BigBear, as applicable, in specified circumstances. For more information about the termination rights
under the Merger Agreement, please see the section entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business Combination—The Merger
Agreement—Termination”.

The proposed Business Combination involves numerous risks. For more information about these risks, please see the section entitled “Risk
Factors.”

In considering the recommendation of our Board to vote in favor of the Business Combination, stockholders should be aware that aside
from their interests as stockholders, our Sponsor and certain members of our Board and officers have interests in the Business Combination
that are different from, or in addition to, those of other stockholders generally. Our Board was aware of and considered these interests,
among other matters, in evaluating and negotiating the Business Combination, and in recommending to stockholders that they approve the
Business Combination. Stockholders should take these interests into account in deciding whether to approve the Business Combination.
These interests include, among other things:

» the fact that our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders have agreed not to redeem any of the Private Placement Shares Founder Shares
or the Insider Shares in connection with a stockholder vote to approve the Business Combination;

» the fact that our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders will retain 10,069,600 Founder Shares and Insider Shares upon the Closing;

» the fact that our Initial Stockholders have agreed to waive their rights to liquidating distributions from the Trust Account with respect
to their Founder Shares if we fail to complete an initial business combination by the applicable deadline;

» if the Trust Account is liquidated, including in the event we are unable to complete an initial business combination within the
required time period, our Sponsor has agreed to indemnify us to
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ensure that the proceeds in the Trust Account are not reduced below $10.00 per public share, or such lesser per public share amount
as is in the Trust Account on the liquidation date, by the claims of prospective target businesses with which we have entered into an
acquisition agreement or claims of any third party (other than our independent public accountants) for services rendered or products
sold to us, but only if such a vendor or target business has not executed a waiver of any and all rights to seek access to the Trust
Account;

the continued indemnification of our existing directors and officers and the continuation of our directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance after the Business Combination;

the fact that Dr. Avi Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu and Dorothy D. Hayes will continue as board members of the post-combination company
and each shall be entitled to receive compensation for serving on the board of directors of the post-combination company;

the fact that we engaged the underwriters of our IPO as advisors to assist us in holding meetings with our stockholders to discuss
potential business combination, introduce us to potential investors that are interested in purchasing our securities in connection with
a potential business combination, assist us in obtaining stockholder approval for the business combination and assist us with our
press releases and public filings in connection with a business combination. Pursuant to that agreement, we will pay the underwriters
a cash fee for such services upon the consummation of the Business Combination in an amount equal to, in the aggregate, 3.5% of
the gross proceeds of the IPO, including any proceeds from the exercise of the over-allotment option;

the fact that the Sponsor and the Insiders entered into the Investor Rights Agreement pursuant to which the original lock-up period to
which the Sponsor and the Insiders are subject was amended to provide for termination of the lock-up period six months after the
consummation of the Business Combination (other than with respect to the Private Placement Units for which the termination of the
lock-up period is 30 days after the consummation of the Business Combination); and

the fact that our Sponsor, officers and directors will lose their entire investment in us if an initial business combination is not
consummated by the applicable deadline. Prior to our IPO, our Sponsor purchased an aggregate of 7,460,000 Founder Shares (which
following a 1.2:1 split in February 2021, resulted in 8,952,000 Founder Shares) for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000, or
approximately $0.0033512 per share (as compared to the $10.00 per share price being used to determine the number of shares of
Common Stock being issued to Ultimate (as the sole member of BigBear) in the Business Combination. Additionally, the Initial
Stockholders purchased from the Company an aggregate of 1,099,600 Private Placement Units at a price of $10.00 per unit
simultaneously with the consummation of our IPO for an aggregate purchase price of $10,996,000, with the Sponsor purchasing
850,000 Private Placement Units for $8,500,000, and Oppenheimer and Nomura purchasing 249,600 Private Placement Units.
Certain of our directors and executive officers, including Dr. Avi Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu and Dorothy D. Hayes, also have a direct or
indirect economic interest in our securities. Drs. Katz and Dinu have an indirect interest in the 9,802,000 Founder Shares (which
include the Founder Shares included in the 850,000 Private Placement Units) owned by the Sponsor, and Ms. Hayes owns 12,000
Insider Shares. The 8,952,000 Founder Shares acquired at our formation by the Sponsor would have had an aggregate market value
of $[ ] based upon the closing price of $[ 1 per public share on Nasdaq on [ 1, 2021, the most recent
practicable date prior to the date of this proxy statement. The 850,000 Private Placement Units held by the Sponsor would have had
an aggregate market value of $[ ] based upon the closing price of $[ ] per public unit on Nasdaq on [ 1,
2021, the most recent practicable date prior to the date of this proxy statement. The 18,000 shares owned by the Insiders would have
had an aggregate market value of $[ ] based upon the closing price of $[ ] per public share on Nasdaq on

[ ], 2021, the most recent practicable date prior to the date of this proxy statement. Additionally, the Sponsor, officers and
directors do not currently have any unreimbursed out-of-pocket expenses in connection with the Business Combination.
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FREQUENTLY USED TERMS

»

Unless otherwise stated or unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” and “GigCapital4” refer to GigCapital4,
Inc., a Delaware corporation, and the term “post-combination company” refers to the Company following the consummation of the Business
Combination.

In this proxy statement:

“Aggregate Merger Consideration” means the Cash Merger Consideration and the Equity Merger Consideration, in the aggregate.

“applicable deadline” means February 11, 2023 (or such later date if we amend our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation again to
further extend the time that we have to consummate a business combination).

“BigBear” means BigBear.ai Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company formerly known as Lake Intermediate, LLC.

“Board” or “Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Company.

“Business Combination” means the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including (i) the merger of Merger Sub with and into BigBear,
with BigBear continuing as the surviving company and as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (ii) the merger of BigBear (as the surviving
company of the First Merger) with and into the Company, with the Company continuing as the surviving company and (iii) the payment of the Cash
Merger Consideration and the Equity Merger Consideration to Ultimate as the sole member of BigBear, as merger consideration.

“Bylaws” means our Bylaws, dated as of December 11, 2020.

“Cash Merger Consideration” means $75,000,000 to be paid to Ultimate at the Closing pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement.

“Closing” means the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

“Closing Date” means the date on which the Closing occurs.

“Convertible Note Investment” means the private placement pursuant to which the Convertible Note Investors have subscribed for the Convertible Notes
for an aggregate purchase price of $200,000,000.

“Convertible Note Investors” means certain institutional investors that will invest in the Convertible Note Investment.

“Convertible Notes” means the 6.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 and that are convertible into Convertible Note Shares at an initial conversion
price of $11.50 per share (subject to adjustment).

“Convertible Note Shares” means the 17,391,304 shares of Common Stock to be issued upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, in accordance with
the terms and subject to the conditions of the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements and the Indenture.

“Convertible Note Subscription Agreements” means, collectively, those certain subscription agreements entered into on June 4, 2021, between the
Company and certain investors, pursuant to which such Convertible Note Investors have agreed to purchase an aggregate of $200,000,000 in the

Convertible Note Investment, and substantially in the form attached hereto as Annex G.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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“Common Stock” means the shares of Common Stock of the Company, par value $0.0001 per share.

“Company” means GigCapital4, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“DGCL” means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

“DLA” means DLA Piper LLP (US), counsel to the Company.

“EBITDA” means earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization.

“Equity Merger Consideration” means a number of shares of GigCapital4 Common Stock equal to the result of dividing (i) the difference of (A)
$1,312,100,000, minus (B) $75,000,000, by (ii) 10.00 (rounded up to the nearest whole number of shares) to be issued to Ultimate at the Closing
pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“First Effective Time” means the effective time of the First Merger.

“Founder” means the Sponsor.

“Founder Shares” means the 10,051,600 shares of our Common Stock held by the Initial Stockholders.

“GAAP” means U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

“GigCapital4 Common Stock” or “our Common Stock” means common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of GigCapital4.

“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

“Indenture” means the indenture to be entered into in connection with the Closing between New BigBear and the Indenture Trustee in its capacity as
trustee thereunder, in substantially the form attached as an exhibit to the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements.

“Indenture Trustee” means Wilmington Trust, National Association, a national banking association.

“Initial Stockholders” means the Sponsor, Nomura and Oppenheimer.

“Insiders” means Dorothy D. Hayes and Brad Weightman.

“Insider Shares” means the 18,000 shares of our Common Stock held by the Insiders.

“Investment Company Act” means the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

“Investor Rights Agreement” means the Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of June 4, 2021, by and among GigCapital4, Ultimate, the Sponsor, the
Insiders, Oppenheimer and Nomura, pursuant to which the parties have set forth, among other things, their agreements with respect to certain

governance matters, registration rights and lock-up periods from and after the closing of the Business Combination.

“IPO” means the Company’s initial public offering, consummated on February 8, 2021, through the sale of 35,880,000 public units at $10.00 per public
unit.

“K&E” means Kirkland & Ellis LLP, counsel to BigBear.

“Merger Agreement” means that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 4, 2021 (as amended on August 6, 2021, and as it may be
further amended from time to time), by and among the Company, Merger Sub, BigBear and Ultimate.
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“Merger Sub” means GigCapital4 Merger Sub Corporation, a Delaware corporation.
“Morrow Sodali” means Morrow Sodali LLC, proxy solicitor to the Company.
“Offering Shares” mean shares of Common Stock included as part of the public units sold in the IPO.

“New BigBear” means GigCapital4 immediately following the consummation of the Business Combination and approval of the proposed Second
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

“New BigBear Board” means New BigBear’s board of directors following the consummation of the Business Combination and the election of directors
pursuant to Proposal No. 6—The Election of Directors Proposal.

“New BigBear Common Stock” means, following the consummation of the Business Combination and approval of the proposed Second Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, New BigBear Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, as authorized under the proposed Second Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

“Nasdaq” means The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.

“Nomura” means Nomura Securities International, Inc.

“Oppenheimer” means Oppenheimer & Co. Inc., the representative of the underwriters in our IPO.

“Private Placement Shares” mean the shares of our Common Stock included in the Private Placement Units issued to the Initial Stockholders in a
private placement that closed prior to the IPO.

“Private Placement Units” mean the units, consisting of one share of Company Common Stock and one third of one warrant to purchase one share of
Company Common Stock, issued to the Initial Stockholders in a private placement that closed prior to the IPO.

“Private Placement Warrants” means the warrants included in the Private Placement Units issued to the Initial Stockholders in a private placement that
closed prior to the IPO, each of which is exercisable for one share of Common Stock, in accordance with its terms.

“public shares” means shares of Common Stock included in the public units issued in our IPO.

“public stockholders” means holders of public shares, including our Initial Stockholders to the extent our Initial Stockholders hold public shares,
provided, that our Initial Stockholders will be considered “public stockholders” only with respect to any public shares held by them.

“public units” means one unit, consisting of one public share of Company Common Stock and one third of one warrant to purchase one share of
Company Common Stock, issued in our IPO.

“public warrants” means the warrants included in the public units issued in the IPO, each of which is exercisable for one share of Common Stock, in
accordance with its terms.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Second Effective Time” means the effective time of the Second Merger.

“Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation” means the proposed Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company, a form of which is attached hereto as Annex C, which will become
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the post-combination company’s certificate of incorporation upon the approval of the Charter Amendment Proposals, assuming the consummation of the
Business Combination.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Special Meeting” means the special meeting of the stockholders of the Company that is the subject of this proxy statement.
“Sponsor” means GigAcquisitions4, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“Transfer Agent” means Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

“Trust Account” means the trust account of the Company that holds the proceeds from the Company’s IPO and a portion of the proceeds from the sale of
the Private Placement Units.

“Trustee” means Wilmington Trust, National Association.

“Ultimate” means BBAI Ultimate Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company formerly known as PCISM Ultimate Holdings, LLC and the
sole equity holder of BigBear.

“units” means the public units and the Private Placement Units.

“warrants” means the Private Placement Warrants and the public warrants.
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROPOSALS FOR STOCKHOLDERS

The questions and answers below highlight only selected information from this document and only briefly address some commonly asked questions
about the proposals to be presented at the Special Meeting, including with respect to the proposed Business Combination. The following questions and
answers do not include all the information that is important to our stockholders. We urge stockholders to read carefully this entire proxy statement,
including the Annexes and the other documents referred to herein, to fully understand the proposed Business Combination and the voting procedures for
the Special Meeting, which will be held on [ ], 2021 at [10:00 a.m., Pacific Time (PDT)], via webcast at [  ].

Q: Why am I receiving this proxy statement?

A: You are being asked to consider and vote upon a proposal to adopt the Merger Agreement and to approve the Business Combination and transactions
contemplated thereby, among other proposals. We have entered into the Merger Agreement, pursuant to which (i) the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary, Merger Sub, will merge with and into BigBear, with BigBear surviving the First Merger, and (ii) immediately after the First Merger, BigBear
(as the surviving company of the First Merger) will merge with and into the Company with the Company surviving the Second Merger. Subject to the
terms of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Business Combination, all units of limited liability company interest of BigBear issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the First Effective Time will convert into a number of shares of Company Common Stock set forth in the Merger
Agreement. A copy of the Merger Agreement is attached to this proxy statement as Annex A.

In addition to the Business Combination, there are related matters that we are asking you to approve. This proxy statement and its Annexes contain
important information about the proposed Business Combination and the other matters to be acted upon at the Special Meeting. You should read this
proxy statement and its Annexes carefully and in their entirety.

Your vote is important. You are encouraged to submit your proxy as soon as possible after carefully reviewing this proxy statement and its
Annexes.

Q: When and where is the Special Meeting?

A: The Special Meeting will be held on [ ], 2021 at [10:00 a.m., PDT], via webcast at [ ]. In light of ongoing developments related to the coronavirus
(COVID-19), after careful consideration, the Company has determined that the Special Meeting will be a virtual meeting conducted exclusively via live
webcast in order to facilitate stockholder attendance and participation while safeguarding the health and safety of our stockholders, directors and
management team. You or your proxyholder will be able to attend the virtual Special Meeting online, vote, view the list of stockholders entitled to vote
at the special meeting and submit questions during the Special Meeting by visiting [ ] and using a control number assigned by Broadridge Financial
Solutions. To register and receive access to the virtual meeting, registered stockholders and beneficial stockholders (those holding shares through a stock
brokerage account or by a bank or other holder of record) will need to follow the instructions applicable to them provided in this proxy statement.
Because the special meeting is completely virtual and being conducted via live webcast, stockholders will not be able to attend the meeting in person.

Q: How can I attend and vote at the Special Meeting?

A: If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote by Internet before or during the Special Meeting, and you may choose to vote before the meeting by
telephone or by proxy. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, we urge you to vote by proxy to ensure your vote is counted.

. To vote using the proxy card, simply complete, sign, date and return the proxy card pursuant to the instructions on the card. If you return
your signed proxy card before the Special Meeting, we will vote your shares as directed.
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To vote over the telephone, dial toll-free [1-800-690-6903] using a touch-tone phone and follow the recorded instructions. You will be
asked to provide the company number and control number from the Notice. Your telephone vote must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern
Time (EDT) on[ 1], 2021 to be counted.

To vote through the Internet before the meeting, go to [www.cstproxyvote.com] and follow the on-screen instructions. Your Internet vote
must be received by 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time (EDT) on[ ], 2021 to be counted.

To vote through the Internet during the meeting, please visit [ ] and have available the 16-digit control number included in your Notice,
on your proxy card or on the instructions that accompanied your proxy materials.

Q: What are the specific proposals on which I am being asked to vote at the Special Meeting?

A: You are being asked to approve the following proposals:

1.

Proposal No. 1—The Business Combination Proposal—To approve and adopt the Merger Agreement, a copy of which is attached to this
proxy statement as Annex A, and to approve the transactions contemplated thereby, including (i) the merger of Merger Sub with and into
BigBear, with BigBear surviving the First Merger, and the issuance of Common Stock to Ultimate as merger consideration, and

(ii) immediately after the First Merger, the merger of BigBear (as the surviving company of the First Merger) with and into the Company
with the Company surviving the Second Merger;

Proposal No. 2—The Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal—To approve, for purposes of complying with applicable listing rules of Nasdaq,
the issuance of more than 20% of the Company’s outstanding GigCapital4 Common Stock in connection with the Business Combination,
and the transactions contemplated by the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements, including up to 123,710,000 shares of GigCapital4
Common Stock to Ultimate as the sole member of BigBear, and 17,391,304 shares of our GigCapital4 Common Stock upon conversion of
the Convertible Notes;

Proposal No. 3—Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal—To adopt the classification of our board of directors into three
classes of directors with staggered terms of office and to make certain related changes;

Proposal No. 4—Approval of Additional Amendments to Current Certificate of Incorporation in Connection with the Business
Combination Proposal—To approve certain additional changes, including but not limited to, changing the post-combination company’s
corporate name from “GigCapital4, Inc.” to “BigBear.ai Holdings, Inc.” and eliminating certain provisions specific to our status as a blank
check company, which our Board believes are necessary to adequately address the needs of the post-combination company;

Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal—To approve the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP, including the authorization of the initial
share reserve under the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP;

Proposal No. 6—Election of Directors Proposal—To elect the directors comprising the board of directors of New BigBear; and

Proposal No. 7—Adjournment Proposal—To approve, if necessary, the adjournment of the Special Meeting to a later date or dates to
permit further solicitation and votes of proxies in the event that there are insufficient votes for, or otherwise in connection with, the
approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans
Proposal or the Election of Directors Proposal. This proposal will only be presented at the Special Meeting if there are not sufficient votes
to approve the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans
Proposal or the Election of Directors Proposal.
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Q: Are the proposals conditioned on one another?

A: Yes. The proposals in this proxy statement (other than the Adjournment Proposal) are conditioned on the approval of the Business Combination
Proposal. Therefore, approval of the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal and the Election of
Directors Proposal are conditioned upon stockholders’ approval of the Business Combination Proposal.

It is important for you to note that in the event that the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment
Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal or the Election of Directors Proposal do not receive the requisite vote for approval, we will not consummate the
Business Combination. If we do not consummate the Business Combination and fail to complete an initial business combination by the applicable
deadline, we will be required to dissolve and liquidate our Trust Account by returning the then remaining funds in such account to the public
stockholders.

Our current deadline under our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation to consummate the Business Combination is February 11, 2023.
The Merger Agreement may be terminated and the Business Combination may be abandoned by GigCapital4 or BigBear.

Q: Why are we providing stockholders with the opportunity to vote on the Business Combination?

A: Under our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we must provide all holders of public shares with the opportunity to have their
public shares redeemed upon the consummation of our initial business combination either in conjunction with a tender offer or in conjunction with a
stockholder vote. For business and other reasons, we have elected to provide our stockholders with the opportunity to have their public shares redeemed
in connection with a stockholder vote, rather than a tender offer. Therefore, we are seeking to obtain the approval of our stockholders of the Business
Combination Proposal in order to allow our public stockholders to effectuate redemptions of their public shares in connection with the Closing. The
adoption of the Merger Agreement is required under Delaware law and the approval of the Business Combination is required under our current amended
and restated certificate of incorporation. In addition, such approval is also a condition to the Closing under the Merger Agreement.

Q: What revenues and profits/losses has BigBear generated in the last year?

A: During the Successor Pro Forma 2020 (as defined below) period, BigBear had pro forma combined revenue of approximately $138,992,000 and
operating income of approximately $7,599,000. For additional information, please see the sections entitled “Summary Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
Combined Financial Information” and “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information.”

Q: How will BigBear be acquired in the Business Combination?

A: Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, (i) Merger Sub will merge with and into BigBear, with BigBear surviving the First Merger, and (ii) immediately
after the First Merger, BigBear (as the surviving company of the First Merger) will merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the
Second Merger.

Q: Following the Business Combination, will our securities continue to trade on a stock exchange?

A: Yes. We intend to apply to continue the listing of our Common Stock and warrants on Nasdaq under the symbols “BBAI” and “BBAIW”,
respectively, upon the Closing. Our units will automatically separate into the component securities upon consummation of the Business Combination
and, as a result, will no longer trade as a separate security.
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Q: How has the announcement of the Business Combination affected the trading price of our Common Stock?

A: On June 3, 2021, the trading date immediately prior to the public announcement of the Business Combination, our Common Stock, public warrants
and public units closed at $9.71, $0.91 and $10.00, respectively. On [ ], 2021, the trading date immediately prior to the date of this proxy statement,
our Common Stock, public warrants and public units closed at $[ 1, $[ 1and $[ 1, respectively.

Q: How will the Business Combination impact the shares of the Company outstanding after the Business Combination?

A: After the Business Combination and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby, the amount of Common Stock outstanding will
increase by approximately 269.23%, or 123,710,000 shares, to an aggregate amount of 169,659,600 shares of Common Stock (assuming that no shares
of Common Stock are redeemed). Additional shares of Common Stock may be issuable in the future as a result of the issuance of additional shares that
are not currently outstanding, including the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon exercise or settlement of the public warrants and Private
Placement Warrants. The issuance and sale of such shares in the public market could adversely impact the market price of our Common Stock, even if
our business is doing well.

Q: Is the Business Combination the first step in a “going private” transaction?

A: No. We do not intend for the Business Combination to be the first step in a “going private” transaction. One of the primary purposes of the Business
Combination is to provide a platform for BigBear to access the U.S. public markets.

Q: Did the Company’s board of directors obtain a third-party valuation or fairness opinion in determining whether or not to proceed with the
Business Combination?

A: No. The Company’s board of directors did not obtain a third-party valuation or fairness opinion in connection with its determination to approve the
Business Combination. Accordingly, investors will be relying solely on the judgment of the Company’s board of directors in valuing BigBear and
assuming the risk that the Company’s board may not have properly valued the businesses. However, the Company’s officers and directors have
substantial experience in evaluating the operating and financial merits of companies from a wide range of industries and have substantial experience
with mergers and acquisitions. Furthermore, in analyzing the Business Combination, the Company’s board of directors conducted significant due
diligence on BigBear. Based on the foregoing, the Company’s board of directors concluded that its members’ collective experience and backgrounds,
together with the experience and sector expertise of the Company’s advisors, enabled it to make the necessary analyses and determinations regarding the
Business Combination, including that the Business Combination was fair from a financial perspective to its stockholders and that collectively BigBear’s
fair market value was at least 80% of the assets held in the Trust Account (excluding the deferred underwriting commissions and taxes payable on
interest earned on the Trust Account) at the time of the agreement to enter into the Business Combination. There can be no assurance, however, that the
Company’s board of directors was correct in its assessment of the Business Combination.

Q: Will the management and board of directors of BigBear change in the Business Combination?

A: We anticipate that all of the executive officers of BigBear will remain with the post-combination company. Upon completion of the Business
Combination, our current directors will resign from our Board (other than Dr. Avi Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu and Dorothy D. Hayes). The board of directors
of the post-combination company will be comprised of Dr. Avi Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu, Raanan I. Horowitz, Dorothy D. Hayes, Dr. Reginald Brothers,
Sean Battleand [ ].
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Q: What equity stake will current stockholders of the Company and the BigBear equity holders hold in the post-combination company after the
Closing?

A: Tt is anticipated that, upon completion of the Business Combination, assuming no redemptions: (i) the Company’s public stockholders will retain an
ownership interest of approximately 21% in the post-combination company (not including shares beneficially owned by our Sponsor); (ii) our Initial
Stockholders (including our Sponsor) will own approximately 6% of the post-combination company; and (iii) the former BigBear equity holders will
own approximately 73% of the post-combination company.

The ownership percentage with respect to the post-combination company following the Business Combination does not take into account (i) warrants to
purchase Common Stock that will remain outstanding immediately following the Business Combination or (ii) conversion of the Convertible Notes into
shares of Common Stock or (iii) the issuance of any shares upon completion of the Business Combination under the 2021 Plan or the 2021 ESPP, a copy
of which is attached to this proxy statement as Annex H and Annex I, respectively. If the actual facts are different than these assumptions, the percentage
ownership retained by the Company’s existing stockholders in the post-combination company will be different. For more information, please see the
sections entitled “Summary of the Proxy Statement—Impact of the Business Combination on the Company’s Public Float,” “Unaudited Pro Forma
Condensed Combined Financial Information” and “Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal.”

Q: Will we obtain new financing in connection with the Business Combination?

A: Yes. The Convertible Note Investors have agreed to purchase an aggregate of $200,000,000 of gross proceeds, pursuant to the Convertible Note
Subscription Agreements. The Convertible Note Subscription Agreements are contingent upon, among other things, stockholder approval of the
Business Combination Proposal and the Closing. For additional information, please see the section entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business
Combination—Certain Agreements Related to the Business Combination—Merger Agreement”.

Q: What conditions must be satisfied to complete the Business Combination?

A: There are a number of closing conditions in the Merger Agreement, including the approval by the stockholders of the Company of the Business
Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal and the Election of Directors
Proposal. For a summary of the conditions that must be satisfied or waived prior to completion of the Business Combination, please see the section
entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business Combination—Certain Agreements Related to the Business Combination—Merger Agreement”.

Q: Are there any arrangements to help ensure that the Company will have sufficient funds, together with the proceeds in its Trust Account, to
fund the aggregate purchase price?

A: Unless waived by BigBear, the Merger Agreement provides that BigBear’s obligations to consummate the Business Combination is conditioned on
the Available Closing Acquiror Cash (as defined in the Merger Agreement) equal to at least $350,000,000, which amount shall be net of any unpaid
liabilities of the Company as of the Closing (other than any Acquiror Transaction Expenses, as defined in the Merger Agreement). The Convertible Note
Investors have agreed to purchase an aggregate amount of gross proceeds of $200,000,000 pursuant to the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements
entered into on June 4, 2021. The Convertible Note Investment is contingent upon, among other things, stockholder approval of the Business
Combination Proposal and the Closing.

The Company will use the funds in the Trust Account to: (i) pay Company stockholders who properly exercise their redemption rights; and, provided
that there are funds remaining after this payment, (ii) pay certain other fees, costs and expenses (including regulatory fees, legal fees, accounting fees,
printer fees and other professional
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fees) that were incurred by the Company and other parties to the Merger Agreement in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement, including the Business Combination, and pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement.

Q: Why is the Company proposing the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal?

A: We are proposing the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal in order to comply with Nasdaq Rule 5635(d), which requires stockholder approval of certain
transactions that result in the issuance of 20% or more of the outstanding voting power or shares of Common Stock outstanding before the issuance of
stock or securities.

In connection with the Business Combination, we expect to issue up to 123,710,000 shares of Common Stock in the Business Combination. Because we
may issue 20% or more of our outstanding Common Stock when considering the Common Stock Consideration, we are required to obtain stockholder
approval of such issuance pursuant to Nasdaq Rule 5635(d). For more information, please see the section entitled “Proposal No. 2—The Nasdaq Stock
Issuance Proposal.”

Q: Why is the Company proposing the Charter Amendment Proposals?

A: The Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that we are asking our stockholders to adopt in connection with the Business
Combination (the “Charter Amendment Proposals”) provides for certain amendments to our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation.
Pursuant to Delaware law and the Merger Agreement, we are required to submit the Charter Amendment Proposals to the Company’s stockholders for
adoption. For additional information please see the section entitled “Proposal No. 3—Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal”.

Q: Why is the Company proposing the Equity Plans Proposal?

A: The purpose of the Equity Plans Proposal is to further align the interests of the eligible participants with those of stockholders by providing long-term
incentive compensation opportunities tied to the performance of the Company. Please see the section entitled “Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans
Proposal” for additional information.

Q: Why is the Company proposing the Election of Directors Proposal?

A: The purpose of the Election of Directors Proposal is to elect the directors comprising the board of directors of New BigBear after the Closing Date of
the Business Combination. For more information about the election of the individuals nominated to serve as directors of New BigBear, please see the
section entitled “Proposal No. 6—Election of Directors Proposal.”

Q: Why is the Company proposing the Adjournment Proposal?

A: We are proposing the Adjournment Proposal to allow our Board to adjourn the Special Meeting to a later date or dates to permit further solicitation of
proxies in the event that there are insufficient votes for, or otherwise in connection with, the approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq
Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal or the Election of Directors Proposal, but no other proposal if the
Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal and the Election of
Directors Proposal are approved. Please see the section entitled “Proposal No. 7—The Adjournment Proposal” for additional information.

Q: What happens if you sell your shares of Common Stock before the Special Meeting?

A: The record date for the Special Meeting is earlier than the date of the Special Meeting. If you transfer your shares of Common Stock after the record
date, but before the Special Meeting, unless the transferee obtains from
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you a proxy to vote those shares, you will retain your right to vote at the Special Meeting. However, you will not be able to seek redemption of your
shares of Common Stock because you will no longer be able to deliver them two business days prior to the Special Meeting. If you transfer your shares
of Common Stock prior to the record date, you will have no right to vote those shares at the Special Meeting or redeem those shares for a pro rata
portion of the proceeds held in our Trust Account.

Q: What constitutes a quorum at the Special Meeting?

A: A majority of the voting power of all outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Company entitled to vote must be present in person or by proxy
(which would include presence at the virtual Special Meeting) to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Special Meeting. Abstentions
will be counted as present for the purpose of determining a quorum. Our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders, who currently own approximately 21.9%
of our issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock, will count towards this quorum. In the absence of a quorum, the chairman of the Special
Meeting has power to adjourn the Special Meeting. As of the record date for the Special Meeting, 22,974,801 shares of our Common Stock would be
required to achieve a quorum.

Q: What vote is required to approve the proposals presented at the Special Meeting?
A:

Proposal No. 1—The Business Combination Proposal: The approval of the Business Combination Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority
of the votes cast by the stockholders present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. Accordingly, a Company
stockholder’s failure to vote, as well as an abstention from voting and a broker non-vote, will have no effect on the Business Combination Proposal.
Abstentions will be counted in connection with the determination of whether a valid quorum is established but will have no effect on the Business
Combination Proposal. Our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders have agreed to vote their shares of Common Stock “FOR” the Business Combination
Proposal.

Proposal No. 2—The Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal: The approval of the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority
of the votes cast by the stockholders present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. Accordingly, under Delaware
law, a Company stockholder’s failure to vote, as well as an abstention and broker non-vote, will have no effect on the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal.
Abstentions will be counted in connection with the determination of whether a valid quorum is established.

Proposal No. 3—Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal: The approval of the classification of our board of directors into three classes of
directors with staggered terms of office and to make certain related changes requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
shares of our Common Stock entitled to vote thereon at the Special Meeting. Accordingly, a Company stockholder’s failure to vote, as well as an
abstention from voting and a broker non-vote, will have the same effect as a vote “AGAINST” such Proposal No. 3.

Proposal No. 4—Approval of Additional Amendments to Current Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in Connection with the
Business Combination Proposal: The approval of certain additional changes, including but not limited to changing the post-combination company’s
corporate name from “GigCapital4, Inc.” to “BigBear.ai Holdings, Inc.” and eliminating certain provisions specific to our status as a blank check
company, which our Board believes are necessary to adequately address the needs of the post-combination company, requires the affirmative vote of the
holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock entitled to vote thereon at the Special Meeting. Accordingly, a Company
stockholder’s failure to vote, as well as an abstention from voting and a broker non-vote, will have the same effect as a vote “AGAINST” such Proposal
No. 4.
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Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal: The approval of the Equity Plans Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by
the stockholders present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. Accordingly, under Delaware law, a Company
stockholder’s failure to vote by proxy, as well as an abstention and broker non-vote, will have no effect on the Equity Plans Proposal. Abstentions will
be counted in connection with the determination of whether a valid quorum is established.

Proposal No. 6—Election of Directors Proposal: The approval of the Election of Directors Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the
votes cast by the stockholders present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. Accordingly, under Delaware law, a
Company stockholder’s failure to vote by proxy, as well as an abstention and broker non-vote, will have no effect on the Election of Directors Proposal.
Abstentions will be counted in connection with the determination of whether a valid quorum is established.

Proposal No. 7—The Adjournment Proposal: The approval of the Adjournment Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by
the stockholders present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. Accordingly, a Company stockholder’s failure to
vote, as well as an abstention from voting and a broker non-vote, will have no effect on the Adjournment Proposal. Abstentions will be counted in
connection with the determination of whether a valid quorum is established but will have no effect on the Adjournment Proposal.

Q: What happens if the Business Combination Proposal is not approved?

A: If the Business Combination Proposal is not approved and we do not consummate a business combination by February 11, 2023, we will be required
to dissolve and liquidate our Trust Account, unless we amend our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation again to further extend the
time that we have to consummate a business combination.

Q: May the Company, our Sponsor or the Company’s directors or officers or their affiliates purchase shares in connection with the Business
Combination?

A: In connection with the stockholder vote to approve the proposed Business Combination, our Sponsor, directors or officers or their respective affiliates
may privately negotiate transactions to purchase shares from stockholders who would have otherwise elected to have their shares redeemed in
conjunction with a proxy solicitation pursuant to the proxy rules for a per-share pro rata portion of the Trust Account. None of our directors or officers
or their respective affiliates will make any such purchases when they are in possession of any material non-public information not disclosed to the seller
or during a restricted period under Regulation M under the Exchange Act. Such a purchase may include a contractual acknowledgement that such selling
stockholder, although still the record holder of our shares, is no longer the beneficial owner thereof and therefore agrees not to exercise its redemption
rights, and could include a contractual provision that directs such selling stockholder to vote such shares in a manner directed by the purchaser. In the
event that our Sponsor, directors or officers or their affiliates purchase shares in privately negotiated transactions from public stockholders who have
already elected to exercise their redemption rights, such selling stockholders would be required to revoke their prior elections to redeem their shares.
Any such privately negotiated purchases may be effected at purchase prices that are below or in excess of the per share pro rata portion of the Trust
Account.

Q: How many votes do you have at the Special Meeting?

A: Each stockholder is entitled to one vote on each proposal presented at the Special Meeting for each share of Common Stock held of record by such
stockholder as of [ ], 2021, the record date for the Special Meeting. As of the close of business on the record date, there were 45,949,600 outstanding
shares of our Common Stock.
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Q: How will our Initial Stockholders, directors and officers vote?

A: Prior to our IPO, we entered into agreements with our Initial Stockholders, pursuant to which each Initial Stockholder agreed to vote any shares of
Common Stock owned by them in favor of the Business Combination Proposal. Currently, our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders (who have also
agreed to vote any shares of Common Stock owned by them in favor of the Business Combination Proposal) collectively own 21.9% of our issued and
outstanding shares of Common Stock, and will be able to vote all such shares at the Special Meeting.

Q: How do I vote?
A: If you were a stockholder of record on [ ], 2021, you may vote by granting a proxy. Specifically, you may vote:

. By Mail—You may vote by mail by completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card in the postage-paid envelope
provided. Votes submitted by mail must be received by 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time (EDT) on [ ], 2021.

*  You should sign your name exactly as it appears on the proxy card. If you are signing in a representative capacity (for example, as
guardian, executor, trustee, custodian, attorney or officer of a corporation), indicate your name and title or capacity.

*  We encourage you to sign and return the proxy card even if you plan to attend the Special Meeting so that your shares will be voted
if you are unable to attend the Special Meeting.

» If you receive more than one proxy card, it is an indication that your shares are held in multiple accounts. Please sign and return all
proxy cards to ensure that all of your shares are voted.

. Voting at the Special Meeting—We will be hosting the Special Meeting via live webcast. If you attend the Special Meeting, you may
submit your vote at the Special Meeting online at [ ], in which case any votes that you previously submitted will be superseded by the
vote that you cast at the Special Meeting.

If you hold your shares in street name, you must submit voting instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee. In most instances, you will be able to
do this over the Internet, by telephone or by mail. Please refer to information from your bank, broker, or other nominee on how to submit voting
instructions.

Q: What will happen if I abstain from voting or fail to vote at the Special Meeting?

A: At the Special Meeting, we will count a properly executed proxy marked “ABSTAIN” with respect to a particular proposal as present for purposes of
determining whether a quorum is present. For purposes of approval, a failure to vote or an abstention will have no effect on the Business Combination
Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Equity Plans Proposal, the Election of Directors Proposal or the Adjournment Proposal. However, an
abstention or failure to vote will have the same effect as a vote “AGAINST” the Charter Amendment Proposals.

Q: What will happen if I sign and return my proxy card without indicating how I wish to vote?

A: Signed and dated proxies received by us without an indication of how the stockholder intends to vote on a proposal will be voted “FOR” each
proposal presented to the stockholders. The proxyholders may use their discretion to vote on any other matters which properly come before the Special
Meeting.

Q: If I am not going to attend the Special Meeting, should I return my proxy card instead?

A: Yes. Whether you plan to attend the Special Meeting or not, please read the enclosed proxy statement carefully. If you are a stockholder of record of
our Common Stock as of the close of business on the record date,
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you can vote by proxy by mail by following the instructions provided in the enclosed proxy card. Please note that if you are a beneficial owner of our
Common Stock, you may vote by submitting voting instructions to your broker, bank or nominee, or otherwise by following instructions provided by
your broker, bank or nominee. Telephone and internet voting may be available to beneficial owners. Please refer to the vote instruction form provided by
your broker, bank or nominee.

Q: What is the difference between a stockholder of record and a “street name” holder?

A: If your shares are registered directly in your name with the Company’s transfer agent, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, you are
considered the stockholder of record with respect to those shares, and access to proxy materials is being provided directly to you. If your shares are held
in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other nominee, then you are considered the beneficial owner of those shares, which are considered to be
held in “street name.” Access to proxy materials is being provided to you by your broker, bank or other nominee who is considered the stockholder of
record with respect to those shares.

Q: If my shares are held in “street name,” will my broker, bank or nominee automatically vote my shares for me?

A: No. Under the rules of various national and regional securities exchanges, your broker, bank, or nominee cannot vote your shares with respect to
non-routine matters unless you provide instructions on how to vote in accordance with the information and procedures provided to you by your broker,
bank, or nominee. We believe the proposals presented to the stockholders at this Special Meeting will be considered non-routine and, therefore, your
broker, bank, or nominee cannot vote your shares without your instruction on any of the proposals presented at the Special Meeting. If you do not
submit voting instructions, your broker, bank, or other nominee may deliver a proxy card expressly indicating that it is NOT voting your shares; this
indication that a broker, bank, or nominee is not voting your shares is referred to as a “broker non-vote.” Broker non-votes will not be counted for the
purposes of determining the existence of a quorum or for purposes of determining the number of votes cast at the Special Meeting. Your bank, broker, or
other nominee can vote your shares only if you provide instructions on how to vote. You should instruct your broker to vote your shares in accordance
with directions you provide.

Q: How will a broker non-vote impact the results of each proposal?

A: Broker non-votes will count as a vote “AGAINST” the Charter Amendment Proposals but will not have any effect on the outcome of any other
Proposals.

Q: May I change my vote after I have returned my signed proxy card or voting instruction form?

A: Yes. If you are a holder of record of our Common Stock as of the close of business on the record date, whether you vote by mail or in person, you can
change or revoke your proxy before it is voted at the Special Meeting by:

. delivering a signed written notice of revocation to our Secretary at GigCapital4, Inc., 1731 Embarcadero Road, Suite 200, Palo Alto,
California 94303, bearing a date later than the date of the proxy, stating that the proxy is revoked;

. signing and delivering a new proxy, relating to the same shares and bearing a later date; or

. attending the Special Meeting and voting, although attendance at the special meeting will not, by itself, revoke a proxy.

If you are a beneficial owner of our Common Stock as of the close of business on the record date, you must follow the instructions of your broker, bank
or other nominee to revoke or change your voting instructions.
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Q: What should I do if I receive more than one set of voting materials?

A: You may receive more than one set of voting materials, including multiple copies of this proxy statement and multiple proxy cards or voting
instruction cards. For example, if you hold your shares in more than one brokerage account, you will receive a separate voting instruction card for each
brokerage account in which you hold shares. If you are a holder of record and your shares are registered in more than one name, you will receive more
than one proxy card. Please complete, sign, date and return each proxy card and voting instruction card that you receive in order to cast your vote with
respect to all of your shares.

Q: What interests do our Initial Stockholders and our current officers and directors have in the Business Combination?

A: Our Initial Stockholders and certain members of our Board and officers have interests in the Business Combination that are different from or in
addition to (and which may conflict with) your interests. You should take these interests into account in deciding whether to approve the Business
Combination. These interests include but are not limited to:

the fact that our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders have agreed not to redeem any of the Private Placement Shares Founder Shares or the
Insider Shares in connection with a stockholder vote to approve the Business Combination;

the fact that our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders will retain 10,069,600 Founder Shares and Insider Shares upon the Closing;

the fact that our Initial Stockholders have agreed to waive their rights to liquidating distributions from the Trust Account with respect to
their Founder Shares if we fail to complete an initial business combination by the applicable deadline;

if the Trust Account is liquidated, including in the event we are unable to complete an initial business combination within the required time
period, our Sponsor has agreed to indemnify us to ensure that the proceeds in the Trust Account are not reduced below $10.00 per public
share, or such lesser per public share amount as is in the Trust Account on the liquidation date, by the claims of prospective target
businesses with which we have entered into an acquisition agreement or claims of any third party (other than our independent public
accountants) for services rendered or products sold to us, but only if such a vendor or target business has not executed a waiver of any and
all rights to seek access to the Trust Account;

the continued indemnification of our existing directors and officers and the continuation of our directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
after the Business Combination;

the fact that Dr. Avi Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu and Dorothy D. Hayes will continue as board members of the post-combination company and
each shall be entitled to receive compensation for serving on the board of directors of the post-combination company;

the fact that we engaged the underwriters of our IPO as advisors to assist us in holding meetings with our stockholders to discuss potential
business combination, introduce us to potential investors that are interested in purchasing our securities in connection with a potential
business combination, assist us in obtaining stockholder approval for the business combination and assist us with our press releases and
public filings in connection with a business combination. Pursuant to that agreement, we will pay the underwriters a cash fee for such
services upon the consummation of the Business Combination in an amount equal to, in the aggregate, 3.5% of the gross proceeds of the
IPO, including any proceeds from the exercise of the over-allotment option;

the fact that the Sponsor and the Insiders entered into the Investor Rights Agreement pursuant to which the original lock-up period to
which the Sponsor and the Insiders are subject was amended to provide for termination of the lock-up period six months after the
consummation of the Business Combination (other than with respect to the Private Placement Units for which the termination of the
lock-up period is 30 days after the consummation of the Business Combination); and
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. the fact that our Sponsor, officers and directors will lose their entire investment in us if an initial business combination is not consummated
by the applicable deadline. Prior to our IPO, our Sponsor purchased an aggregate of 7,460,000 Founder Shares (which following a 1.2:1
split in February 2021, resulted in 8,952,000 Founder Shares) for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000, or approximately $0.0033512
per share (as compared to the $10.00 per share price being used to determine the number of shares of Common Stock being issued to
Ultimate (as the sole member of BigBear) in the Business Combination. Additionally, the Initial Stockholders purchased from the
Company an aggregate of 1,099,600 Private Placement Units at a price of $10.00 per unit simultaneously with the consummation of our
IPO for an aggregate purchase price of $10,996,000, with the Sponsor purchasing 850,000 Private Placement Units for $8,500,000, and
Oppenheimer and Nomura purchasing 249,600 Private Placement Units. Certain of our directors and executive officers, including Dr. Avi
Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu and Dorothy D. Hayes, also have a direct or indirect economic interest in our securities. Drs. Katz and Dinu have an
indirect interest in the 9,802,000 Founder Shares (which include the Founder Shares included in the 850,000 Private Placement Units)
owned by the Sponsor, and Ms. Hayes owns 12,000 Insider Shares. The 8,952,000 Founder Shares acquired at our formation by the
Sponsor would have had an aggregate market value of $[ ] based upon the closing price of $[ ] per public share on Nasdaq on
[ ], 2021, the most recent practicable date prior to the date of this proxy statement. The 850,000 Private Placement Units held
by the Sponsor would have had an aggregate market value of $[ ] based upon the closing price of $[ 1 per public unit on
Nasdaq on [ 1, 2021, the most recent practicable date prior to the date of this proxy statement. The 18,000 shares owned by the
Insiders would have had an aggregate market value of $[ ] based upon the closing price of $[ ] per public share on Nasdaq on
[ 1, 2021, the most recent practicable date prior to the date of this proxy statement. Additionally, the Sponsor, officers and
directors do not currently have any unreimbursed out-of-pocket expenses in connection with the Business Combination.

These interests may influence our directors in making their recommendation that you vote in favor of the approval of the Business Combination. See the
sections entitled “Summary of the Proxy Statement—Interests of Certain Persons in the Business Combination” and “Information About the Company
Prior to the Business Combination—Conflicts of Interest” for a complete description of such interests.

Q: What happens if you vote against the Business Combination Proposal?

A: If you vote against the Business Combination Proposal but the Business Combination Proposal still obtains the affirmative vote of a majority of the
votes cast by holders of our Common Stock represented in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting, then the Business
Combination Proposal will be approved and, assuming the approval of the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal and the Charter Amendment Proposals and
the satisfaction or waiver of the other conditions to Closing, the Business Combination will be consummated in accordance with the terms of the Merger
Agreement.

If you vote against the Business Combination Proposal and the Business Combination Proposal does not obtain the affirmative vote of a majority of the
votes cast by holders of our of Common Stock represented in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting, then the Business
Combination Proposal will fail and we will not consummate the Business Combination. If we do not consummate the Business Combination, we may
continue to try to complete a business combination with a different target business until the applicable deadline. If we fail to complete an initial business
combination by the applicable deadline, then we will be required to dissolve and liquidate the Trust Account by returning the then-remaining funds in
such account to our public stockholders.

Q: Do you have Redemption Rights?

A: Pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, we are providing our public stockholders with the opportunity to redeem, upon the
Closing, shares of Common Stock for cash equal to the pro rata share of the aggregate amount on deposit (as of two business days prior to the Closing)
in the Trust Account that holds the
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proceeds of our IPO (including interest not previously released to the Company to pay franchise and income taxes), subject to certain limitations. For
illustrative purposes, based on the balance of the Trust Account of $358,814,163 as of August 5, 2021, the estimated per share redemption price would
have been approximately $10.00. Public stockholders may elect to redeem their shares even if they vote for the Business Combination. Any
request to redeem public shares, once made, may be withdrawn at any time until the deadline for exercising redemption requests and thereafter, with our
consent, until the Closing. If we receive valid redemption requests from holders of public shares prior to the redemption deadline, we may, at our sole
discretion, following the redemption deadline and until the date of Closing, seek and permit withdrawals by one or more of such holders of their
redemption requests. We may select which holders to seek such withdrawals of redemption requests from based on any factors we may deem relevant,
and the purpose of seeking such withdrawals may be to increase the funds held in the Trust Account, including where we otherwise would not satisfy the
closing condition to have Available Closing Acquiror Cash (as defined in the Merger Agreement) equal to at least $350,000,000, which amount shall be
net of any unpaid liabilities of the Company as of the Closing (other than any Acquiror Transaction Expenses, as defined in the Merger Agreement).

Our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders have agreed to waive their redemption rights with respect to such shares, which will be excluded from the pro
rata calculation used to determine the per-share redemption price. Each redemption of shares of Common Stock by our public stockholders will reduce
the amount in the Trust Account. The Merger Agreement provides that BigBear’s obligation to consummate the Business Combination is conditioned on
the Available Closing Acquiror Cash (as defined in the Merger Agreement) not being less than $350,000,000, which amount shall be net of any unpaid
liabilities of the Company as of the Closing (other than any Acquiror Transaction Expenses, as defined in the Merger Agreement). This condition to
closing in the Merger Agreement is for the sole benefit of BigBear and may be waived BigBear. If, as a result of redemptions of Common Stock by our
public stockholders, this condition is not met (or waived), then BigBear may elect not to consummate the Business Combination, as applicable. In
addition, in no event will we redeem shares of our Common Stock in an amount that would result in the Company’s failure to have net tangible assets
equaling or exceeding $5,000,001 (such that we are not subject to the SEC’s “penny stock” rules). Holders of our outstanding public warrants do not
have redemption rights in connection with the Business Combination. Unless otherwise specified, the information in the accompanying proxy statement
assumes that none of our public stockholders exercise their redemption rights with respect to their shares of Common Stock by the applicable deadline.

Q: If you are a Company public warrant holder, can you exercise Redemption Rights with respect to your public warrants?

A: No. The holders of our public warrants do not have Redemption Rights with respect to such public warrants.

Q: Can the Initial Stockholders redeem their Founder Shares in connection with consummation of the Business Combination?

A: No. Our Initial Stockholders, officers and directors have agreed to waive their redemption rights with respect to their shares of Common Stock in
connection with the consummation of the Business Combination. Our Initial Stockholders have also agreed to waive their right to a conversion price
adjustment with respect to any shares of our Common Stock they may hold in connection with the consummation of the Business Combination.

Q: Is there a limit on the number of shares you may redeem?

A: We have no specified maximum redemption threshold under our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Each redemption of shares
of Common Stock by our public stockholders will reduce the amount in the Trust Account. The Merger Agreement provides BigBear’s obligation to
consummate the Business Combination is conditioned on the Available Closing Acquiror Cash (as defined in the Merger Agreement) not being less than
$350,000,000, which amount shall be net of any unpaid liabilities of the Company as of the Closing (other than any Acquiror Transaction Expenses, as
defined in the Merger Agreement). This condition to
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closing in the Merger Agreement is for the sole benefit of BigBear and may be waived by BigBear. If, as a result of redemptions of Common Stock by
our public stockholders, this condition is not met (or waived), then BigBear may elect not to consummate the Business Combination. In addition, in no
event will we redeem shares of our Common Stock in an amount that would result in the Company’s failure to have net tangible assets equaling or
exceeding $5,000,001 (so that we are not subject to the SEC’s “penny stock” rules).

Q: Is there a limit on the total number of shares that may be redeemed?

A: Yes. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that we may not redeem our public shares in an amount that would result in the
Company’s failure to have net tangible assets in excess of $5,000,001 (such that we are not subject to the SEC’s “penny stock” rules) or any greater net
tangible asset or cash requirement which may be contained in the Merger Agreement. Other than this limitation, our current amended and restated
certificate of incorporation does not provide a specified maximum redemption threshold. In addition, the Merger Agreement provides that the obligation
of BigBear to consummate the Business Combination is conditioned on the Available Closing Acquiror Cash (as defined in the Merger Agreement) not
being less than $350,000,000, which amount shall be net of any unpaid liabilities of the Company as of the Closing (other than any Acquiror Transaction
Expenses, as defined in the Merger Agreement). In the event the aggregate cash consideration we would be required to pay for all shares of Common
Stock that are validly submitted for redemption plus any amount required to satisfy cash conditions pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement
exceed the aggregate amount of cash available to us, we may not complete the Business Combination or redeem any shares, all shares of Common Stock
submitted for redemption will be returned to the holders thereof, and we instead may search for an alternate business combination.

Based on the amount of approximately $358,814,163 in our Trust Account as of August 5, 2021, 20,880,000 shares of Common Stock may be redeemed
and still enable us to have sufficient cash to satisfy the cash closing conditions in the Merger Agreement. We refer to this as the maximum redemption
scenario.

Q: Will how you vote affect your ability to exercise Redemption Rights?

A: No. You may exercise your redemption rights whether you vote your shares of Common Stock for or against, or whether you abstain from voting on
the Business Combination Proposal or any other proposal described by this proxy statement. As a result, the Merger Agreement can be approved by
stockholders who will redeem their shares and no longer remain stockholders, leaving stockholders who choose not to redeem their shares holding
shares in a company with a potentially less-liquid trading market, fewer stockholders, potentially less cash and the potential inability to meet the listing
standards of Nasdaq.

Q: How do you exercise your Redemption Rights?

A: In order to exercise your redemption rights, you must (i)(a) hold public shares or (b) hold public shares through units and elect to separate your units
into the underlying public shares and public warrants prior to exercising your redemption rights with respect to the public shares; and (ii) prior to

5:00 p.m. Eastern Time (EDT) on[ ], 2021 (two business days before the Special Meeting) (a) submit a written request to the Transfer Agent that the
Company redeem your public shares for cash and (b) deliver your public shares to the Transfer Agent, physically or electronically through Depository
Trust Company (“DTC”). Any demand for redemption, once made, may be withdrawn at any time until the deadline for exercising redemption requests
and thereafter, with our consent, until the Closing. The Transfer Agent’s address is as follows:

Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company
1 State Street—30th Floor
New York, New York 10004
Attention: Mark Zimkind
Email: mzimkind@continentalstock.com
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You must also affirmatively certify in your request to Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company for redemption if you “ARE” or “ARE NOT’ acting
in concert or as a “group” (as defined in Section 13d-3 of the Exchange Act) with any other stockholder with respect to shares of Common Stock.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a holder of public shares, together with any affiliate of his or any other person with whom he is acting in concert or as a
“group” (as defined in Section 13d-3 of the Exchange Act) will be restricted from seeking Redemption Rights with respect to more than 15% of the
public shares, which we refer to as the “15% threshold.” Accordingly, all public shares in excess of the 15% threshold beneficially owned by a public
stockholder or “group” (as defined in Section 13d-3 of the Exchange Act) will not be redeemed for cash.

Stockholders seeking to exercise their Redemption Rights and opting to deliver physical certificates should allot sufficient time to obtain physical
certificates from the Transfer Agent and time to effect delivery. It is our understanding that stockholders should generally allot at least two weeks to
obtain physical certificates from the Transfer Agent. However, we do not have any control over this process and it may take longer than two weeks.
Stockholders who hold their shares in street name will have to coordinate with their bank, broker or other nominee to have the shares certificated or
delivered electronically.

Stockholders seeking to exercise their Redemption Rights, whether they are record holders or hold their shares in “street name”, are required to either
tender their certificates to our Transfer Agent prior to the date that is two business days prior to the Special Meeting, or to deliver their shares to the
Transfer Agent electronically using DTC Deposit/Withdrawal At Custodian (“DWAC”) system, at such stockholder’s option. The requirement for
physical or electronic delivery prior to the Special Meeting ensures that a redeeming stockholder’s election to redeem is irrevocable once the Business
Combination is approved.

There is a nominal cost associated with the above-referenced tendering process and the act of certificating the shares or delivering them through the
DWAC system. The Transfer Agent will typically charge a tendering broker a fee and it is in the broker’s discretion whether or not to pass this cost on to
the redeeming stockholder. However, this fee would be incurred regardless of whether or not we require stockholders seeking to exercise Redemption
Rights to tender their shares, as the need to deliver shares is a requirement to exercising Redemption Rights, regardless of the timing of when such
delivery must be effectuated.

Any demand for redemption, once made, may be withdrawn at any time until the deadline for exercising redemption requests (and submitting shares to
the Transfer Agent) and thereafter, with our consent, until the vote is taken with respect to the Business Combinations. If you delivered your shares for
redemption to our Transfer Agent and decide within the required timeframe not to exercise your Redemption Rights, you may request that our Transfer
Agent return the shares (physically or electronically). You may make such request by contacting our Transfer Agent at the address listed under the
question “Who can help answer my questions?” below.

Q: What are the U.S. federal income tax consequences of exercising your Redemption Rights?

A: The U.S. federal income tax consequences of the redemption depend on particular facts and circumstances. Please see the section entitled “Proposal
No. 1—Approval of the Business Combination—Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.” We urge you to consult your tax advisors regarding
the tax consequences of exercising your redemption rights.

Q: What happens to the funds held in the Trust Account upon consummation of the Business Combination?

A: The funds held in the Trust Account will be used to: (i) pay Company stockholders who properly exercise their redemption rights; and, provided that
there are funds remaining after this payment, (ii) pay certain other fees, costs and expenses (including regulatory fees, legal fees, accounting fees, printer
fees and other professional fees) that were incurred by the Company and other parties to the Merger Agreement in connection with the transactions
contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including the Business Combination, and pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement.
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Q: What happens if the Business Combination is not consummated?

A: There are certain circumstances under which the Merger Agreement may be terminated. Please see the section entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of
the Business Combination—Certain Agreements Related to the Business Combination—Merger Agreement” for information regarding the parties’
specific termination rights.

If we do not consummate the Business Combination, we may continue to try to complete a business combination with a different target business until
the applicable deadline. If we fail to complete an initial business combination by the applicable deadline, then we will: (i) cease all operations except for
the purpose of winding up; (ii) as promptly as reasonably possible but not more than ten business days thereafter, redeem our public shares, at a
per-share price, payable in cash, equal to the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account, including interest not previously released to the
Company to pay its franchise and income taxes (less up to $100,000 of interest to pay dissolution expenses), divided by the number of then outstanding
public shares, which redemption will completely extinguish our public stockholders’ rights as stockholders (including the right to receive further
liquidating distributions, if any), subject to applicable law; and (iii) as promptly as reasonably possible following such redemption, subject to the
approval of our remaining stockholders and our Board, dissolve and liquidate, subject in each case to our obligations under Delaware law to provide for
claims of creditors and the requirements of other applicable law. In the event of such distribution, it is possible that the per share value of the residual
assets remaining available for distribution (including Trust Account assets) will be less than the initial public offering price per unit in the IPO. Please
see the section entitled “Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Company and the Business Combination.”

Holders of our Founder Shares have waived any right to any liquidation distribution with respect to such shares and the underwriters of our IPO agreed
to waive their rights to the business combination marketing fee held in the Trust Account in the event we do not complete our initial business
combination within the required period. In addition, if we fail to complete a business combination by the applicable deadline, there will be no
redemption rights or liquidating distributions with respect to our outstanding warrants, which will expire worthless.

Q: When is the Business Combination expected to be completed?

A: The closing of the Business Combination is expected to take place on or prior to the third business day following the satisfaction or waiver of the
conditions described below in the subsection entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business Combination—Certain Agreements Related to the
Business Combination—Merger Agreement—Conditions to Closing of the Business Combination”. The Closing is expected to occur in the third quarter
of 2021. The Merger Agreement may be terminated by the Company or BigBear, as applicable, if the Closing has not occurred by February 3, 2022.

For a description of the conditions to the completion of the Business Combination, see the section entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business
Combination—Certain Agreements Related to the Business Combination—Merger Agreement—Conditions to Closing of the Business Combination”.

Q: What do you need to do now?

A: You are urged to read carefully and consider the information contained in this proxy statement, including the Annexes, and to consider how the
Business Combination will affect you as a stockholder. You should then vote as soon as possible in accordance with the instructions provided in this
proxy statement and on the enclosed proxy card or, if you hold your shares through a brokerage firm, bank or other nominee, on the voting instruction
form provided by the broker, bank or nominee.

Q: Who can vote at the special meeting?

A: Only holders of record of the Company’s Common Stock, including those shares held as a constituent part of our units, at the close of business on
[ 1,2021 are entitled to have their vote counted at the Special Meeting and
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any adjournments or postponements thereof. On this record date, 45,949,600 shares of Common Stock were outstanding and entitled to vote.

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If on the record date your shares or units were registered directly in your name with the
Company’s transfer agent, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, then you are a stockholder of record. As a stockholder of record, you may vote
in person at the Special Meeting or vote by proxy. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting in person, the Company urges you to fill out
and return the enclosed proxy card to ensure your vote is counted.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker or Bank. If on the record date your shares or units were held, not in your name, but rather
in an account at a brokerage firm, bank, dealer, or other similar organization, then you are the beneficial owner of shares held in “street name” and these
proxy materials are being forwarded to you by that organization. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker or other agent on how to
vote the shares in your account. You are also invited to attend the Special Meeting. However, since you are not the stockholder of record, you may not
vote your shares in person at the Special Meeting unless you request and obtain a valid proxy from your broker or other agent.

Q: Who will solicit and pay the cost of soliciting proxies for the Special Meeting?

A: We will pay the cost of soliciting proxies for the Special Meeting. We have engaged Morrow Sodali to assist in the solicitation of proxies for the
Special Meeting. We have agreed to pay Morrow Sodali a fee of $[ ], plus disbursements, and will reimburse Morrow Sodali for its reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses and indemnify Morrow Sodali and its affiliates against certain claims, liabilities, losses, damages and expenses. We will also
reimburse banks, brokers and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries representing beneficial owners of our Common Stock for their expenses in
forwarding soliciting materials to beneficial owners of our Common Stock and in obtaining voting instructions from those owners. Our directors,
officers and employees may also solicit proxies by telephone, by facsimile, by mail, on the Internet or in person. They will not be paid any additional
amounts for soliciting proxies.

Q: Who can help answer my questions?
A: If you have questions about the proposals or if you need additional copies of this proxy statement or the enclosed proxy card you should contact:

c/o GigCapital4, Inc.

1731 Embarcadero Road, Suite 200
Palo Alto, California 94303
Attention: Secretary
Telephone: (650) 276-7040

You may also contact our proxy solicitor at:

Morrow Sodali LLC
470 West Avenue
Stamford, Connecticut 06902
Individuals call toll-free: (800) 662-5200
Banks and brokers call: (203) 658-9400
Email: GIG.info@investor.morrowsodali.com

To obtain timely delivery, our stockholders must request the materials no later than five business days prior to the Special Meeting.

You may also obtain additional information about us from documents filed with the SEC by following the instructions in the section entitled “Where You
Can Find More Information.”

25



Table of Contents

If you intend to seek redemption of your public shares, you will need to send a letter demanding redemption and deliver your stock (either physically or
electronically) to our Transfer Agent prior to the Special Meeting in accordance with the procedures detailed under the question “How do I exercise my
Redemption Rights?” If you have questions regarding the certification of your position or delivery of your stock, please contact our Transfer Agent:

Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company
1 State Street-30th Floor
New York, New York 10004
Attention: Mark Zimkind
Email: mzimkind@continentalstock.com
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SUMMARY OF THE PROXY STATEMENT

This summary highlights selected information contained in this proxy statement and does not contain all of the information that may be important
to you. You should carefully read this entire proxy statement, including the Annexes and accompanying financial statements of the Company and
BigBear to fully understand the proposed Business Combination (as described below) before voting on the proposals to be considered at the
Special Meeting (as described below). Please see the section entitled “Where You Can Find More Information” beginning on page 323 of this
proxy statement.

Unless otherwise specified, all share calculations assume: (i) no exercise of redemption rights by the Company’s public stockholders; and (ii) no
inclusion of any shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Company’s warrants or any shares to be issued pursuant to the 2021
Plan or the 2021 ESPP at or following the Closing.

Parties to the Business Combination
The Company

The Company is a Private-to-Public Equity (PPE) company, also known as a blank check company or a special purpose acquisition company,
incorporated on December 4, 2020, as a Delaware corporation and formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset
acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or similar business combination with one or more businesses.

The public units began trading on Nasdaq under the symbol “GIGGU” on February 9, 2021. On March 26, 2021, the Company announced that the
holders of the Company’s units may elect to separately trade the securities underlying such units. On April 1, 2021, the shares and warrants began
trading on Nasdaq under the symbols “GIG” and “GIGGW?, respectively. We intend to apply to continue the listing of our publicly-traded
Common Stock and warrants on Nasdaq under the symbols “BBAI” and “BBAIW” respectively, upon the Closing.

The mailing address of the Company’s principal executive office is c/o GigCapital4, Inc., 1731 Embarcadero Road, Suite 200, Palo Alto, California
94303.

Merger Sub

Merger Sub, a Delaware corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, formed by the Company in June 2021, to consummate the
Business Combination. In the Business Combination, Merger Sub will merge with and into BigBear, with BigBear continuing as the surviving
company after the First Merger.

The mailing address of Merger Sub’s principal executive office is 1731 Embarcadero Road, Suite 200, Palo Alto, California 94303.

BigBear

BigBear is a leader in data-driven decision dominance and advanced analytics that provides its customers with a competitive advantage in a world
driven by data that is growing exponentially in terms of volume, variety, and velocity.

For more information about BigBear, please see the sections entitled “Information About New BigBear,” “BigBear’s Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Management After the Business Combination.”
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Organizational Structure

The diagrams set forth below illustrate in a simplified manner the ownership structure of each of the New BigBear operating subsidiaries as they
would be immediately following the completion of the Business Combination Proposal described in this proxy statement. Each “arrow” line in the
diagrams represents a parent-subsidiary relationship with the line beginning at the parent and pointing in the direction of its subsidiary.

Following the completion of the Business Combination, BigBear.ai Holdings, Inc. will directly or indirectly own the entities in the diagram below,
which also includes their respective ownership percentages and domicile jurisdictions:

. BigBear.ai Intermediate Holdings, LLC

. BigBear.ai, LLC

. NuWave Solutions, L.L.C.

. PCI Strategic Management, LLC

. ProModel Government Solutions, Inc.

. Open Solutions Group, LLC

Amahyiics, L.L.C.

{Maryland)
TTe—
Profade] Government (ﬂ;}:.‘ml.l:il-h Cirnup:
Solutins, Ine LLT

(Utahj (Wirginiah

*100% ownership, except where noted otherwise.

Emerging Growth Company

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined under the JOBS Act. As an emerging growth company, the Company is eligible to
take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements
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that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These include, but are not limited to, not being required to
comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding
executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote
on executive compensation and the requirement to obtain stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period provided
in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards.

The Company will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (i) December 31, 2026 (the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth
anniversary of the consummation of the Company’s initial public offering), (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which the Company has total annual
gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion, (iii) the last day of the fiscal year in which the Company is deemed to be a “large accelerated filer,” as
defined in the Exchange Act, and (iv) the date on which the Company has issued more than $1.0 billion in nonconvertible debt during the prior
three-year period.

The Business Combination Proposal

On June 4, 2021, the Company and Merger Sub entered into the Merger Agreement (as it may be further amended from time to time) with BigBear
and Ultimate. If the Merger Agreement is adopted by Ultimate (as the sole equity holder of BigBear) and the Merger Agreement is approved by
Company stockholders at the Special Meeting, (i) Merger Sub will merge with and into BigBear, with BigBear surviving the First Merger, and

(ii) immediately after the First Merger, BigBear (as the surviving company of the First Merger) will merge with and into the Company, with the
Company surviving the Second Merger. For more information about the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, please see the section
entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business Combination.” A copy of the Merger Agreement is attached to this proxy statement as Annex A.

BigBear Business Combination Consideration to the Sole BigBear Equity Holder

Subject to the terms of the Merger Agreement, at the First Effective Time, all units of limited liability company interest of BigBear issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the First Effective Time will convert into the right to receive the merger consideration, which amount shall not
exceed 123,710,000 shares of Company Common Stock and $75,000,000 in cash in the aggregate.

Related Agreements

This section describes the material provisions of the agreements related to the Merger Agreement, but does not purport to describe all of the terms
thereof. The following summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of each such agreement discussed below. The
Convertible Note Subscription Agreement is attached hereto as Annex G. Stockholders and other interested parties are urged to read each such
agreement described below in its entirety prior to voting on the proposals presented at the Special Meeting.

Convertible Note Subscription Agreements

On June 4, 2021, the Company entered into the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements with the Convertible Note Investors, pursuant to which,
among other things, the Company agreed to issue and sell to the Convertible Note Investors, in private placements to close immediately prior to
Closing, the Convertible Notes for an aggregate purchase price of $200,000,000. The Convertible Notes are convertible into 17,391,304 shares of
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Common Stock at an initial conversion price of $11.50 (subject to adjustment). The obligations to consummate the Convertible Note Investment
are conditioned upon, among other things, customary closing conditions and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement. The Convertible Note Investment will be consummated substantially concurrently with the Closing.

For more information about the Convertible Note Subscription Agreements, see the section entitled “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business
Combination—Certain Agreements Related to the Business Combination—Convertible Note Subscription Agreements and Indenture”.

Equity Plans

Our Board approved each of the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP on August 6, 2021, subject to stockholder approval of such plans at the Special
Meeting. The purpose of each of the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP is to promote our long-term success of New BigBear and the creation of
stockholder value by encouraging service providers to focus on critical long-range corporate objectives, encouraging the attraction and retention of
service providers with exceptional qualifications and linking service providers directly to stockholder interests through increased stock ownership.
These incentives are provided through the grant of stock options, including incentive stock options, and nonqualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, and restricted stock units. For more information about the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP, please see the section
entitled “Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal.”

Board of New BigBear following the Business Combination

Upon the Closing Date, we anticipate that the New BigBear Board will consist of 11 members, reclassified into three separate classes, with each
class serving a three-year term; except with respect to the election of directors at the Special Meeting pursuant to Proposal No. 6—The Election of
Directors Proposal, the Class I directors will be elected to an initial one-year term (and three-year terms subsequently), the Class II directors will
be elected to an initial two-year term (and three-year terms subsequently) and the Class III directors will be elected to an initial three-year term
(and three-year terms subsequently).

Upon the Closing Date, we expect that the New BigBear Board will be comprised of Dr. Avi Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu, Dorothy D. Hayes, Raanan 1.
Horowitz, Dr. Reginald Brothers, Sean Battle and [ ].

Our Board has nominated the following individuals for election at our special meeting pursuant to Proposal No. 6—The Election of Directors
Proposal:

. Class I Directors: [ 1;

. Class II Directors: [ ]; and

. Class III Directors: [ 1.

For additional details, see the sections of this proxy statement entitled “Proposal No. 6—The Election of Directors Proposal” and “Management
After the Business Combination.”

Redemption Rights

Pursuant to our current amended and restated certificate of incorporation, holders of public shares may elect to have their shares redeemed for cash
at the applicable redemption price per share equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the aggregate amount on deposit in the Trust Account as
of two business days prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, including interest not previously released to the Company to pay its
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franchise and income taxes, by (ii) the total number of then-outstanding public shares; provided that the Company will not redeem any shares of
Common Stock issued in the IPO to the extent that such redemption would result in the Company’s failure to have net tangible assets (as
determined in accordance with Rule 3a51-1(g)(1) of the Exchange Act) in excess of $5,000,001. As of August 5, 2021, the estimated per share
redemption price would have been approximately $10.00.

If a holder exercises its redemption rights, then such holder will be exchanging its shares of our Common Stock for cash and will no longer own
shares of the post-combination company. Such a holder will be entitled to receive cash for its public shares only if it properly demands redemption
and delivers its shares (either physically or electronically) to our Transfer Agent in accordance with the procedures described herein. Please see the
section entitled “Special Meeting of Company Stockholders—Redemption Rights” for the procedures to be followed if you wish to redeem your
shares for cash. Any request for redemption may be withdrawn until the deadline for submitting redemption requests and thereafter, with our
consent, until the Closing.

Impact of the Business Combination on the Company’s Public Float

It is anticipated that, upon completion of the Business Combination, assuming no redemptions: (i) the Company’s public stockholders will retain an
ownership interest of approximately 21% in the post-combination company (not including shares beneficially owned by our Sponsor); (ii) our
Initial Stockholders (including our Sponsor) will own approximately 6% of the post-combination company; and (iii) the former sole BigBear equity
holder will own approximately 73% of the post-combination company. The ownership percentage with respect to the post-combination company
following the Business Combination does not take into account (x) warrants to purchase Common Stock that will remain outstanding immediately
following the Business Combination and (y) the issuance of any shares upon completion of the Business Combination under the 2021 Plan and the
2021 ESPP, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Annex H and Annex I, respectively. If the actual facts are different than these
assumptions, the percentage ownership retained by the Company’s existing stockholders in the post-combination company will be different. For
more information, please see the sections entitled “Summary of the Proxy Statement—Impact of the Business Combination on the Company’s Public
Float,” “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information,” and “Proposal No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal.”

The following table illustrates varying ownership levels in the Company, assuming no redemptions by the Company’s public stockholders and the
maximum redemptions by the Company’s stockholders:

20,880,000 shares of
No Redemptions Common Stock redeemed
The Company’s public stockholders 21% 10%
Initial Stockholders 6% 7%
The former BigBear equity holder 73% 83%
Total 100% 100%

Please see “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information” on page 114.

The Charter Amendment Proposals
Upon the Closing, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will be amended promptly to reflect the Charter Amendment Proposals to:

. provide for the classification of our board of directors into three classes of directors with staggered terms of office and to make certain
related changes (Proposal No. 3); and
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. provide for certain additional changes, including but not limited to, changing the post-combination company’s corporate name from
“GigCapital4, Inc.” to “BigBear.ai Holdings, Inc.” and eliminating certain provisions specific to our status as a blank check company,
which our Board believes are necessary to adequately address the needs of the post-combination company (Proposal No. 4).

Please see the sections entitled “Proposal No. 3—Classification of the Board of Directors Proposal,” and “Proposal No. 4—Approval of
Additional Amendments to Current Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in Connection with the Business Combination Proposal”.

Other Proposals
In addition, the stockholders of the Company will be asked to vote on:

. a proposal to approve, for purposes of complying with applicable Nasdaq Rules, the issuance of more than 20% of the Company’s
issued and outstanding Common Stock pursuant to the Business Combination (Proposal No. 2);

. a proposal to approve and adopt the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Annex H and
Annex I, respectively, including the authorization of the initial share reserves under the 2021 Plan and the 2021 ESPP (Proposal
No. 5);

. a proposal to elect the directors comprising the board of directors of New BigBear following the closing of the Business Combination
(Proposal No. 6); and

. a proposal to adjourn the Special Meeting to a later date or dates, if necessary, to permit further solicitation and vote of proxies if there
are insufficient votes for, or otherwise in connection with, the approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock
Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal or the Election of Directors Proposal (Proposal
No. 7).

Please see the section entitled “Proposal No. 2—The Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal,” “Proposal No. 4—Approval of Certain Governance
Provisions in the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in Connection with the Business Combination Proposal,” “Proposal
No. 5—The Equity Plans Proposal,” “Proposal No. 6—Election of Directors Proposal” and “Proposal No. 7—The Adjournment Proposal” for
more information.

Date, Time and Place of Special Meeting

The Special Meeting will be held on [ 1, 2021 at [10:00 a.m., PDT] at[ ], or at such other date, time and place to which such meeting may be
adjourned or postponed, to consider and vote upon the proposals. The Special Meeting will be conducted exclusively via live webcast and so
stockholders will not be able to attend the meeting in person. Stockholders may attend the special meeting online and vote at the Special Meeting
by visiting [ ] and entering your 16-digit control number, which is either included on the proxy card you received or obtained through Broadridge
Financial Solutions.

Registering for the Special Meeting

Any stockholder wishing to attend the virtual meeting should register for the meeting by [ 1, 2021 at[ ]. To register for the Special Meeting,
please follow these instructions as applicable to the nature of your ownership of our Common Stock:

. To vote using the proxy card, simply complete, sign, date and return the proxy card pursuant to the instructions on the card. If you
return your signed proxy card before the Annual Meeting, we will vote your shares as directed.
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. To vote over the telephone, dial toll-free [1-800-690-6903] using a touch-tone phone and follow the recorded instructions. You will be
asked to provide the company number and control number from the Notice. Your telephone vote must be received by 11:59 p.m.
Eastern Time (EDT) on[ ] to be counted.

. To vote through the Internet before the meeting, go to [www.cstproxyvote.com] and follow the on-screen instructions. Your Internet
vote must be received by 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time on [ ], 2021 to be counted.

. To vote through the Internet during the meeting, please visit [ ] and have available the 16-digit control number included in your
Notice, on your proxy card or on the instructions that accompanied your proxy materials.

Voting Power and Record Date

Only Company stockholders of record at the close of business on [ ], 2021, the record date for the Special Meeting, will be entitled to vote at the
Special Meeting. You are entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock that you owned as of the close of business on the record date. If
your shares are held in “street name” or are in a margin or similar account, you should contact your broker, bank or other nominee to ensure that
votes related to the shares you beneficially own are properly counted. On the record date, there were 45,949,600 shares of Common Stock
outstanding and entitled to vote, of which 35,880,000 are public shares, 10,051,600 are Founder Shares held by our Initial Stockholders and 18,000
are Insider Shares held by the Insiders.

Accounting Treatment

The Business Combination will be accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with GAAP. Under this method of accounting, the
Company will be treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business
Combination will be treated as the equivalent of BigBear issuing stock for the net assets of the Company, accompanied by a recapitalization
whereby no goodwill or other intangible assets are recorded.

Proxy Solicitation

Proxies may be solicited by mail. The Company has engaged Morrow Sodali to assist in the solicitation of proxies.

If a stockholder grants a proxy, it may still vote its shares in person if it revokes its proxy before the Special Meeting. A stockholder may also
change its vote by submitting a later-dated proxy, as described in the section entitled “Special Meeting of Company Stockholders—Revoking Your
Proxy.”

Interests of Certain Persons in the Business Combination

In considering the recommendation of our Board to vote in favor of the Business Combination, stockholders should be aware that aside from their
interests as stockholders, our Sponsor and certain members of our Board and officers have interests in the Business Combination that are different
from, or in addition to, those of other stockholders generally. Our Board was aware of and considered these interests, among other matters, in
evaluating and negotiating the Business Combination, and in recommending to stockholders that they approve the Business Combination.
Stockholders should take these interests into account in deciding whether to approve the Business Combination.
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These interests include, among other things:

the fact that our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders have agreed not to redeem any of the Private Placement Shares Founder Shares
or the Insider Shares in connection with a stockholder vote to approve the Business Combination;

the fact that our Initial Stockholders and the Insiders will retain 10,069,600 Founder Shares and Insider Shares upon the Closing;

the fact that our Initial Stockholders have agreed to waive their rights to liquidating distributions from the Trust Account with respect
to their Founder Shares if we fail to complete an initial business combination by the applicable deadline;

if the Trust Account is liquidated, including in the event we are unable to complete an initial business combination within the required
time period, our Sponsor has agreed to indemnify us to ensure that the proceeds in the Trust Account are not reduced below $10.00
per public share, or such lesser per public share amount as is in the Trust Account on the liquidation date, by the claims of prospective
target businesses with which we have entered into an acquisition agreement or claims of any third party (other than our independent
public accountants) for services rendered or products sold to us, but only if such a vendor or target business has not executed a waiver
of any and all rights to seek access to the Trust Account;

the continued indemnification of our existing directors and officers and the continuation of our directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance after the Business Combination;

the fact that Dr. Avi Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu and Dorothy D. Hayes will continue as board members of the post-combination company
and each shall be entitled to receive compensation for serving on the board of directors of the post-combination company;

the fact that we engaged the underwriters of our IPO as advisors to assist us in holding meetings with our stockholders to discuss
potential business combination, introduce us to potential investors that are interested in purchasing our securities in connection with a
potential business combination, assist us in obtaining stockholder approval for the business combination and assist us with our press
releases and public filings in connection with a business combination. Pursuant to that agreement, we will pay the underwriters a cash
fee for such services upon the consummation of the Business Combination in an amount equal to, in the aggregate, 3.5% of the gross
proceeds of the IPO, including any proceeds from the exercise of the over-allotment option;

the fact that the Sponsor and the Insiders entered into the Investor Rights Agreement pursuant to which the original lock-up period to
which the Sponsor and the Insiders are subject was amended to provide for termination of the lock-up period six months after the
consummation of the Business Combination (other than with respect to the Private Placement Units for which the termination of the
lock-up period is 30 days after the consummation of the Business Combination); and

the fact that our Sponsor, officers and directors will lose their entire investment in us if an initial business combination is not
consummated by the applicable deadline. Prior to our IPO, our Sponsor purchased an aggregate of 7,460,000 Founder Shares (which
following a 1.2:1 split in February 2021, resulted in 8,952,000 Founder Shares) for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000, or
approximately $0.0033512 per share (as compared to the $10.00 per share price being used to determine the number of shares of
Common Stock being issued to Ultimate (as the sole member of BigBear) in the Business Combination. Additionally, the Initial
Stockholders purchased from the Company an aggregate of 1,099,600 Private Placement Units at a price of $10.00 per unit
simultaneously with the consummation of our IPO for an aggregate purchase price of $10,996,000, with the Sponsor purchasing
850,000 Private Placement Units for $8,500,000, and Oppenheimer and Nomura purchasing 249,600 Private
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Placement Units. Certain of our directors and executive officers, including Dr. Avi Katz, Dr. Raluca Dinu and Dorothy D. Hayes, also
have a direct or indirect economic interest in our securities. Drs. Katz and Dinu have an indirect interest in the 9,802,000 Founder
Shares (which include the Founder Shares included in the 850,000 Private Placement Units) owned by the Sponsor, and Ms. Hayes
owns 12,000 Insider Shares. The 8,952,000 Founder Shares acquired at our formation by the Sponsor would have had an aggregate
market value of $[ ] based upon the closing price of $[ ] per public share on Nasdaq on [ ], 2021, the most recent practicable date
prior to the date of this proxy statement. The 850,000 Private Placement Units held by the Sponsor would have had an aggregate
market value of $[ ] based upon the closing price of $[ ] per public unit on Nasdaq on [ ], 2021, the most recent practicable date
prior to the date of this proxy statement. The 18,000 shares owned by the Insiders would have had an aggregate market value of $[ ]
based upon the closing price of ${ ] per public share on Nasdaq on [ ], 2021, the most recent practicable date prior to the date of
this proxy statement. Additionally, the Sponsor, officers and directors do not currently have any unreimbursed out-of-pocket expenses
in connection with the Business Combination.

Reasons for the Approval of the Business Combination

In approving the Merger Agreement and the Business Combination and recommending that the Company’s stockholders approve the Merger
Agreement and the Business Combination, the Board considered the following positive factors, although not weighted or in any order of
significance:

Consideration of the following general criteria and guidelines that we stated in the prospectus for our IPO that we believe would be
important in evaluating prospective target businesses, although we indicated that we may enter into a business combination with a
target business that does not meet these criteria and guidelines:

» Target technology, media, and telecommunications (TMT) and sustainable companies that are embracing today’s digital
transformation and experience as a competitive advantage.

*  Focus on companies positioned to benefit from a public listing and greater access to capital.
* Businesses with a catalyst for significantly improved financial performance.

*  Market-leading participant with an established business and market position.

*  Mid-sized businesses.

+  Prioritize entities with a well-performing management team and exceptional leadership talent that wishes to continue to drive the
company to growth, and is coachable and eager to extend their knowledge and savvy through an interactive, hands-on and
supportive board of directors.

The following additional factors:
» Large Addressable Market.
*  Growth Prospects.
+  Experienced and Proven Management Team.
*  Lock-Up.
* Due Diligence.
*  Other Alternatives.

* Negotiated Transaction.
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The criteria and situations described above were not intended to be exhaustive and we indicated our evaluation of any particular initial business
combination might reflect other considerations, factors and criteria deemed relevant by our management in effecting the relevant transaction,
consistent with our business objective and strategy.

For more information about our decision-making process, please see the section entitled “Summary of the Proxy Statement—Reasons for the
Approval of the Business Combination”.

Conditions to Closing of the Business Combination
Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations

The respective obligations of the Company, BigBear and Ultimate to complete the Business Combination are subject to the satisfaction of the
following conditions:

. the applicable waiting period(s) under the HSR Act in respect of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (and any
extension thereof, or any timing agreements, understandings or commitments obtained by request or other action of the U.S. Federal
Trade Commission or the U.S. Department of Justice, as applicable) must have expired or been terminated;

. there must not be in effect any law enjoining or prohibiting the consummation of, or having the effect of making illegal, the
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement;

. the approval by the Company stockholders of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter
Amendment Proposals, the Equity Plans Proposal and the Election of Directors Proposal shall have been duly obtained in accordance
with the DGCL, the Company’s organizational documents and the rules and regulations of Nasdaq; and

. the Company shall have at least $5,000,001 of net tangible assets following the exercise of redemption rights in accordance with the
Company’s organizational documents.

Conditions to the Company’s and Merger Sub’s Obligations pursuant to the Merger Agreement

The obligation of the Company and Merger Sub to complete the Business Combination is also subject to the satisfaction, or waiver by the
Company, of the following conditions:

. the accuracy of the representations and warranties of BigBear and Ultimate as of the Closing Date, subject to certain materiality and
material adverse effect thresholds, as more fully described in “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business Combination—Certain
Agreements Related to the Business Combination—Merger Agreement—Conditions to Closing of the Business Combination” on page
144;

. each of the covenants of each of BigBear and Ultimate in the Merger Agreement to be performed as of or prior to the Closing must
have been performed in all material respects;

. no material adverse effect on BigBear or Ultimate, as applicable, shall have occurred since the date of the Merger Agreement and be
continuing; and

. each of BigBear and Ultimate must have delivered a certificate dated as of the Closing Date and signed by an officer of such company
certifying that, to the knowledge and belief of such officer, the three preceding conditions applicable to such company have been
fulfilled;
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Conditions to BigBear’s and Ultimate’s Obligations Pursuant to the Merger Agreement

The obligation of each of BigBear and Ultimate to complete the Business Combination is also subject to the satisfaction, or waiver by BigBear, of
the following conditions:

. the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Company and the Merger Sub as of the Closing Date, subject to certain
materiality and material adverse effect thresholds, as more fully described in “Proposal No. 1—Approval of the Business Combination
—Certain Agreements Related to the Business Combination—Merger Agreement—Conditions to Closing of the Business
Combination” on page 144;

. each of the covenants of the Company and the Merger Sub in the Merger Agreement, and the Sponsor in the Sponsor Agreement (as
defined in the Merger Agreement), in each case, to be performed as of or prior to the Closing must have been performed in all material
respects;

. no material adverse effect shall have occurred since the date of the Merger Agreement and be continuing;

. the Company must have delivered a certificate signed by an officer of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that, to
the knowledge and belief of such officer, the three preceding conditions have been fulfilled;

. the Company shall have an aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents available from any sources of not less than $350,000,000,
which amount shall be net of any unpaid liabilities of the Company as of the Closing (other than any Acquiror Transaction Expenses,
as defined in the Merger Agreement); and

. the Company’s listing application with Nasdaq in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement shall have
been approved, and the Company’s Common Stock, including the shares constituting the Equity Merger Consideration shall have been
approved for listing on Nasdag;

Regulatory Matters

Under the HSR Act and the rules that have been promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), certain transactions may
not be consummated unless information has been furnished to the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice (“Antitrust Division™) and the
FTC and certain waiting period requirements have been satisfied. The Business Combination is subject to these requirements and may not be
completed until the expiration of a 30-day waiting period following the filing of the required Notification and Report Forms with the Antitrust
Division and the FTC or until early termination is granted. On June 21, 2021, the Company and BigBear filed the required forms under the HSR
Act with the Antitrust Division and the FTC. The latest of the 30-day waiting period with respect to the Business Combination expired at 11:59
p.m. Eastern time on July 21, 2021.

At any time before or after consummation of the Business Combination, notwithstanding any termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act,
the applicable competition authorities could take such action under applicable antitrust laws as each deems necessary or desirable in the public
interest, including seeking to enjoin the consummation of the Business Combination. Private parties may also seek to take legal action under the
antitrust laws under certain circumstances. We cannot assure you that the Antitrust Division, the FTC, any state attorney general, or any other
government authority will not attempt to challenge the Business Combination on antitrust grounds, and, if such a challenge is made, we cannot
assure you as to its result. Neither the Company nor BigBear is aware of any material regulatory approvals or actions that are required for
completion of the Business Combination other than the expiration or early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act. It is presently
contemplated that if any such additional regulatory approvals or actions are required, those approvals or actions will be sought. There can be no
assurance, however, that any additional approvals or actions will be obtained.
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Quorum and Required Vote for Proposals for the Special Meeting

A quorum of Company stockholders is necessary to hold a valid meeting. A quorum will be present at the Special Meeting if a majority of the
Company’s Common Stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting is represented in person or by proxy. Abstentions will count as
present for the purposes of establishing a quorum.

The approval of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Stock Plans Proposal, the Election of Directors
Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by holders of our Common Stock represented in
person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Special Meeting. The approval of the Charter Amendment Proposals requires the affirmative vote of
holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of Common Stock entitled to vote thereon at the Special Meeting.

A failure to vote or an abstention will have no effect on the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Equity Plans
Proposal, the Election of Directors Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal. However, an abstention or failure to vote will have the same effect as a
vote “AGAINST” the Charter Amendment Proposals.

The proposals in this proxy statement (other than the Adjournment Proposal) are conditioned on the approval of the Business Combination
Proposal and the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal.

It is important for you to note that in the event that the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal or the Charter
Amendment Proposals do not receive the requisite vote for approval, we will not consummate the Business Combination. If we do not consummate
the Business Combination and fail to complete an initial business combination by the applicable deadline, we will be required to dissolve and
liquidate our Trust Account by returning the then remaining funds in such account to our public stockholders.

Recommendation to Company Stockholders

Our Board believes that each of the Business Combination Proposal, the Nasdaq Stock Issuance Proposal, the Charter Amendment Proposals, the
Incentive Plan Proposal, the Election of Directors Proposal and the Adjournment Proposal to be presented at the Special Meeting is in the best
interests of the Company and our stockholders and recommends that its stockholders vote “FOR” each of the proposals.

When you consider the recommendation of our Board in favor of approval of the Business Combination Proposal, you should keep in mind that our
Sponsor and certain members of our Board and officers have interests in the Business Combination that are different from or in addition to (or
which may conflict with) your interests as a stockholder. Stockholders should take these interests into account in deciding whether to approve the
proposals presented at the Special Meeting, including the Business Combination Proposal. Please see “Special Meeting of Company Stockholders—
Recommendation to Company Stockholders.”

Risk Factors

In evaluating the Business Combination and the proposals to be considered and voted on at the Special Meeting, you should carefully review and
consider the risk factors set forth under the section entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 45 of this proxy statement. The occurrence of one or
more of the events or circumstances described in that section, alone or in combination with other events or circumstances, may have a material
adverse effect on (i) the ability of the Company or BigBear to complete the Business Combination, and (ii) the business, cash flows, financial
condition and results of operations of BigBear prior to the consummation of the Business Combination and the post-combination company
following consummation of the Business Combination.
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SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

The information presented below is derived from the Company’s unaudited interim financial statements and audited financial statements
included elsewhere in this proxy statement for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 and the balance
sheet data as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

The Company’s historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other period in the future. You
should read the summary historical financial data set forth below together with the Company’s financial statements and the accompanying notes
included elsewhere in this proxy statement, the information in the sections entitled “The Company’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and “Information About the Company Prior to the Business Combination” and other financial
information contained elsewhere in this proxy statement.

The Company is providing the following summary historical consolidated financial information to assist you in your analysis of the financial
aspects of the Business Combination.

As of As of
March 31, December 31,
($ in thousand) 2021 2020
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital $ 2,550 $ (240)
Cash $ 2,173 $ 150
Cash and marketable securities held in Trust Account $358,802 $ —
Total assets $361,791 $ 381
Total liabilities $ 13,204 $ 390
Common stock subject to possible redemption $343,587 $ i
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 5,000 $ (©)]
Period from
December 4,
2020 (Date of
Inception)
For the three through
months ended December 31,
($ in thousands, except share and per share amounts) March 31, 2021 2020
Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue $ — $ —
Operating expenses $ 595 $ 34
Other expense $ 22 $ —
Interest income $ 5 $ —
Net income (loss) $ (614) $ (34)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (616) $ (34)
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.06) $ (0.01)
Weighted-average shares outstanding excluding shares subject to possible redemption—basic and
diluted 10,375,485 2,501,357
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elsewhere in this proxy statement.

Balance sheet data:

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

Total liabilities

Total equity

Statement of operations data:

Revenues

Gross Margin

Operating (loss) income

Net (loss) income

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and
diluted

Basic and diluted net loss per common share

Successor

March 31, 2021

As of

As of

December 31, 2020

SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF BIGBEAR.AI HOLDINGS, LLC
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Predecessor
As of

December 31, 2019

The information presented below is derived from BigBear.ai Holdings, LLC’s (“BigBear”) unaudited condensed interim financial statements and
audited financial statements included elsewhere in this proxy statement for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 and the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 and the balance sheet data as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 and 2019.

BigBear’s historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other period in the future. The information
below is only a summary and should be read in conjunction with the sections entitled “BigBear’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in our financial statements, and the notes and schedules related thereto, which are included

$ 9,928 $ 9,704 1,644
218,221 218,365 15,948
120,236 117,968 4,273
97,985 100,397 11,675
Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor
Period
Period from
Three Three from January 1,
months months May 22, 2020
ended ended 2020 through through Year ended Year ended
March 31, March 31, December 31, October 22, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2020 2020 2019 2018
$ 35,570 $ 18,407 $ 31,552 $ 59,765 $ 73,626 $ 49,439
10,280 4,093 8,675 13,010 17,496 11,737
(762) 1,235 (9,855) 5,293 6,382 3,917
(2,437) 1,180 (7,838) 5,289 6,246 3,863
100 100
$ (29 $ (78)
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Statement of cash flow data:

Net cash (used in) provided by operating
activities

Net cash (used in) provided by investing
activities

Net cash (used in) provided by financing
activities

Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor
Period Period
from from
Three Three May 22, January 1,
months months 2020 2020
ended ended through through Year ended Year ended
March 31, March 31, December 31, October 22, December 31, December 31,
2021 2020 2020 2020 2019 2018
$ 893 $ 5371 $ (7.416) $ 8614 $ 4121 $ 1,884
(394) (28) (184,869) (121) (18) (60)
(275) (200) 201,989 (9,773) (2,839) (2,593)
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SUMMARY UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(in thousands except share and per share amounts)

The following summary unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information (the “summary pro forma data”) gives effect to the
acquisition by BigBear.ai, LLC (“BigBear.ai”) of (i) NuWave Solutions, LLC (“NuWave”) on June 19, 2020 (the “NuWave Acquisition”) and
(ii) the Government Services division of ProModel Government Solutions, Inc. (“ProModel”’) on December 21, 2020 (the “ProModel
Acquisition”). The summary pro forma data additionally gives effect to (iii) the acquisition by PCISM Ultimate Holdings, LLC (“PCISM Ultimate
Holdings”) of PCI Strategic Management, LL.C (“PCI”) on October 23, 2020 (the “PCI Acquisition”), (iv) the acquisition by NuWave of Open
Solutions Group, LLC (“Open Solutions”) on December 2, 2020 (the “Open Solutions Acquisition”), and (v) the Business Combination, in each
case as described under “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information.” The Business Combination is accounted for as a
reverse recapitalization, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded, in accordance with GAAP. Under this method of accounting,
GigCapital4 is treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business
Combination is treated as the equivalent of BigBear issuing stock for the net assets of GigCapital4, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net
assets of GigCapital4 are stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Business
Combination are those of BigBear.

The summary unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet data as of March 31, 2021 gives effect to the Business Combination as if it
had occurred on March 31, 2021. The summary unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations data for the year ended
December 31, 2020 gives effect to the NuWave Acquisition, the PCI Acquisition, the Open Solutions Acquisition, the ProModel Acquisition, and
the Business Combination, in each case, as if they had occurred on January 1, 2020. The summary unaudited pro forma condensed combined
statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 gives effect to the Business Combination as it had occurred on January 1, 2020.

The summary pro forma data have been derived from, and should be read in conjunction with, the more detailed unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information (the “summary pro forma financial information”) appearing elsewhere in this proxy statement and the
accompanying notes to the summary pro forma financial information. In addition, the summary pro forma financial information is based on, and
should be read in conjunction with, the historical consolidated financial statements and related notes of the entities for the applicable periods
included in this proxy statement. The summary unaudited pro forma data are not necessarily indicative of what the combined financial position or
results of operations actually would have been had the NuWave Acquisition, the PCI Acquisition, the Open Solutions Acquisition, the ProModel
Acquisition, or the Business Combination been completed as of the dates indicated. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements do not give effect to any anticipated synergies, operating efficiencies or cost savings that may be associated with the Business
Combination. In addition, the summary unaudited pro forma data does not purport to project the future financial position or operating results of
BigBear subsequent to the closing of the NuWave Acquisition, the PCI Acquisition, the Open Solutions Acquisition, the ProModel Acquisition, or
the Business Combination.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared assuming two alternative levels of redemption into cash of
GigCapital4’s common stock:
. Assuming no redemptions: This presentation assumes that no shares of GigCapital4 common stock are redeemed.

. Assuming maximum redemptions: This presentation assumes that that the maximum number of shares of GigCapital4 common
stock are redeemed such that the remaining funds held in the trust account after the payment of the redeeming shares’ pro-rata
allocation are sufficient to satisfy the
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March 31, 2021 (in thousands)
Total assets

Total liabilities
Total equity

d

Unaudited pro forma c

d c

q

per unit data)
Revenues
Operating loss
Net loss

Unaudited pro forma cond

q

d st

share or per unit data)
Revenues
Operating loss

Net loss

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet data as of

of operations data

for the year ended December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except per share or

Basic and diluted net loss per share of common stock

of operations data

for the three months ended March 31, 2021 (in thousands, except per

Basic and diluted net loss per share of common stock

minimum closing cash condition of $350.0 million (“Available Closing Acquiror Cash”). This is based on the amount of

$358.8 million in the trust account as of March 31, 2021, inclusive of accrued dividends and Note Financing of $200.0 million in
connection with the Business Combination, and a redemption price of $10.00 per share. Under this scenario, approximately
20,880,167 shares of GigCapital4 common stock may be redeemed and still enable GigCapital4 to have sufficient Available Closing
Acquiror Cash.

Pro Forma

No Maximum

GigCapital4 BigBear Redemptions Red i
$ 361,791 $218,221 $ 535,668 $ 326,866
13,204 120,236 201,887 201,887
5,000 97,985 333,781 124,979

Pro Forma

No Maximum
GigCapital4 BigBear Red i Redemptions
$ — $31,552 $ 138,992 $ 138,992
(34) (9,855) (69,950) (69,950)
(34) (7,838) (68,932) (68,932)
(0.38) (0.43)

Pro Forma

No Maximum
GigCapital4 BigBear Redemptions Redemptions
$ — $35,570 $ 35,570 $ 35,570
(595) (762) (1,357) (1,357)
(614) (2,437) (3,906) (3,906)
(0.02) (0.02)
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements included in this proxy statement and the exhibits hereto that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements for purposes of the
safe harbor provisions under the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements generally are accompanied
by words such as “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “should,” “would,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential,”
“seem,” “seek,” “future,” “outlook,” and similar expressions that predict or indicate future events or trends or that are not statements of historical
matters. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding GigCapital4’s and BigBear’s respective industries, future
events, the proposed transactions between GigCapital4, Merger Sub, BigBear and Ultimate, the estimated or anticipated future results (including on a
segment reporting basis) and benefits of the post-combination company following the Business Combination, including the likelihood and ability of the
parties to successfully consummate the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, future opportunities for the post-combination company
following the Business Combination, and other statements that are not historical facts. These statements are based on various assumptions, whether or
not identified herein, and on the current expectations of BigBear’s and GigCapital4’s management and are not predictions of actual performance. These
forward-looking statements are provided for illustrative purposes only and are not intended to serve as, and must not be relied on by you or any other
investor as, a guarantee, an assurance, a prediction or a definitive statement of fact or probability. Actual events and circumstances are difficult or
impossible to predict and will differ from assumptions. Many actual events and circumstances are beyond the control of BigBear and GigCapital4. These
forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including changes in domestic and foreign business, market, financial,
political, and legal conditions; the inability of the parties to successfully or timely consummate the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement,
including the risk that any required regulatory approvals are not obtained, are delayed or are subject to unanticipated conditions that could adversely
affect the post-combination company or the expected benefits of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or that the approval of
GigCapital4’s stockholders is not obtained; failure to realize the anticipated benefits of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement; risks
relating to the uncertainty of the projected financial information (including on a segment reporting basis) with respect to BigBear; risks related to the
rollout of the BigBear’s business and the timing of expected business milestones; the effects of competition on BigBear’s future business; the amount of
redemption requests made by GigCapital4’s public stockholders; the ability of GigCapital4 or the post-combination company to issue equity or equity-
linked securities in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or in the future, and those factors discussed in
GigCapital4’s final prospectus dated February 8, 2021 and Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, in each case,
under the heading “Risk Factors,” and other documents of GigCapital4 filed, or to be filed, with the SEC. If any of these risks materialize or our
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results could differ materially from the results implied by these forward-looking statements. There may be additional
risks that neither GigCapital4 nor BigBear presently know or that GigCapital4 or BigBear currently believe are immaterial that could also cause actual
results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements. In addition, forward-looking statements reflect GigCapital4’s and BigBear’s
expectations, plans or forecasts of future events and views as of the date of this Current Report on Form 8-K. GigCapital4 and BigBear anticipate that
subsequent events and developments will cause GigCapital4’s and BigBear’s assessments to change. However, while GigCapital4 and BigBear may
elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the future, GigCapital4 and BigBear specifically disclaim any obligation to do so.
These forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing GigCapital4’s and BigBear’s assessments as of any date subsequent to the
date of this proxy statement. Accordingly, undue reliance should not be placed upon the forward-looking statements. Certain market data information in
this proxy statement is based on the estimates of BigBear and GigCapital4 management. BigBear and GigCapital4 obtained the industry, market and
competitive position data used throughout this proxy statement from internal estimates and research as well as from industry publications and research,
surveys and studies conducted by third parties. BigBear and GigCapital4 believe their estimates to be accurate as of the date of this proxy statement.
However, this information may prove to be inaccurate because of the method by which BigBear or GigCapital4 obtained some of the data for its
estimates or because this information cannot always be verified due to the limits on the availability and reliability of raw data, the voluntary nature of
the data gathering process.

» » » < » »

» <
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RISK FACTORS

You should carefully review and consider the following risk factors and the other information contained in this proxy statement, including the financial
statements and notes to the financial statements included herein, in evaluating the Business Combination and the proposals to be voted on at the Special
Meeting. The following risk factors that apply to the business and operations of BigBear will also apply to the business and operations of the post-
combination company following the completion of the Business Combination. The occurrence of one or more of the events or circumstances described in
these risk factors, alone or in combination with other events or circumstances, may adversely affect the ability to complete or realize the anticipated
benefits of the Business Combination, and may harm the business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations of the post-combination
company. These risk factors are not exhaustive. You should carefully consider the following risk factors in addition to the other information included in
this proxy statement, including matters addressed in the section entitled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” New BigBear may
face additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to it, or that BigBear currently deems immaterial, which may also impair New
BigBear s business or financial condition. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
to the financial statements included herein. Additional risks, beyond those summarized below may apply to our activities or operations as currently
conducted or as we may conduct them in the future or in the markets in which we operate or may in the future operate. Consistent with the foregoing, we
are exposed to a variety of risks, including risks associated with:

. Our limited operating history as a combined company makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and future prospects;

. The impact of health epidemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, on our business, financial condition, growth and the actions we may
take in response thereto;

. The high degree of uncertainty of the level of demand for and market utilization of our solutions and products;

. Substantial regulation and the potential for unfavorable changes to, or failure by us to comply with, these regulations, which could

substantially harm our business and operating results;
. Our dependency upon third-party service providers for certain technologies;
. Increases in costs, disruption of supply or shortage of materials, which could harm our business;
. Developments and projections relating to our competitors and industry;

. The unavailability, reduction or elimination of government and economic incentives, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition and operating results;

. Our management team’s limited experience managing a public company;

. The possibility of our need to defend ourselves against fines, penalties and injunctions if we are determined to be promoting products for
unapproved uses;

. Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors and their respective dffiliates, which may prevent new
investors from influencing significant corporate decisions;

. The lack of assurance that the combined company’s Common Stock will be approved for listing on Nasdaq or that the combined company
will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of Nasdaq;

. If the benefits of the Business Combination do not meet the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the potential for the market
price of the Company’s securities or, following the Closing, the post-combination company’s securities, may decline;

. The risk that the proposed Business Combination disrupts current plans and operations of our business as a result of the announcement
and consummation of the transactions described herein; and
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. Following the consummation of the Business Combination, the post-combination company’s significant increased expenses and
administrative burdens as a public company, which could have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Risks Relating to New BigBear

>

The risk factors referenced below relate to New BigBear after the consummation of the Business Combination. See “Information about New BigBear.’
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this section to “we,” “our,” “us” and other similar terms refer to New
BigBear.

Risks Related to BigBear’s Business and Industry
We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to evaluate our prospects and future results of operations.

Since we commenced operations, our business has expanded organically through the delivery of enhanced solutions and expanded product offerings to
our customers and through acquisitions. As a result of our limited operating history and evolving business, our ability to forecast our future results of
operations is limited and subject to several uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and model future growth. Our historical revenue growth should
not be considered indicative of our future performance. Further, in future periods, our revenue growth could slow. We have encountered and will
encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries, such as the risks and uncertainties
described herein. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties, which we use to plan our business, are incorrect or change, or if we do not
address these risks successfully, our business could be adversely affected.

We may not be able to sustain our revenue growth rate in the future.

Although our revenue has increased in recent periods, there can be no assurances that revenue will continue to grow or do so at current rates, and you
should not rely on the revenue of any prior quarterly or annual period as an indication of our future performance. Our revenue growth rate may decline
in future periods. Many factors may contribute to declines in our revenue growth rate, including increased competition, slowing demand for our products
and services from existing and new customers, a failure by us to continue capitalizing on growth opportunities including strategic acquisitions,
terminations of existing contracts or failure to exercise existing options by our customers, our failure to execute on the existing backlog of customer
contracts, the maturation of our business, and a contraction of our overall market, among others. If our revenue growth rate declines, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our results of operations and cash flows are substantially affected by our mix of fixed-price and time-and-material type contracts. Our profits may
decrease and/or we may incur significant unanticipated costs if we do not accurately estimate the costs of these engagements.

We generate revenue through various fixed-price and time-and-material contracts. Some of our arrangements with our customers are on fixed-price
contracts, rather than contracts in which payment to us is determined on a time and materials or other basis. These fixed-price contracts allow us to
benefit from cost savings, but subject us to the risk of potential cost overruns, particularly for firm fixed-price contracts because we assume all of the
cost burden. If our initial estimates are incorrect, we can lose money on these contracts. U.S. government contracts can expose us to potentially large
losses because the U.S. government can hold us responsible for completing a project or, in certain circumstances, paying the entire cost of its
replacement by another provider regardless of the size or foreseeability of any cost overruns that occur over the life of the contract. Because many of
these contracts involve new technologies and applications and can last for years, unforeseen events, such as technological difficulties, fluctuations in the
price of raw materials, a significant increase in inflation in the U.S. or other countries, problems with our suppliers and cost overruns, can result in the
contractual price becoming
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less favorable or even unprofitable to us over time. Our failure to estimate accurately the resources and schedule required for a project, or our failure to
complete our contractual obligations in a manner consistent with the project plan upon which our fixed-price contract was based, could adversely affect
our overall profitability and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We are consistently
entering into contracts for large projects that magnify this risk. We have been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects
in the past, which has occasionally resulted in losses on those contracts. We could experience similar situations in the future. In addition, we may fix the
price for some projects at an early stage of the project engagement, which could result in a fixed price that is too low. Therefore, any changes from our
original estimates could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our sales efforts involve considerable time and expense and our sales cycle is often long and unpredictable.

Our results of operations may fluctuate, in part, because of the intensive nature of our sales efforts and the length and unpredictability of our sales cycle.
As part of our sales efforts, we invest considerable time and expense evaluating the specific organizational needs of our potential customers and
educating these potential customers about the technical capabilities and value of our software and services. In the “land” phase of our business model,
we often deploy prototype capabilities to potential customers at no or low cost initially to them for evaluation purposes, and there is no guarantee that
we will be able to convert these engagements into long-term sales arrangements. In addition, we currently have a limited direct sales force, and our sales
efforts have historically depended on the significant involvement of our senior management team. The length of our sales cycle, from initial
demonstration to sale of our software and services, tends to be long and varies substantially from customer to customer. Our sales cycle often lasts six to
nine months but can extend to a year or more for some customers. Because decisions to purchase our software involve significant financial
commitments, potential customers generally evaluate our software at multiple levels within their organization, each of which often have specific
requirements, and typically involve their senior management.

Our results of operations depend on sales to enterprise customers, which make product purchasing decisions based in part or entirely on factors, or
perceived factors, not directly related to the features of the software, including, among others, that customer’s projections of business growth,
uncertainty about economic conditions (including as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak), capital budgets, anticipated cost savings from the
implementation of our software, potential preference for such customer’s internally-developed software solutions, perceptions about our business and
software, more favorable terms offered by potential competitors, and previous technology investments. In addition, certain decision makers and other
stakeholders within our potential customers tend to have vested interests in the continued use of internally developed or existing software, which may
make it more difficult for us to sell our software and services. As a result of these and other factors, our sales efforts typically require an extensive effort
throughout a customer’s organization, a significant investment of human resources, expense and time, including by our senior management, and there
can be no assurances that we will be successful in making a sale to a potential customer. If our sales efforts to a potential customer do not result in
sufficient revenue to justify our investments, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Historically, existing customers have expanded their relationships with us, which has resulted in a limited number of customers accounting for a
substantial portion of our revenue. If existing customers do not make subsequent purchases from us or renew their contracts with us, or if our
relationships with our largest customers are impaired or terminated, our revenue could decline, and our results of operations would be adversely
impacted.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from existing customers that expand their relationships with us. Increasing the size and number of the
deployments of our existing customers is a major part of our growth strategy. We may not be effective in executing this or any other aspect of our
growth strategy. For example, revenue earned from customers contributing in excess of 10% of consolidated revenues were derived from two
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customers comprising 34% of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2021 (Successor) and 70% for the three months ended March 31, 2020
(Predecessor), respectively. As of March 31, 2021, we have supported these customers for more than five years.

Certain customers, including customers that represent a significant portion of our business, have in the past reduced their spend with us as a result of
budgetary pressure, which has reduced our anticipated future payments or revenue from these customers. It is not possible for us to predict the future
level of demand from our larger customers for our software and applications.

While we generally engage customers through contracts with terms up to five years in length, our customers sometimes enter into shorter-term contracts,
such as six-month engagements for specific capability developments or enhancements, which may not provide for automatic renewal and may require
the customer to opt-in to extend the term. Our customers have no obligation to renew, upgrade, or expand their agreements with us after the terms of
their existing agreements have expired. In addition, many of our customer contracts permit the customer to terminate their contracts with us with little or
no notice required. If one or more of our customers terminate their contracts with us, whether for convenience, for default in the event of a breach by us,
or for other reasons specified in our contracts, as applicable; if our customers elect not to renew their contracts with us; if our customers renew their
contractual arrangements with us for shorter contract lengths or for a reduced scope; or if our customers otherwise seek to renegotiate terms of their
existing agreements on terms less favorable to us, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. This adverse impact would be even
more pronounced for customers that represent a material portion of our revenue or business operations.

Our ability to renew or expand our customer relationships may decrease or vary due to a number of factors, including our customers’ satisfaction or
dissatisfaction with our software and services, the frequency and severity of software and implementation errors, our software’s reliability, our pricing,
the effects of general economic conditions and budgets, competitive offerings or alternatives, or reductions in our customers’ spending levels. Achieving
such renewal or expansion of our customer contracts may require us to increasingly engage in sophisticated and costly sales efforts that may not result in
additional sales. If our customers do not renew or expand their agreements with us or if they renew their contracts for shorter lengths or on other terms
less favorable to us, our revenue may decline or grow more slowly than expected, and our business could suffer. Our business, financial condition, and
results of operations would also be adversely affected if we face difficulty collecting our accounts receivable from our customers or if we are required to
refund customer deposits.

We may not realize the full deal value of our customer contracts, which may result in lower than expected revenue.

As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the total remaining deal value of the contracts that we had been awarded by, or entered into with,
commercial and government customers, including existing contractual obligations, contract options available to those customers, and anticipated
follow-on awards was $380 million and $409 million, respectively.

The majority of these contracts contain termination for convenience provisions. Additionally, the U.S. federal government is prohibited from exercising
contract options more than one year in advance. As a result, there can be no guarantee that our customer contracts will not be terminated or that contract
options will be exercised.

We may not realize all of the revenue from the full deal value of our customer contracts. This is because the actual timing and amount of revenue under
contracts included are subject to various contingencies, including exercise of contractual options, customers terminating their contracts, and
renegotiations of contracts. In addition, delays in the completion of the U.S. government’s budgeting process, the use of continuing resolutions, and a
potential lapse in appropriations, or similar events in other jurisdictions, could adversely affect our ability to timely recognize revenue under certain
government contracts.
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Our results of operations and our key business measures are likely to fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis in future periods and may not fully
reflect the underlying performance of our business, which makes our future results difficult to predict and could cause our results of operations to
fall below expectations.

Our quarterly results of operations, including cash flows, have fluctuated significantly in the past and are likely to continue to do so in the future.
Accordingly, the results of any one quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Our quarterly results, financial position, and
operations are likely to fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, and as a result, may not fully reflect the
underlying performance of our business. Fluctuation in quarterly results may negatively impact the value of our common stock.

The timing of our sales cycles is unpredictable and is impacted by factors such as government budgeting and appropriation cycles, varying commercial
fiscal years, and changing economic conditions. This can impact our ability to plan and manage margins and cash flows. Our sales cycles are often long,
and it is difficult to predict exactly when, or if, we will make a sale with a potential customer or how quickly we can move them from the “land” phase
into the profitable “expand” phase. As a result, large individual sales have, in some cases, occurred in quarters subsequent to those we anticipated, or
have not occurred at all. The loss or delay of one or more large sales transactions in a quarter would impact our results of operations and cash flow for
that quarter and any future quarters in which revenue from that transaction is lost or delayed. In addition, downturns in new sales may not be
immediately reflected in our revenue because we generally recognize revenue over the term of our contracts. The timing of customer billing and
payment varies from contract to contract. A delay in the timing of receipt of such collections, or a default on a large contract, may negatively impact our
liquidity for the period and in the future. Because a substantial portion of our expenses are relatively fixed in the short-term and require time to adjust,
our results of operations and liquidity would suffer if revenue falls below our expectations in a particular period.

Other factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations and financial position include, without limitation, those listed below:

. The success of our sales and marketing efforts, including the success of pilot deployments;

. Our ability to increase our margins;

. The timing of expenses and revenue recognition;

. The timing and amount of payments received from our customers;

. Termination of one or more large contracts by customers, including for convenience;

. The time and cost-intensive nature of our sales efforts and the length and variability of sales cycles;

. The amount and timing of operating expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business and operations;
. The timing and effectiveness of new sales and marketing initiatives;

. Changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

. The timing and success of new products, features, and functionality introduced by us or our competitors;

. Cyberattacks and other actual or perceived data or security breaches;

. Our ability to hire and retain employees, in particular, those responsible for the development, operations and maintenance, and selling or

marketing of our software; and our ability to develop and retain talented sales personnel who are able to achieve desired productivity levels
in a reasonable period of time and provide sales leadership in areas in which we are expanding our sales and marketing efforts;
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. The amount and timing of our stock-based compensation expenses;

. Changes in the way we organize and compensate our sales teams;

. Changes in the way we operate and maintain our software;

. Changes in the competitive dynamics of our industry;

. The cost of and potential outcomes of future claims or litigation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business;

. Changes in laws and regulations that impact our business, such as the Federal Acquisition Streamlining Act of 1994 (“FASA™);
. Indemnification payments to our customers or other third parties;

. Ability to scale our business with increasing demands;

. The timing of expenses related to any future acquisitions; and

. General economic, regulatory, and market conditions, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In addition, our contracts generally contain termination for convenience provisions, and we may be obligated to repay prepaid amounts or otherwise not
realize anticipated future revenue should we fail to provide future services as anticipated. These factors make it difficult for us to accurately predict
financial metrics for future periods.

The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations, cash flows, or other operating metrics could result in our failure to meet our
expectations or those of analysts that may cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other key metrics for a particular period. If we fail to meet or
exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the trading price of our common stock could fall, and we could face costly lawsuits, including
securities class action suits.

Our software is complex and may have a lengthy implementation process, and any failure of our software to satisfy our customers or perform as
desired could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our software and services are complex and are deployed in a wide variety of environments. Implementing our software can be a complex and lengthy
process since we often configure our existing software for a customer’s unique environment. Inability to meet the unique needs of our customers may
result in customer dissatisfaction and/or damage to our reputation, which could materially harm our business. Further, the proper use of our software
may require training of the customer and the initial or ongoing services of our technical personnel over the contract term. If training and/or ongoing
services require more of our expenditures than we originally estimated, our margins will be lower than projected.

In addition, if our customers do not use our software correctly or as intended, inadequate performance or outcomes may result. It is possible that our
software may also be intentionally misused or abused by customers or their employees or third parties who obtain access and use of our software.
Similarly, our software sometimes used by customers with smaller or less sophisticated I'T departments, potentially resulting in sub-optimal performance
at a level lower than anticipated by the customer. Because our customers rely on our software and services to address important business goals and
challenges, the incorrect or improper use or configuration of our software, failure to properly train customers on how to efficiently and effectively use
our software, or failure to properly provide implementation or analytical or maintenance services to our customers may result in contract terminations or
non-renewals, reduced customer payments, negative publicity, or legal claims against us. For example, as we continue to expand our customer base, any
failure by us to properly provide these services may result in lost opportunities for follow-on expansion sales of our software and services.
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Furthermore, if customer personnel are not well trained in the use of our software, customers may defer the deployment of our software and services,
may deploy them in a more limited manner than originally anticipated, or may not deploy them at all. If there is substantial turnover of the company or
customer personnel responsible for procurement and use of our software, our software may go unused or be adopted less broadly, and our ability to
make additional sales may be substantially limited, which could negatively impact our business, results of operations, and growth prospects.

If we do not successfully develop and deploy new technologies to address the needs of our customers, our business and results of operations could
suffer.

Our success has been based on our ability to design software that enables the integration of large amounts of data to facilitate advanced data analysis,
knowledge management, and decision support in real-time. We spend substantial amounts of time and money researching and developing new
technologies and enhanced versions of existing features to meet our customers’ and potential customers’ rapidly evolving needs. There is no assurance
that our enhancements to our software or our new product features, capabilities, or offerings, including new product modules, will be compelling to our
customers or gain market acceptance. If our research and development investments do not accurately anticipate customer demand or if we fail to develop
our software in a manner that satisfies customer preferences in a timely and cost-effective manner, we may fail to retain our existing customers or
increase demand for our software.

The introduction of new products and services by competitors or the development of entirely new technologies to replace existing offerings could make
our software obsolete or adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We may experience difficulties with software
development, design, or marketing that delay or prevent our development, introduction, or implementation of new software, features, or capabilities. We
have in the past experienced delays in our internally planned release dates of new features and capabilities, and there can be no assurance that new
software, features, or capabilities will be released according to schedule. Any delays could result in adverse publicity, loss of revenue or market
acceptance, or claims by customers brought against us, any of which could harm our business. Moreover, the design and development of new software
or new features and capabilities to our existing software may require substantial investment, and we have no assurance that such investments will be
successful. If customers do not widely adopt our new software, experiences, features, and capabilities, we may not be able to realize a return on our
investment and our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our new and existing software and changes to our existing software could fail to attain sufficient market acceptance for many reasons, including:

. Our failure to predict market demand accurately in terms of product functionality and to supply offerings that meet this demand in a timely
fashion;

. Product defects, errors, or failures or our inability to satisfy customer service level requirements;

. Negative publicity or negative private statements about the security, performance, or effectiveness of our software or product
enhancements;

. Delays in releasing to the market our new offerings or enhancements to our existing offerings, including new product modules;

. Introduction or anticipated introduction of competing software or functionalities by our competitors;

. Inability of our software or product enhancements to scale and perform to meet customer demands;

. Receiving qualified or adverse opinions in connection with security or penetration testing, certifications or audits, such as those related to

IT controls and security standards and frameworks or compliance;
. Poor business conditions for our customers, causing them to delay software purchases;
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. Reluctance of customers to purchase proprietary software products;
. Reluctance of our customers to purchase products hosted by our vendors and/or service interruption from such providers; and
. Reluctance of customers to purchase products incorporating open source software.

If we are not able to continue to identify challenges faced by our customers and develop, license, or acquire new features and capabilities to our software
in a timely and cost-effective manner, or if such enhancements do not achieve market acceptance, our business, financial condition, results of operations,
and prospects may suffer and our anticipated revenue growth may not be achieved.

Because we derive, and expect to continue to derive, a substantial percentage of our revenue from customers purchasing our software, market
acceptance of these products, and any enhancements or changes thereto, is critical to our success.

The competitive position of our software depends in part on their ability to operate with third-party products and services, and if we are not
successful in maintaining and expanding the compatibility of our software with such third-party products and services, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be adversely impacted.

The competitive position of our software depends in part on their ability to operate with products and services of third parties, software services, and
infrastructure, including but not limited to, in connection with our joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, strategic alliances,
and other similar arrangements where applicable. As such, we must continuously modify and enhance our software to adapt to changes in, or to be
integrated or otherwise compatible with, hardware, software, networking, browser, and database technologies. In the future, one or more technology
companies may choose not to support the operation of their hardware, software, or infrastructure, or our software may not support the capabilities
needed to operate with such hardware, software, or infrastructure. In addition, to the extent that a third-party were to develop software or services that
compete with ours, that provider may choose not to support one or more of our software. We intend to facilitate the compatibility of our software with
various third-party hardware, software, and infrastructure by maintaining and expanding our business and technical relationships. If we are not
successful in achieving this goal, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely impacted.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, our business could be harmed.

Since our founding, we have experienced rapid growth. We operate in a growing market and have experienced, and may continue to experience,
significant expansion of our operations. This growth has placed, and may continue to place, a strain on our employees, management systems,
operational, financial, and other resources. As we have grown, we have increasingly managed larger and more complex deployments of our software and
services with a broader base of government and commercial customers. As we continue to grow, we face challenges of integrating, developing,
retaining, and motivating a rapidly growing employee base. In the event of continued growth of our operations, our operational resources, including our
information technology systems, our employee base, or our internal controls and procedures may not be adequate to support our operations and
deployments. Managing our growth may require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable management resources, improving our operational,
financial, and management processes and systems, and effectively expanding, training, and managing our employee base. If we fail to achieve the
necessary level of efficiency in our organization as it grows, our business, financial condition, and results of operations would be harmed. As our
organization continues to grow, we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain the benefits of our traditional company culture, including our ability to
quickly respond to customers, and avoid unnecessary delays that may be associated with a formal corporate structure. This could negatively affect our
business performance or ability to hire or retain personnel in the near- or long-term.
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In addition, our rapid growth may make it difficult to evaluate our future prospects. Our ability to forecast our future results of operations is subject to a
number of uncertainties, including our ability to effectively plan for and model future growth. We have encountered in the past, and may encounter in
the future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries. If we fail to achieve the necessary level
of efficiency in our organization as it grows, or if we are not able to accurately forecast future growth, our business, financial condition, and results of
operations would be harmed.

If we are unable to hire, retain, train, and motivate qualified personnel and senior management and deploy our personnel and resources to meet
customer demand around the world, our business could suffer.

Our ability to compete in the highly competitive technology industry depends upon our ability to attract, motivate, and retain qualified personnel. We are
highly dependent on the continued contributions of our management team, including their customer relationships, expertise in science and technology,
business development experience, and innovative management in both public and private sectors. These contributions are integral to our growth and
would be difficult to replace. Some of our executive officers and key personnel are at-will employees and may terminate their employment relationship
with us at any time. The loss of the services of our key personnel and any of our other executive officers, and our inability to find suitable replacements,
could result in a decline in sales, delays in product development, and harm to our business and operations.

At times, we have experienced, and we may continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining personnel with appropriate qualifications, and we
may not be able to fill positions in a timely manner or at all. Potential candidates may not perceive our compensation package, including our equity
awards, as favorably as personnel hired prior to our listing. In addition, our recruiting personnel, methodology, and approach may need to be altered to
address a changing candidate pool and profile. We may not be able to identify or implement such changes in a timely manner. In addition, we may incur
significant costs to attract and recruit skilled personnel, and we may lose new personnel to our competitors or other technology companies before we
realize the benefit of our investment in recruiting and training them. As we move into new geographies, we will need to attract and recruit skilled
personnel in those geographic areas, but it may be challenging for us to compete with traditional local employers in these regions for talent. If we fail to
attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel who can meet our growing technical, operational, and managerial requirements
on a timely basis or at all, our business may be harmed. In addition, certain personnel may be required to receive various security clearances and
substantial training to work on certain customer engagements or to perform certain tasks. Necessary security clearances may be delayed or unsuccessful,
which may negatively impact our ability to perform on our U.S. and non-U.S. government contracts in a timely manner or at all.

Our success depends on our ability to effectively source and staff people with the right mix of skills and experience to perform services for our
customers, including our ability to transition personnel to new assignments on a timely basis. If we are unable to effectively utilize our personnel on a
timely basis to fulfill the needs of our customers, our business could suffer.

We face intense competition for qualified personnel, especially software engineers and data scientists, in major U.S. markets, where a large portion of
our personnel are based. We incur costs related to attracting, relocating, and retaining qualified personnel in these highly competitive markets, including
leasing real estate in prime areas in these locations. Further, many of the companies with which we compete for qualified personnel have greater
resources than we have. Additionally, laws and regulations, such as restrictive immigration laws, may limit our ability to recruit outside of the United
States. If we fail to attract new personnel or to retain our current personnel, our business and operations could be harmed.

We seek to retain and motivate existing personnel through our compensation practices, company culture, and career development opportunities. We may
need to invest significant amounts of cash and equity for new and existing employees, and we may never realize returns on these investments. If the
perceived value of our equity awards declines, or if the mix of equity and cash compensation that we offer is less attractive than that of our
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competitors, it may adversely affect our ability to recruit and retain highly skilled personnel. Employees may also be more likely to leave us if the shares
of our capital stock they own or the shares of our capital stock underlying their equity incentive awards have significantly reduced in value or the vested
shares of our capital stock they own or vested shares of our capital stock underlying their equity incentive awards have significantly appreciated. In
addition, many of our employees may receive significant proceeds from sales of our equity in the public markets at some point after the closing of the
Business Combination, which may reduce their motivation to continue to work for us. Any of these factors could harm our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

If we are unable to successfully deploy our marketing and sales organization in a timely manner, or at all, or to successfully hire, retain, train, and
motivate our sales personnel, our growth and long-term success could be adversely impacted.

We currently have a growing, but limited, direct sales force and our sales efforts have historically depended on the significant direct involvement of our
senior management team. The successful execution of our strategy to increase our sales to existing customers, identify and engage new customers, and
enter new markets will depend, among other things, on our ability to successfully build and expand our sales organization and operations. Identifying,
recruiting, training, and managing sales personnel requires significant time, expense, and attention, including from our senior management and other key
personnel, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations in the short and long term.

In order to successfully scale our unique sales model, we must, and we intend to continue to, increase the size of our direct sales force, both in the
United States and outside of the United States, to generate additional revenue from new and existing customers while preserving the cultural and
mission-oriented elements of our company. If we do not hire enough qualified sales personnel, our future revenue growth and business could be
adversely impacted. It may take a significant period of time before our sales personnel are fully trained and productive, particularly in light of our
unique sales model, and there is no guarantee we will be successful in adequately training and effectively deploying our sales personnel. In addition, we
may need to invest significant resources in our sales operations to enable our sales organization to run effectively and efficiently, including supporting
sales strategy planning, sales process optimization, data analytics and reporting, and administering incentive compensation arrangements. Furthermore,
hiring personnel in new countries requires additional setup and upfront costs that we may not recover if those personnel fail to achieve full productivity
in a timely manner. Our business would be adversely affected if our efforts to build, expand, train, and manage our sales organization are not successful.
We periodically change and make adjustments to our sales organization in response to market opportunities, competitive threats, management changes,
product introductions or enhancements, acquisitions, sales performance, increases in sales headcount, cost levels, and other internal and external
considerations. Any future sales organization changes may result in a temporary reduction of productivity, which could negatively affect our rate of
growth. In addition, any significant change to the way we structure and implement the compensation of our sales organization may be disruptive or may
not be effective and may affect our revenue growth. If we are unable to attract, hire, develop, retain, and motivate qualified sales personnel, if our new
sales personnel are unable to achieve sufficient sales productivity levels in a reasonable period of time or at all, if our marketing programs are not
effective or if we are unable to effectively build, expand, and manage our sales organization and operations, our sales and revenue may grow more
slowly than expected or materially decline, and our business may be significantly harmed.

Our ability to sell our software and services to customers is dependent on the quality of our offerings, and our failure to maintain the quality of our
offerings could have a material adverse effect on our sales and results of operations.

Once our software is deployed and integrated with our customers’ existing information technology investments, our customers depend on our support to
resolve any issues relating to our products. Increasingly, our software is deployed in large-scale, complex technology environments, and we believe our
future success will depend on our
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ability to increase sales of our products into these environments. Our ability to provide effective ongoing support in a timely, efficient, or scalable
manner may depend in part on our customers’ environments and their ability to maintain and/or modernize their IT infrastructure.

In addition, our ability to provide effective services is largely dependent on our ability to attract, train, and retain qualified personnel with experience in
supporting customers on software such as ours. The number of our customers has grown significantly, and that growth has and may continue to put
additional pressure on our services teams. We may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in customer demand for
our products. Increased customer demand for support, without corresponding revenue, could increase costs and negatively affect our business and results
of operations. In addition, as we continue to grow our operations and expand outside of the United States, we need to be able to provide efficient
services that meet our customers’ needs globally at scale, and our services teams may face additional challenges, including those associated with
operating the software and delivering support, training, and documentation in languages other than English and providing services across expanded
time-zones. If we are unable to provide efficient deployment and support services globally at scale, our ability to grow our operations may be harmed,
and we may need to hire additional services personnel, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our customers typically need training in the proper use of and the variety of benefits that can be derived from our software to realize its full potential. If
we do not effectively deploy, update, or upgrade our products, help our customers quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and provide effective ongoing
support, our ability to sell additional products and services to customers could be adversely affected, we may face negative publicity, and our reputation
with potential customers could be damaged. Many enterprise and government customers require higher levels of services than smaller customers. If we
fail to meet the requirements of the larger customers, it may be more difficult to execute on our strategy to increase our penetration with larger
customers. As a result, our failure to maintain high quality services may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and growth prospects.

If we are not able to grow, maintain, and enhance our brand and reputation, our relationships with our customers, partners, and employees may be
harmed, and our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We believe growing, maintaining, and enhancing our brand identity and reputation is important to our relationships with, and to our ability to attract and
retain customers, partners, investors, and employees. The successful promotion of our brand depends upon our ability to continue to offer high-quality
software, maintain strong relationships with our customers, the community, and others, while successfully differentiating our software from those of our
competitors. Unfavorable media coverage may adversely affect our brand and reputation. We anticipate that as our market becomes increasingly
competitive, maintaining and enhancing our brand may become increasingly difficult and expensive. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased
revenue, and even if they do, the increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building and maintaining our brand and reputation. If we do
not successfully grow, maintain, and enhance our brand identity and reputation, or if we are unable to sell legacy products under the “BigBear.ai” brand
name, we may fail to attract and retain employees, customers, investors, or partners, grow our business, or sustain pricing power, all of which could
adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects. Additionally, despite our internal safeguards and efforts
to the contrary, we cannot guarantee that our customers will not ultimately use our software for purposes inconsistent with our company values, and such
uses may harm our brand and reputation.
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Our reputation and business may be harmed by news or social media coverage of BigBear, including but not limited to coverage that presents, or
relies on, inaccurate, misleading, incomplete, or otherwise damaging information.

Publicly available information regarding BigBear has historically been limited, in part due to the sensitivity of our work with customers or contractual
requirements limiting or preventing public disclosure of certain aspects of our work or relationships with certain customers. As our business has grown
and as interest in BigBear and the technology industry overall has increased, we have attracted, and may continue to attract, significant attention from
news and social media outlets, including unfavorable coverage and coverage that is not directly attributable to statements authorized by our leadership,
that incorrectly reports on statements made by our leadership or employees and the nature of our work, perpetuates unfounded speculation about
company involvements, or that is otherwise misleading. If such news or social media coverage presents, or relies on, inaccurate, misleading, incomplete,
or otherwise damaging information regarding BigBear, such coverage could damage our reputation in the industry and with current and potential
customers, employees, and investors, and our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects could be adversely affected. Due
to the sensitive nature of our work and our confidentiality obligations and despite our ongoing efforts to provide increased transparency into our
business, operations, and product capabilities, we may be unable to or limited in our ability to respond to such harmful coverage, which could have a
negative impact on our business.

Our relationships with government customers and customers that are engaged in certain sensitive industries, including organizations whose products or
activities are or are perceived to be harmful, has resulted in public criticism, including from political and social activists, and unfavorable coverage in
the media. Criticism of our relationships with customers could potentially engender dissatisfaction among potential and existing customers, investors,
and employees with how we address political and social concerns in our business activities. Conversely, being perceived as yielding to activism targeted
at certain customers could damage our relationships with certain customers, including governments and government agencies with which we do
business, whose views may or may not be aligned with those of political and social activists. Actions we take in response to the activities of our
customers, up to and including terminating our contracts or refusing a particular product use case could harm our brand and reputation. In either case,
the resulting harm to our reputation could:

. Cause certain customers to cease doing business with us;

. Impair our ability to attract new customers, or to expand our relationships with existing customers;

. Diminish our ability to hire or retain employees;

. Undermine our standing in professional communities to which we contribute and from which we receive expert knowledge; or
. Prompt us to cease doing business with certain customers.

Any of these factors could adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our pricing for our software and services may change to address market conditions.

‘We may have to change or adjust our pricing model in response to general economic conditions, competitor pricing, customer budgets, pricing studies,
or findings demonstrating how customers consume our products and services. Additionally, as we introduce our products into new markets, we may
need to tailor our pricing structure to address conditions or trends in specific markets. In addition, as new and existing competitors introduce new
products or services that compete with ours, or revise their pricing structures, we may be unable to attract new customers at the same price or based on
the same pricing model as we have used historically. Moreover, as we continue to target selling our software and services to larger organizations, these
larger organizations may demand substantial price concessions. In addition, we may need to change pricing policies to accommodate government
pricing guidelines for our contracts with federal, state, and local government agencies. If we are unable to modify or develop pricing models and
strategies that are attractive to existing and prospective
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customers, while enabling us to significantly grow our sales and revenue relative to our associated costs and expenses in a reasonable period of time, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely impacted.

If our government customers are not able or willing to accept our software-based business model, instead of a labor-based business model, our
business and results of operations could be negatively impacted.

Our software is generally offered on a productized basis to minimize our customers’ overall cost of acquisition, maintenance, and deployment time of
our products. Many of our government customers and potential customers are instead generally familiar with the practice of purchasing or licensing
software through labor contracts, where custom software is written for specific applications, the intellectual property for specific use cases is often
owned by the customer, and the software typically requires additional labor contracts for modifications, updates, and services during the life of that
specific software. Customers may be unable or unwilling to accept our model of commercial software procurement. Should our customers be unable or
unwilling to accept this model of commercial software procurement, our growth could be materially diminished, which could adversely impact our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

Certain estimates of market opportunity included in this proxy statement may prove to be inaccurate.

This proxy statement includes our internal estimates of the addressable market for our software and services. Market opportunity estimates, whether
obtained from third-party sources or developed internally, are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not
prove to be accurate. The estimates in this proxy statement relating to the size of our target market, market demand and adoption, capacity to address
this demand, and pricing may prove to be inaccurate. The addressable market we estimate may not materialize for many years, if ever, and even if the
markets in which we compete meet the size estimates in this proxy statement, our business could fail to successfully address or compete in such markets.

We face intense competition in our markets, and we may lack sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or improve our competitive position.

The markets for our software are very competitive, and we expect such competition to continue or increase in the future. A significant number of
companies are developing products that currently, or in the future may, compete with some or all aspects of our proprietary software. We may not be
successful in convincing the management teams of our potential customers to deploy our software in lieu of existing software solutions or in-house
software development projects often favored by internal IT departments or other competitive products and services. In addition, our competitors include
large enterprise software companies, government contractors, and system integrators, and we may face competition from emerging companies as well as
established companies who have not previously entered this market. Additionally, we may be required to make substantial additional investments in our
research, development, services, marketing, and sales functions in order to respond to competition, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to
compete successfully in the future.

Many of our existing competitors have, and some of our potential competitors could have, substantial competitive advantages such as:

. Greater name recognition, longer operating histories, and larger customer bases;

. Larger sales and marketing budgets and resources and the capacity to leverage their sales efforts and marketing expenditures across a
broader portfolio of products;

. Broader, deeper, or otherwise more established relationships with technology, channel and distribution partners, and customers;
. ‘Wider geographic presence or greater access to larger potential customer bases;
. Greater focus in specific geographies;
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. Lower labor and research and development costs;
. Larger and more mature intellectual property portfolios; and
. Substantially greater financial, technical, and other resources to provide services, to make acquisitions, and to develop and introduce new

products and capabilities.

In addition, some of our larger competitors have substantially broader and more diverse product and service offerings and may be able to leverage their
relationships with distribution partners and customers based on other products or incorporate functionality into existing products to gain business in a
manner that discourages customers from purchasing our software, including by selling at zero or negative margins, product bundling, or offering closed
technology software. Potential customers may also prefer to purchase from their existing provider rather than a new provider regardless of software
performance or features. As a result, even if the features of our software offer advantages that others do not, customers may not purchase our software.
These larger competitors often have broader product lines and market focus or greater resources and may therefore not be as susceptible to economic
downturns or other significant reductions in capital spending by customers. If we are unable to sufficiently differentiate our software from the integrated
or bundled products of our competitors, such as by offering enhanced functionality, performance, or value, we may see a decrease in demand for those
software, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, new, innovative start-up companies and larger companies that are making significant investments in research and development may
introduce products that have greater performance or functionality, are easier to implement or use, incorporate technological advances that we have not
yet developed, or implemented or may invent similar or superior software and technologies that compete with our software. Our current and potential
competitors may also establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources.

Some of our competitors have made or could make acquisitions of businesses that allow them to offer more competitive and comprehensive solutions.
As aresult of such acquisitions, our current or potential competitors may be able to accelerate the adoption of new technologies that better address
customer needs, devote greater resources to bring these products and services to market, initiate or withstand substantial price competition, or develop
and expand their product and service offerings more quickly than we do. These competitive pressures in our market, or our failure to compete
effectively, may result in fewer orders, reduced revenue and margins, and loss of market share. In addition, it is possible that industry consolidation may
impact customers’ perceptions of the viability of smaller or even mid-size software firms and consequently customers’ willingness to purchase from
such firms.

We may not compete successfully against our current or potential competitors. If we are unable to compete successfully, or if competing successfully
requires us to take costly actions in response to the actions of our competitors, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be
adversely affected. In addition, companies competing with us may have an entirely different pricing or distribution model. Increased competition could
result in fewer customer orders, price reductions, reduced margins, and loss of market share, any of which could harm our business and results of
operations.

Our culture emphasizes rapid innovation and advancement of successful hires who may, in some cases, have limited prior industry expertise and
prioritizes customer outcomes over short-term financial results, and if we cannot maintain or properly manage our culture as we grow, our business
may be harmed.

We have a culture that encourages employees to quickly develop and launch key technologies and software intended to solve our customers’ most
important problems and prioritizes the advancement of employees to positions of significant responsibility based on merit despite, in some cases, limited
prior work or industry experience. Some of our hiring into technical roles comes through our internship program or from candidates joining us directly
from undergraduate or graduate engineering programs rather than industry hires. Successful
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entry-level hires are often quickly advanced and rewarded with significant responsibilities, including in important customer-facing roles as project
managers, development leads, and product managers. Larger competitors, such as defense contractors, system integrators, and large software and service
companies that traditionally target large enterprises typically have more sizeable direct sales forces staffed by individuals with significantly more
industry experience than our customer-facing personnel, which may negatively impact our ability to compete with these larger competitors. As our
business grows and becomes more complex, the staffing of customer-facing personnel, some of whom may have limited industry experience, may result
in unintended outcomes or in decisions that are poorly received by customers or other stakeholders. For example, in many cases we launch, at our
expense, pilot deployments with customers without a long-term contract in place, and some of those deployments have not resulted in the customer’s
adoption or expansion of its use of our software and services, or the generation of significant, or any, revenue or payments. In addition, as we continue to
grow, including geographically, we may find it difficult to maintain our culture.

Our culture also prioritizes customer outcomes over short-term financial results, and we frequently make service and product decisions that may reduce
our short-term revenue or cash flow if we believe that the decisions are consistent with our mission and responsive to our customers’ goals and thereby
have the potential to improve our financial performance over the long term. These decisions may not produce the long-term benefits and results that we
expect or may be poorly received in the short term by our investors, in which case our customer growth and our business, financial condition, and results
of operations may be harmed.

We may not enter into relationships in select countries or with potential customers if their activities or objectives are inconsistent with our mission or
values.

We generally do not enter into business with customers or governments whose positions or actions we consider inconsistent with our mission to support
Western liberal democracy and its strategic allies. Our decisions to not enter into these relationships may not produce the long-term financial benefits
and results that we expect, in which case our growth prospects, business, and results of operations could be harmed. Although we endeavor to do
business with customers and governments that are aligned with our mission and values, we cannot predict how the activities and values of our
government and private sector customers will evolve over time, and they may evolve in a manner inconsistent with our mission.

Joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, strategic alliances, or subcontracting opportunities may have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations and prospects.

We expect to continue to enter into joint ventures, channel sales relationships (including original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) and reseller
relationships), platform partnerships, strategic alliances, and subcontracting relationships as part of our long-term business strategy. Joint ventures,
channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, strategic alliances, subcontracting relationships, and other similar arrangements involve significant
investments of both time and resources, and there can be no assurances that they will be successful. They may present significant challenges and risks,
including that they may not advance our business strategy, we may get an unsatisfactory return on our investment or lose some or all of our investment,
they may distract management and divert resources from our core business, including our business development and product development efforts, they
may expose us to unexpected liabilities, they may conflict with our increased sales hiring and direct sales strategy, or we may choose a partner that does
not cooperate as we expect them to and that fails to meet its obligations or that has economic, business, or legal interests or goals that are inconsistent
with ours.

For example, in May 2020, we entered into a Joint Venture agreement with iNovex Information Systems Incorporated (iNovex) and Advanced
Performance Systems (APS) to pursue a competitive solicitation with a U.S. intelligence agency. The agreement allowed us to share the considerable
investment costs for the proposal and offer the customer the ability to award the contract to a single entity with considerable incumbency, but there is no
guarantee the venture will be awarded the contract or any of the associated costs will be recovered.

59



Table of Contents

Entry into certain joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, or strategic alliances now or in the future may be subject to
government regulation, including review by U.S. or foreign government entities related to foreign direct investment. If a joint venture or similar
arrangement were subject to regulatory review, such regulatory review might limit our ability to enter into the desired strategic alliance and thus our
ability to carry out our long-term business strategy.

As our joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, and strategic alliances come to an end or terminate, we may be unable to renew
or replace them on comparable terms, or at all. When we enter into joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, and strategic
alliances, our partners may be required to undertake some portion of sales, marketing, implementation services, engineering services, or software
configuration that we would otherwise provide. In such cases, our partner may be less successful than we would have otherwise been absent the
arrangement and our ability to influence, or have visibility into, the sales, marketing, and related efforts of our partners may be limited. In the event we
enter into an arrangement with a particular partner, we may be less likely (or unable) to work with one or more direct competitors of our partner with
which we would have worked absent the arrangement. We may have interests that are different from our joint venture partners and/or which may affect
our ability to successfully collaborate with a given partner. Similarly, one or more of our partners in a joint venture, channel sales relationship, platform
partnership, or strategic alliance may independently suffer a bankruptcy or other economic hardship that negatively affects its ability to continue as a
going concern or successfully perform on its obligation under the arrangement. Moreover, we cannot guarantee that the partners with whom we have
strategic relationships will continue to devote the resources necessary to expand our reach and increase our distribution. In addition, customer
satisfaction with our products provided in connection with these arrangements may be less favorable than anticipated, negatively impacting anticipated
revenue growth and results of operations of arrangements in question. Further, some of our strategic partners offer competing products and services or
work with our competitors. As a result of these and other factors, many of the companies with which we have or are seeking joint ventures, channel
sales relationships, platform partnerships, or strategic alliances may choose to pursue alternative technologies and develop alternative products and
services in addition to or in lieu of our software, either on their own or in collaboration with others, including our competitors. If we are unsuccessful in
establishing or maintaining our relationships with these partners, our ability to compete in a given marketplace or to grow our revenue would be
impaired, and our results of operations may suffer. Even if we are successful in establishing and maintaining these relationships with our partners, we
cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased customer usage of our software or increased revenue. Additionally, if our partners’
brand, reputation, or products are negatively impacted in any way, that could impact our expected outcomes in those markets.

In addition, some of our sales to government entities have been made, and in the future may be made, indirectly through our channel partners.
Government entities may have statutory, contractual, or other legal rights to terminate contracts with our channel partners for convenience or due to a
default, and, in the future, if the portion of government contracts that are subject to renegotiation or termination at the election of the government entity
are material, any such termination or renegotiation may adversely impact our future operating results. In the event of such termination, it may be
difficult for us to arrange for another channel partner to sell our software to these customers in a timely manner, and we could lose sales opportunities
during the transition. Government entities routinely investigate and audit government contractors’ administrative processes, and any unfavorable audit
could result in the government entity refusing to renew its subscription for our software, a reduction of revenue, or fines or civil or criminal liability if
the audit uncovers improper or illegal activities.

Further, winding down joint ventures, channel sales relationships, platform partnerships, or other strategic alliances can result in additional costs,
litigation, and negative publicity. Any of these events could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth
prospects.

60



Table of Contents

We have business and customer relationships with certain entities who are stockholders or are affiliated with our directors, or both, and conflicts of
interest may arise because of such relationships.

Some of our customers and other business partners are affiliated with certain of our directors or hold shares of our capital stock, or both. For example, in
July 2021, we entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with UAV Factory, a company owned by AE Industrial Partners, whereby BigBear
will develop AI/ML capabilities for UAV Factory’s unmanned systems and components use in autonomous operations within the commercial and
defense markets. We believe that the transactions and agreements that we have entered into with related parties are on terms that are at least as favorable
as could reasonably have been obtained at such time from third parties. However, these relationships could create, or appear to create, potential conflicts
of interest when our board of directors is faced with decisions that could have different implications for us and these other parties or their affiliates. In
addition, conflicts of interest may arise between us and these other parties and their affiliates. The appearance of conflicts, even if such conflicts do not
materialize, might adversely affect the public’s perception of us, as well as our relationship with other companies and our ability to enter into new
relationships in the future, including with competitors of such related parties, which could harm our business and results of operations.

If we are not successful in executing our strategy to increase our sales to larger customers, our results of operations may suffer.

An important part of our growth strategy is to increase sales of our software to large enterprises and government entities. Sales to large enterprises and
government entities involve risks that may not be present (or that are present to a lesser extent) with sales to small-to-mid-sized entities, especially in
commercial markets. These risks include:

. Increased leverage held by large customers in negotiating contractual arrangements with us;
. Changes in key decision makers within these organizations that may negatively impact our ability to negotiate in the future;
. Customer IT departments may perceive that our software and services pose a threat to their internal control and advocate for legacy or

internally developed solutions over our software;
. Resources may be spent on a potential customer that ultimately elects not to purchase our software and services;

. More stringent requirements in our service contracts, including stricter service response times, and increased penalties for any failure to
meet service requirements;

. Increased competition from larger competitors, such as defense contractors, system integrators, or large software and service companies
that traditionally target large enterprises and government entities and that may already have purchase commitments from those customers;
and

. Less predictability in completing some of our sales than we do with smaller customers.

Large enterprises and government entities often undertake a significant evaluation process that results in a lengthy sales cycle, in some cases over 12
months, requiring approvals of multiple management personnel and more technical personnel than would be typical of a smaller organization. Due to the
length, size, scope, and stringent requirements of these evaluations, we typically provide short-term pilot deployments of our software at no or low cost.
We sometimes spend substantial time, effort, and money in our sales efforts without producing any sales. The success of the investments that we make
depends on factors such as our ability to identify potential customers for which our software have an opportunity to add significant value to the
customer’s organization, our ability to identify and agree with the potential customer on an appropriate pilot deployment to demonstrate the value of our
software, and whether we successfully execute on such pilot deployment. Even if the pilot deployment is successful, we or the customer could choose
not to enter into a larger contract for a variety of reasons. For example, product purchases by large enterprises and government entities are frequently
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subject to budget constraints, leadership changes, multiple approvals, and unplanned administrative, processing, and other delays, any of which could
significantly delay or entirely prevent our realization of sales.

Finally, large enterprises and government entities typically (i) have longer implementation cycles, (ii) require greater product functionality and
scalability and a broader range of services, including design services, (iii) demand that vendors take on a larger share of risks, (iv) sometimes require
acceptance provisions that can lead to a delay in revenue recognition, (v) typically have more complex IT and data environments, and (vi) expect greater
payment flexibility from vendors. Customers, and sometimes we, may also engage third parties to be the users of our software, which may result in
contractual complexities and risks, require additional investment of time and human resources to train the third parties and allow third parties (who may
be building competitive projects or engaging in other competitive activities) to influence our customers’ perception of our software. All these factors can
add further risk to business conducted with these customers. If sales expected from a large customer for a particular quarter are not realized in that
quarter or at all, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

The ongoing global COVID-19 outbreak has significantly affected our business and operations.

The COVID-19 outbreak has evolved into a global pandemic, and it is unclear how long nations, populations, economies, and businesses will have to
operate under the current conditions. Specifically, the COVID-19 pandemic has created headwinds for our business in the form of slower customer
operations, longer sales cycles, delayed contract awards, difficulty traveling to or meeting with prospective customers, and decreasing customer budgets
as resources are focused on mitigating the impact of the pandemic.

Our internal measures to protect our workforce, including office closures, remote work arrangements, vaccination awareness campaigns, and office
sanitization/disinfecting have been extremely successful, but there remain facets of our operations that are outside of our control. For that reason, we
cannot guarantee that our business will not be materially impacted by COVID-19 in the future. Among the largest potential impacts is the speed at which
our government customers can return to normal operations, update procurement schedules, and award upcoming contracts. Our financial projections are
largely based on advertised contract award dates, and changes to those schedules (when and if they are provided) may substantially impact our
operations.

Moreover, to the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, financial condition, and results of operations, it may also have the
effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section, including but not limited to, those related to our ability to increase
sales to existing and new customers, continue to perform on existing contracts, develop and deploy new technologies, expand our marketing capabilities
and sales organization, generate sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness, and comply with the covenants in the agreements that govern our
indebtedness.

If the market for our software and services develops more slowly than we expect, our growth may slow or stall, and our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be harmed.

The market for our software is rapidly evolving. Our future success will depend in large part on the growth and expansion of this market, which is
difficult to predict and relies on a number of factors, including customer adoption, customer demand, changing customer needs, the entry of competitive
products, the success of existing competitive products, potential customers’ willingness to adopt an alternative approach to data collection, storage, and
processing and their willingness to invest in new software after significant prior investments in legacy data collection, storage, and processing software.
The estimates and assumptions that are used to calculate our market opportunity are subject to change over time, and there is no guarantee that any
particular number or percentage of the organizations covered by our market opportunity estimates will pay for our software and services at all or
generate any particular level of revenue for us. Even if the market in which we compete meets the size estimates and growth forecasts, our business
could fail to grow at the levels we expect or at all for a variety of reasons outside our control, including competition in our industry. Further, if we or
other data
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management and analytics providers experience security incidents, loss of or unauthorized access to customer data, disruptions in delivery, or other
problems, this market as a whole, including our software, may be negatively affected. If software for the challenges that we address does not achieve
widespread adoption, or there is a reduction in demand caused by a lack of customer acceptance, technological challenges, weakening economic
conditions (including due to the COVID-19 pandemic), security or privacy concerns, competing technologies and products, decreases in corporate
spending, or otherwise, or, alternatively, if the market develops but we are unable to continue to penetrate it due to the cost, performance, and perceived
value associated with our software, or other factors, it could result in decreased revenue and our business, financial condition, and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

We will face risks associated with the growth of our business in new commercial markets and with new customer verticals, and we may neither be
able to continue our organic growth nor have the necessary resources to dedicate to the overall growth of our business.

‘We plan to expand our operations in new commercial markets, including those where we may have limited operating experience, and may be subject to
increased business, technology and economic risks that could affect our financial results. In recent periods, we have increased our focus on commercial
customers. In the future, we may increasingly focus on such customers, including in the infrastructure, energy, transportation, shipping, and logistics
industries. Entering new verticals and expanding in the verticals in which we are already operating will continue to require significant resources and
there is no guarantee that such efforts will be successful or beneficial to us. Historically, sales to new customers have often led to additional sales to the
same customers or similarly situated customers. As we expand into and within new and emerging markets and heavily regulated industry verticals, we
will likely face additional regulatory scrutiny, risks, and burdens from the governments and agencies which regulate those markets and industries. While
this approach to expansion within new commercial markets and verticals has proven successful in the past, it is uncertain we will achieve the same
penetration and organic growth in the future and our reputation, business, financial condition, and results of operations could be negatively impacted.

In the future, we may not be able to secure the financing necessary to operate and grow our business as planned, or to make acquisitions.

In the future, we may seek to raise or borrow additional funds to expand our product or business development efforts, make acquisitions or otherwise
fund or grow our business and operations. As of March 31, 2021, we had approximately $109 million of indebtedness. Although we currently anticipate
that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our cash needs for the next 12 months, additional funds may be required if our
commercial sales do not develop as quickly as planned. If we require additional financing, we may not be able to obtain debt or equity financing on
favorable terms, if at all. If we raise equity financing to fund operations or on an opportunistic basis, our stockholders may experience significant
dilution of their ownership interests. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, or at all, we may be unable to, among other things:

. Develop new products, features, capabilities, and enhancements;

. Continue to expand our product development, sales, and marketing organizations;

. Hire, train, and retain employees;

. Respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated working capital requirements; or
. Pursue acquisition or other growth opportunities.

Our inability to take any of these actions because adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms could have an adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.
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Our ability to generate the amount of cash needed to pay interest and principal on any indebtedness and our ability to refinance all or a portion of
our indebtedness or obtain additional financing depends on many factors beyond our control.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on, or to refinance our obligations under, any indebtedness depends on our financial and operating performance
and prevailing economic and competitive conditions. Certain of these financial and business factors, many of which may be beyond our control, are
described above.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures,
sell assets, raise additional equity capital, or restructure our debt. However, there is no assurance that such alternative measures may be successful or
permitted under the agreements governing our indebtedness and, as a result, we may not be able to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. Even if
successful, actions taken to improve short-term liquidity to meet our debt service and other obligations could harm our long-term business prospects,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to refinance our indebtedness or obtain additional financing on satisfactory terms or at all, including due to
existing guarantees on our assets or our level of indebtedness and the debt incurrence restrictions imposed by the agreements governing our
indebtedness. Further, the cost and availability of credit are subject to changes in the economic and business environment. If conditions in major credit
markets deteriorate, our ability to refinance our indebtedness or obtain additional financing on satisfactory terms, or at all, may be negatively affected.

Our debt agreements contain restrictions that may limit our flexibility in operating our business.

Our credit agreement and related documents contain, and instruments governing any future indebtedness of ours would likely contain, a number of
covenants that will impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us, including restrictions on our ability to, among other things:

. Create liens on certain assets;

. Incur additional debt;

. Consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; and
. Sell certain assets.

Any of these restrictions could limit our ability to plan for or react to market conditions and could otherwise restrict corporate activities. Any failure to
comply with these covenants could result in a default under our secured credit facility or instruments governing any future indebtedness of ours.
Additionally, our credit facility is secured by substantially all of our assets. Upon a default, unless waived, the lenders under our secured credit facility
could elect to terminate their commitments, cease making further loans, foreclose on our assets pledged to such lenders to secure our obligations under
our credit agreement and force us into bankruptcy or liquidation. In addition, a default under our secured credit facility could trigger a cross default
under agreements governing any future indebtedness. Our results of operations may not be sufficient to service our indebtedness and to fund our other
expenditures, and we may not be able to obtain financing to meet these requirements. If we experience a default under our secured credit facility or
instruments governing our future indebtedness, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely impacted.

As of March 31, 2020, we were in compliance with all covenants and restrictions associated with our secured credit facility.

We may acquire or invest in companies and technologies, which may divert our management’s attention, and result in additional dilution to our
stockholders. We may be unable to integrate acquired businesses and technologies successfully or achieve the expected benefits of such acquisitions
or investments.

As part of our business strategy, we have engaged in strategic transactions in the past and expect to evaluate and consider potential strategic transactions,
including acquisitions of, or investments in, businesses, technologies,
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services, products and other assets in the future. We also may enter into relationships with other businesses to expand our products or our ability to
provide services. An acquisition, investment or business relationship may result in unforeseen risks, operating difficulties and expenditures, including
the following:

An acquisition may negatively affect our financial results because it may require us to incur charges or assume substantial debt or other
liabilities, may cause adverse tax consequences or unfavorable accounting treatment, may expose us to claims and disputes by third parties,
including intellectual property claims and disputes, or may not generate sufficient financial return to offset additional costs and expenses
related to the acquisition;

Costs and potential difficulties associated with the requirement to test and assimilate the internal control processes of the acquired
business;

‘We may encounter difficulties or unforeseen expenditures assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, infrastructure, products,
personnel, or operations of the acquired companies, particularly if the key personnel of the acquired company choose not to work for us or
if we are unable to retain key personnel, if their technology is not easily adapted to work with ours, or if we have difficulty retaining the
customers of any acquired business due to changes in ownership, management, or otherwise;

We may not realize the expected benefits of the acquisition;
An acquisition may disrupt our ongoing business, divert resources, increase our expenses, and distract our management;

An acquisition may result in a delay or reduction of customer purchases for both us and the company acquired due to customer uncertainty
about continuity and effectiveness of service from either company;

The potential impact on relationships with existing customers, vendors, and distributors as business partners as a result of acquiring
another company or business that competes with or otherwise is incompatible with those existing relationships;

The potential that our due diligence of the acquired company or business does not identify significant problems or liabilities, or that we
underestimate the costs and effects of identified liabilities;

Exposure to litigation or other claims in connection with, or inheritance of claims or litigation risk as a result of, an acquisition, including
but not limited to claims from former employees, customers, or other third parties, which may differ from or be more significant than the
risks our business faces;

Potential goodwill impairment charges related to acquisitions;
We may encounter difficulties in, or may be unable to, successfully sell any acquired products;

An acquisition may involve the entry into geographic or business markets in which we have little or no prior experience or where
competitors have stronger market positions;

An acquisition may require us to comply with additional laws and regulations, or to engage in substantial remediation efforts to cause the
acquired company to comply with applicable laws or regulations, or result in liabilities resulting from the acquired company’s failure to
comply with applicable laws or regulations;

Our use of cash to pay for an acquisition would limit other potential uses for our cash;

If we incur debt to fund such acquisition, such debt may subject us to material restrictions on our ability to conduct our business as well as
financial maintenance covenants; and

To the extent that we issue a significant amount of equity securities in connection with future acquisitions, existing stockholders may be
diluted and earnings per share may decrease.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Moreover, we
cannot assure you that we would not be exposed to unknown liabilities.
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Certain revenue metrics such as net dollar-based retention rate or annual recurring revenue may not be accurate indicators of our future financial
results.

Other subscription-based software companies often report on metrics such as net dollar-based revenue retention rate, annual recurring revenue or other
revenue metrics, and investors and analysts sometimes look to these metrics as indicators of business activity in a period for businesses such as ours.
However, given our large concentration of business with government customers through non-traditional contract arrangements, these metrics may not be
relevant, available, or representative of the success of our operations. The gain or loss of even a single high-value customer contract could cause
significant volatility in these metrics. If investors and analysts view our business through these metrics, the trading price of our common stock may be
adversely affected.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Information Technology, Data Privacy and Security

If any of the systems of any third parties upon which we rely, our customers’ cloud or on-premises environments, or our internal systems, are
breached or if unauthorized access to customer or third-party data is otherwise obtained, public perception of our software and services may be
harmed, and we may lose business and incur losses or liabilities.

Our success depends in part on our ability to provide effective data security protection in connection with our software and services, and we rely on
information technology networks and systems to securely store, transmit, index, and otherwise process electronic information. Because our software is
used by our customers to store, transmit, index, or otherwise process and analyze large data sets that often contain proprietary, confidential, and/or
sensitive information (including in some instances personal or identifying information and personal health information), our software is perceived as an
attractive target for attacks by computer hackers or others seeking unauthorized access, and our software faces threats of unintended exposure,
exfiltration, alteration, deletion, or loss of data. Additionally, because many of our customers use our software to store, transmit, and otherwise process
proprietary, confidential, or sensitive information, and complete mission critical tasks, they have a lower risk tolerance for security vulnerabilities in our
software and services than for vulnerabilities in other, less critical, software products and services.

We, and the third-party vendors upon which we rely, have experienced, and may in the future experience, cybersecurity threats, including threats or
attempts to disrupt our information technology infrastructure and unauthorized attempts to gain access to sensitive or confidential information. Our and
our third-party vendors’ technology systems may be damaged or compromised by malicious events, such as cyberattacks (including computer viruses,
malicious and destructive code, phishing attacks, and denial of service attacks), physical or electronic security breaches, natural disasters, fire, power
loss, telecommunications failures, personnel misconduct, and human error. Such attacks or security breaches may be perpetrated by internal bad actors,
such as employees or contractors, or by third parties (including traditional computer hackers, persons involved with organized crime, or foreign state or
foreign state-supported actors). Cybersecurity threats can employ a wide variety of methods and techniques, which may include the use of social
engineering techniques, are constantly evolving, and have become increasingly complex and sophisticated; all of which increase the difficulty of
detecting and successfully defending against them. Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change
frequently and generally are not identified until after they are launched against a target, we and our third-party vendors may be unable to anticipate these
techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. Although prior cyberattacks directed at us have not had a material impact on our financial
results, and we are continuing to bolster our threat detection and mitigation processes and procedures, we cannot guarantee that future cyberattacks, if
successful, will not have a material impact on our business or financial results. While we have security measures in place to protect our information and
our customers’ information and to prevent data loss and other security breaches, we have not always been able to do so and there can be no assurance
that in the future we will be able to anticipate or prevent security breaches or unauthorized access of our information technology systems or the
information technology systems of the third-party vendors upon which we rely. Despite our implementation of network security measures and internal
information security policies, data stored on personnel computer systems is also vulnerable to similar security breaches, unauthorized tampering, or
human error.
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Many governments have enacted laws requiring companies to provide notice of data security incidents involving certain types of data, including
personal data. In addition, most of our customers, including U.S. government customers, contractually require us to notify them of data security
breaches. If an actual or perceived breach of security measures, unauthorized access to our system or the systems of the third-party vendors that we rely
upon, or any other cybersecurity threat occurs, we may face direct or indirect liability, costs, or damages, contract termination, our reputation in the
industry and with current and potential customers may be compromised, our ability to attract new customers could be negatively affected, and our
business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Further, unauthorized access to our or our third-party vendors’ information technology systems or data or other security breaches could result in the loss
of information; significant remediation costs; litigation, disputes, regulatory action, or investigations that could result in damages, material fines, and
penalties; indemnity obligations; interruptions in the operation of our business, including our ability to provide new product features, new software, or
services to our customers; damage to our operation technology networks and information technology systems; and other liabilities. Moreover, our
remediation efforts may not be successful. Any or all of these issues, or the perception that any of them have occurred, could negatively affect our ability
to attract new customers, cause existing customers to terminate or not renew their agreements, hinder our ability to obtain and maintain required or
desirable cybersecurity certifications, and result in reputational damage, any of which could materially adversely affect our results of operations,
financial condition, and future prospects. There can be no assurance that any limitations of liability provisions in our license arrangements with
customers or in our agreements with vendors, partners, or others would be enforceable, applicable, or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any
such liabilities or damages with respect to any claim.

We maintain cybersecurity insurance and other types of insurance, subject to applicable deductibles and policy limits, but our insurance may not be
sufficient to cover all costs, claims, or liabilities associated with a potential data security incident. In addition, our insurance may not protect us against
all claims and losses related to our software or a data security incident due to specified exclusions, deductibles and material change limitations and it
may be difficult to insure against certain risks. We also cannot be sure that our existing general liability insurance coverage and coverage for cyber
liability or errors or omissions will continue to be available on acceptable terms or will be available in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large
claims or that the insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed
available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible
or co-insurance requirements, could harm our financial condition.

Issues in the use of AI and ML in our software may result in reputational harm or liability.

Al is enabled by or integrated into some of our software and is a significant and potentially growing element of our business. As with many developing
technologies, Al presents risks and challenges that could affect its further development, adoption, and use, and therefore our business. Al algorithms
may be flawed. Datasets may be insufficient, of poor quality, or contain biased information. Inappropriate or controversial data practices by data
scientists, engineers, and end-users of our systems could impair the acceptance of Al solutions. If the recommendations, forecasts, or analyses that Al
applications assist in producing are deficient or inaccurate, we could be subjected to competitive harm, potential legal liability, and brand or reputational
harm. Some Al scenarios present ethical issues. Though our technologies and business practices are designed to mitigate many of these risks, if we
enable or offer Al solutions that are controversial because of their purported or real impact on human rights, privacy, employment, or other social issues,
we may experience brand or reputational harm.

We depend on computing infrastructure operated by Amazon Web Services (AWS) and other third parties to support some of our customers, and any
errors, disruption, performance problems, or failure in their or our operational infrastructure could adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

We rely on the technology, infrastructure, and software applications, including software-as-a-service offerings, of certain third parties, such as AWS, in
order to host or operate some or all of certain key platform features or

67



Table of Contents

functions of our business, including our cloud-based services, customer relationship management activities, billing and order management, and financial
accounting services. Additionally, we rely on computer hardware purchased in order to deliver our software and services. We do not have control over
the operations of the facilities of the third parties that we use. If any of these third-party services experience errors, disruptions, security issues, or other
performance deficiencies, if they are updated such that our software become incompatible, if these services, software, or hardware fail or become
unavailable due to extended outages, interruptions, defects, or otherwise, or if they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms or prices
(or at all), these issues could result in errors or defects in our software, cause our software to fail, our revenue and margins could decline, or our
reputation and brand to be damaged, we could be exposed to legal or contractual liability, our expenses could increase, our ability to manage our
operations could be interrupted, and our processes for managing our sales and servicing our customers could be impaired until equivalent services or
technology, if available, are identified, procured, and implemented, all of which may take significant time and resources, increase our costs, and could
adversely affect our business. Many of these third-party providers attempt to impose limitations on their liability for such errors, disruptions, defects,
performance deficiencies, or failures, and if enforceable, we may have additional liability to our customers or third-party providers.

We have experienced, and may in the future experience, disruptions, failures, data loss, outages, and other performance problems with our infrastructure
and cloud-based offerings due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, introductions of new functionality, human or software errors,
employee misconduct, capacity constraints, denial of service attacks, phishing attacks, computer viruses, malicious or destructive code, or other
security-related incidents, and our disaster recovery planning may not be sufficient for all situations. If we experience disruptions, failures, data loss,
outages, or other performance problems, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Our systems and the third-party systems upon which we and our customers rely are also vulnerable to damage or interruption from catastrophic
occurrences such as earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunication failures, cybersecurity threats, terrorist attacks, natural disasters, public
health crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical and similar events, or acts of misconduct. Moreover, we have business operations in San
Diego, California, which is a seismically active region. Despite any precautions we may take, the occurrence of a catastrophic disaster or other
unanticipated problems at our or our third-party vendors’ hosting facilities, or within our systems or the systems of third parties upon which we rely,
could result in interruptions, performance problems, or failure of our infrastructure, technology, or software, which may adversely impact our business.
In addition, our ability to conduct normal business operations could be severely affected. In the event of significant physical damage to one of these
facilities, it may take a significant period of time to achieve full resumption of our services, and our disaster recovery planning may not account for all
eventualities. In addition, any negative publicity arising from these disruptions could harm our reputation and brand and adversely affect our business.

Furthermore, our software are in many cases important or essential to our customers’ operations, including in some cases, their cybersecurity or
oversight and compliance programs, and subject to service level agreements (“SLAs”). Any interruption in our service, whether as a result of an internal
or third-party issue, could damage our brand and reputation, cause our customers to terminate or not renew their contracts with us or decrease use of our
software and services, require us to indemnify our customers against certain losses, result in our issuing credit or paying penalties or fines, subject us to
other losses or liabilities, cause our software to be perceived as unreliable or unsecure, and prevent us from gaining new or additional business from
current or future customers, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Moreover, to the extent that we do not effectively address capacity constraints, upgrade our systems as needed, and continually develop our technology
and network architecture to accommodate actual and anticipated changes in technology, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could
be adversely affected. The provisioning of additional cloud hosting capacity requires lead time. AWS and other third parties have no obligation to renew
their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If any third parties increase pricing terms, terminate, or seek to terminate our
contractual relationship, establish more favorable
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relationships with our competitors, or change or interpret their terms of service or policies in a manner that is unfavorable with respect to us, we may be
required to transfer to other cloud providers or invest in a private cloud. If we are required to transfer to other cloud providers or invest in a private
cloud, we could incur significant costs and experience possible service interruption in connection with doing so, or risk loss of customer contracts if they
are unwilling to accept such a change.

A failure to maintain our relationships with our third-party providers (or obtain adequate replacements), and to receive services from such providers that
do not contain any material errors or defects, could adversely affect our ability to deliver effective products and solutions to our customers and adversely
affect our business and results of operations.

Our policies regarding customer confidential information and support for individual privacy and civil liberties could cause us to experience adverse
business and reputational consequences.

We strive to protect our customers’ confidential information and individuals’ privacy consistent with applicable laws, directives, and regulations. From
time to time, government entities may seek our assistance with obtaining information about our customers or could request that we modify our software
in a manner to permit access or monitoring. In light of our confidentiality and privacy commitments, we may legally challenge law enforcement or other
government requests to provide information, to obtain encryption keys, or to modify or weaken encryption. To the extent that we do not provide
assistance to or comply with requests from government entities, or if we challenge those requests publicly or in court, we may experience adverse
political, business, and reputational consequences among certain customers or portions of the public. Conversely, to the extent that we do provide such
assistance, or do not challenge those requests publicly in court, we may experience adverse political, business, and reputational consequences from other
customers or portions of the public arising from concerns over privacy or the government’s activities.

Failure to adequately obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights could adversely affect our
business.

Our success and ability to compete depends in part on our ability to protect our proprietary methods and technologies in the United States and other
jurisdictions outside the United States so that we can prevent others from using our inventions and proprietary information and technology. Despite our
efforts, third parties may attempt to disclose, obtain, copy, or use our intellectual property or other proprietary information or technology without our
authorization, and our efforts to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights may not prevent such unauthorized disclosure or use,
misappropriation, infringement, reverse engineering or other violation of our intellectual property or other proprietary rights.

We have devoted substantial resources to the development of our proprietary software. In order to protect our proprietary technologies and processes, we
rely in part on trade secret laws and confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, and third parties. These agreements may not effectively
prevent unauthorized disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of
confidential information. In addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets, in which case we would not be able to assert trade secret
rights or develop similar technologies and processes.

Further, laws in certain jurisdictions may afford little or no trade secret protection, and any changes in, or unexpected interpretations of, the intellectual
property laws in any jurisdiction in which we operate may compromise our ability to enforce our intellectual property rights. Costly and time-consuming
litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights. If the protection of our proprietary rights is inadequate to
prevent use or appropriation by third parties, the value of our software, brand, and other intangible assets may be diminished, and competitors may be
able to more effectively replicate our software products. Any of these events would harm our business.
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In addition, we may be the subject of intellectual property infringement or misappropriation claims, which could be very time-consuming and expensive
to settle or litigate and could divert our management’s attention and other resources. These claims could also subject us to significant liability for
damages if we are found to have infringed patents, copyrights, trademarks, or other intellectual property rights, or breached trademark co-existence
agreements or other intellectual property licenses and could require us to cease using or to rebrand all or portions of our software. Any of our patents,
copyrights, trademarks, or other intellectual property rights may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative process or litigation.

In addition, any of our copyrights, trademarks, or other intellectual property or proprietary rights may be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held
unenforceable, or circumvented in litigation or other proceedings, including, where applicable, opposition, re-examination, inter partes review, post-
grant review, interference, nullification and derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions, and such intellectual property or
other proprietary rights may be lost or no longer provide us meaningful competitive advantages. Such proceedings may result in substantial cost and
require significant time from our management, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us. Third parties also may legitimately and independently
develop products, services, and technology similar to or duplicative of our software. In addition to protection under intellectual property laws, we rely
on confidentiality or license agreements that we generally enter into with our corporate partners, employees, consultants, advisors, vendors, and
customers, and generally limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information. However, we cannot be certain that we have entered into such
agreements with all parties who may have or have had access to our confidential information or that the agreements we have entered into will not be
breached or challenged, or that such breaches will be detected. Furthermore, non-disclosure provisions can be difficult to enforce, and even if
successfully enforced, may not be entirely effective. We cannot guarantee that any of the measures we have taken will prevent infringement,
misappropriation, or other violation of our technology or other intellectual property or proprietary rights. Because we may be an attractive target for
cyberattacks, we also may have a heightened risk of unauthorized access to, and misappropriation of, our proprietary and competitively sensitive
information. We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, and we may
conclude that in at least some instances the benefits of protecting our intellectual property or other proprietary rights may be outweighed by the expense
or distraction to our management. We may initiate claims or litigation against third parties for infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of our
intellectual property or other proprietary rights or to establish the validity of our intellectual property or other proprietary rights. Any such litigation,
whether or not it is resolved in our favor, could be time-consuming, result in significant expense to us and divert the efforts of our technical and
management personnel. Furthermore, attempts to enforce our intellectual property rights against third parties could also provoke these third parties to
assert their own intellectual property or other rights against us, or result in a holding that invalidates or narrows the scope of our rights, in whole or in
part.

We may in the future be subject to intellectual property rights claims, which are extremely costly to defend, could require us to pay significant
damages and could limit our ability to use certain technologies.

Our success and ability to compete also depends in part on our ability to operate without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the
intellectual property or other proprietary rights of third parties. Companies in the software and technology industries, including some of our current and
potential competitors, own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks, and trade secrets and frequently pursue litigation based on allegations of
infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property rights. In addition, many of these companies have the capability to dedicate
substantial resources to enforce their intellectual property rights and to defend claims that may be brought against them. Such litigation also may involve
non-practicing patent assertion entities or companies who use their patents to extract license fees by threatening costly litigation or that have minimal
operations or relevant product revenue and against whom our patents may provide little or no deterrence or protection. While we have not received any
notices to date, we may receive notices in the future that claim we have infringed, misappropriated, misused, or otherwise violated other parties’
intellectual property rights, and, to the extent we become exposed to greater visibility, we face a higher risk of being the subject of intellectual property
infringement, misappropriation or other violation claims, which is not
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uncommon with respect to software technologies in particular. There may be third-party intellectual property rights, including issued patents or pending
patent applications, that cover significant aspects of our technologies, or business methods. There may also be third-party intellectual property rights,
including trademark registrations and pending applications, that cover the goods and services that we offer in certain regions. We may also be exposed to
increased risk of being the subject of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation, or other violation claims as a result of acquisitions and our
incorporation of open source and other third-party software into, or new branding for, our software, as, among other things, we have a lower level of
visibility into the development process with respect to such technology or the care taken to safeguard against infringement, misappropriation, or other
violation risks. In addition, former employers of our current, former, or future employees may assert claims that such employees have improperly
disclosed to us confidential or proprietary information of these former employers. Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, are difficult to
predict, could be very time-consuming and expensive to settle or litigate, could divert our management’s attention and other resources, and may not be
covered by the insurance that we carry. These claims could subject us to significant liability for damages, potentially including treble damages if we are
found to have willfully infringed a third party’s intellectual property rights. These claims could also result in our having to stop using technology,
branding or marks found to be in violation of a third party’s rights and any necessary rebranding could result in the loss of goodwill. We could be
required to seek a license for the intellectual property, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if a license were
available, we could be required to pay significant royalties, which would increase our expenses. As a result, we could be required to develop alternative
non-infringing technology, branding or marks, which could require significant effort and expense. If we cannot license rights or develop technology for
any infringing aspect of our business, we would be forced to limit or stop sales of one or more of our software or features, we could lose existing
customers, and we may be unable to compete effectively. Any of these results would harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Further, certain of our agreements with customers and other third parties may include indemnification provisions under which we agree to indemnify
them for losses suffered or incurred as a result of third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of
intellectual property rights, damages caused by us to property or persons, or other liabilities relating to or arising from our software, services, or other
contractual obligations. Large indemnity payments could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Any dispute with a customer
with respect to such obligations could have adverse effects on our relationship with that customer and other existing customers and new customers and
harm our business and results of operations.

Real or perceived errors, failures, defects, or bugs in our software could adversely affect our results of operations and growth prospects.

Because we offer very complex software, undetected errors, defects, failures, or bugs may occur, especially when software or capabilities are first
introduced or when new versions or other product or infrastructure updates are released. Our software are often installed and used in large-scale
computing environments with different operating systems, software products and equipment, and data source and network configurations, which may
cause errors or failures in our software or may expose undetected errors, failures, or bugs in our software. Despite testing by us, errors, failures, or bugs
may not be found in new software or releases until after commencement of commercial shipments. In the past, errors have affected the performance of
our software and can also delay the development or release of new software or capabilities or new versions of software, adversely affect our reputation
and our customers’ willingness to buy software from us, and adversely affect market acceptance or perception of our software. Many of our customers
use our software in applications that are critical to their businesses or missions and may have a lower risk tolerance to defects in our software than to
defects in other, less critical, software products. Any errors or delays in releasing new software or new versions of software or allegations of
unsatisfactory performance or errors, defects or failures in released software could cause us to lose revenue or market share, increase our service costs,
cause us to incur substantial costs in redesigning the software, cause us to lose significant customers, subject us to liability for damages and divert our
resources from
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other tasks, any one of which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, our software
could be perceived to be ineffective for a variety of reasons outside of our control. Hackers or other malicious parties could circumvent our or our
customers’ security measures, and customers may misuse our software resulting in a security breach or perceived product failure. Real or perceived
errors, failures, or bugs in our software and services, or dissatisfaction with our services and outcomes, could result in customer terminations and/or
claims by customers for losses sustained by them. In such an event, we may be required, or we may choose, for customer relations or other reasons, to
expend additional resources in order to help correct any such errors, failures, or bugs. Although we have limitation of liability provisions in certain of
our customer agreements, these provisions may not be enforceable in some circumstances, may vary in levels of protection across our agreements, or
may not fully or effectively protect us from such claims and related liabilities and costs. The sale and support of our products also entail the risk of
product liability claims. We maintain insurance to protect against certain claims associated with the use of our software and services, but our insurance
coverage may not adequately cover all claims and liabilities asserted against us. In addition, our insurance may not protect us against all losses due to
specified exclusions, deductibles and material change limitations and it may be difficult to insure against certain risks. Even claims that ultimately are
unsuccessful could result in our expenditure of funds in litigation and divert management’s time and other resources.

In addition, our software integrate a wide variety of other elements, and our software must successfully interoperate with products from other vendors
and our customers’ internally developed software. As a result, when problems occur for a customer using our software, it may be difficult to identify the
sources of these problems, and we may receive blame for a security, access control, or other compliance breach that was the result of the failure of one
of other elements in a customer’s or another vendor’s IT, security, or compliance infrastructure. The occurrence of software or errors in data, whether or
not caused by our software, could delay or reduce market acceptance of our software and have an adverse effect on our business and financial
performance, and any necessary revisions may cause us to incur significant expenses. The occurrence of any such problems could harm our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. If an actual or perceived breach of information correctness, auditability, integrity, or availability occurs in
one of our customers’ systems, regardless of whether the breach is attributable to our software, the market perception of the effectiveness of our
software could be harmed. Alleviating any of these problems could require additional significant expenditures of our capital and other resources and
could cause interruptions, delays, or cessation of our product licensing, which could cause us to lose existing or potential customers and could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

We rely on the availability of licenses to third-party technology that may be difficult to replace or that may cause errors or delay implementation of
our software and services should we not be able to continue or obtain a commercially reasonable license to such technology.

Our software may include intellectual property licensed from third parties. It may be necessary in the future to renew licenses relating to various aspects
of these software or to seek new licenses for existing or new software or other products. There can be no assurance that the necessary licenses would be
available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. Third parties may terminate their licenses with us for a variety of reasons, including actual or
perceived failures or breaches of security or privacy, or reputational concerns, or they may choose not to renew their licenses with us. In addition, we
may be subject to liability if third-party software that we license is found to infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate intellectual property or privacy
rights of others. The loss of, or inability to obtain, certain third-party licenses or other rights or to obtain such lic